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Chairman’s Statement
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of LVGEM (China)
Real Estate Investment Company Limited (the “Company” or “LVGEM (China)”),
| would like to report to all shareholders the consolidated business performance
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has spread across the globe and caused
an unprecedented impact on the global economy. With the committed efforts
of medical research institutions of various countries, the vaccines have been
developed and successively put into use, leading to clearer signs of economic
recovery. Compared with other countries in the world, the PRC was among the
fastest countries to effectively control the pandemic within the country in the
first quarter of 2020. Following the full resumption of work and production in the
second quarter, social, economic and production activities of the PRC resumed
normal gradually. The construction and sales of the real estate industry of the
PRC also saw rapid recovery and showed strong resilience. Steady and healthy
market growth was maintained in general.

“No speculation on residential properties” and “accelerating urban renewal” were
the keynote of the two main industry policies during the year. To promote steady
and healthy growth of the real estate market, prohibition of illegal money inflow into
the real estate sector was introduced by China Banking and Insurance Regulatory
Commission and the rules of the “new eight regulations” regarding adjustment and
control of the real estate industry in Shenzhen were promulgated. The industry has
resumed its rational, diverse and gradually improving regulatory system, which will
promote sound and long-term development of the industry. Against the backdrop
of urbanisation, urban renewal, as supported and promoted by the government,
has become the essential path of industry development. Leveraging 30 years of
presence in Shenzhen with a focus on urban renewal in the Greater Bay Area,
the Group has seen unlimited opportunities in the industry.

LVGEM (China) has focused on the development of key districts in core cities
of the Greater Bay Area for more than three decades. Started as a construction
company, LVGEM (China) has established as a pioneer in the urban renewal field
by upholding the strategic vision of dual-core business layout and leveraging the
two-way expansion model for acquiring land reserve resources, accumulating asset
advantage of extra high value in the Greater Bay Area for years. With technological
and industry development, the Group has introduced the strategy of “focusing on
urban renewal in the Greater Bay Area and developing a brand new smart city”,
with a view to driving long-term development of the Company on an ongoing basis
by developing the smart city benchmark in large-scale urban renewal projects,
thereby creating new value for cities and generating fruitful results for investors.
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Real estate development and sales segment is the most important among the
three main business segments of the Group. The progress of project development
and contracted sales of prime locations in core cities such as Shenzhen and
Zhuhai achieved satisfactory results during the year. In 2020, LVGEM Amazing
Plaza in Shenzhen and the southern part of LVGEM Joyful Town in Zhuhai were
completed and delivered. D1 zone of LVGEM International Garden in Huazhou
was completed and delivered ahead of schedule, while LVGEM Mansion 1898
in Suzhou was accepted and launched for sale ahead of schedule. New projects
under construction included the Donggiao Project in Zhuhai, the northern part of
LVGEM Joyful Town in Zhuhai, G1 zone of LVGEM International Garden in Huazhou
and others. In terms of sales, LVGEM Amazing Plaza in Shenzhen, LVGEM Joyful
Town in Zhuhai and LVGEM International Garden in Huazhou recorded leading
sales by region for the year.

For the promotion of urban renewal projects, the Group continued to push forward
the urban renewal projects in, among others, Shenzhen, Zhuhai, Hong Kong and
Dongguan during the year. The Donggiao Urban Renewal Project in Zhuhai was
the first to commence construction. Shenzhen Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project,
Liguang Urban Renewal Project and Phase Il of LVGEM Mangrove Bay No. 1 were
all in the final signing phase before construction with steady progress. Among
which, Shenzhen Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project achieved great breakthrough,
including the acquisition of 80% of equity interest in the project through capital
injection of controlling shareholders and 100% of signing rate of phase 1, which
accelerated the progress of becoming the operating entity for construction, thus
the value of quality land reserve of the Group located in prime location of Nanshan
District, Shenzhen City will be maximised. Moreover, other projects located in key
districts in core cites of the Greater Bay Area progressed as scheduled, which
laid the foundation for the continued and ample provision of quality land reserve.

The Group maintained the “two-pronged” model of “residence + business” for the
commercial property investment and operations segment during the year. Following
the completion and delivery of urban renewal projects, the area of the commercial
properties of the Group steadily increased. During the year, the Group held over
25 quality commercial property projects, as represented by projects under our
two commercial brands, namely “NEO” and “Zoll”. The total gross floor area was
approximately 799,888 square meters and the occupancy rate remained higher
than the industry level, contributing stable rental income and growth in asset value
for the Group. As at 31 December 2020, the revenue from commercial property
investment and operations of the Group amounted to approximately RMB620.2
million, representing an increase of approximately 0.2% year-on-year against the
adverse market condition.

For the comprehensive services segment, the Group was dedicated to offering
excellent property management services and hotel operation services to customers
and tenants of the Group’s residential and commercial properties, which contributed
approximately RMB292.0 million to the Group'’s revenue during the year. The
comprehensive property management services provided by the Group included
security services, property maintenance and management of ancillary facilities,
property brokerage business, online platform and e-shops for lifestyle services,
which comprised a total gross floor area of approximately 2.97 million square
meters. In respect of hotel operations, the LVGEM Hotel actively explored new
direction of marketing under the critical economic environment. It was positioned
as a smart business hotel and aimed to focus on the development of both room
quality and catering service, which made it the first among competing hotels in
the same zone with an average occupancy rate of approximately 61%.

Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

AREEB=ZAREBZENEMEMZEFEERER  LNF
I KEBSEROWTROMENIEE R EE RS R
& EAFERAGDRETARBNORE - —T-FF -
RIFRERBSERTIRN REZRENEREKR TR
- AEMERERESDIREATR TN - &IMESTAE
189842 AISRULFISE : TP TIA R BRINERBIAR - KE
HEEUNEILE - CNESBIRERGIRS - $HE7mE
RIFRERES IWEESEUNE - (EMNESEBRIER
B AFEREHEFRLIER -

WA R E - FREEERCEERY - 3K
B BEBRRESHNRTENRE  WERBHHE
MIEAREDHT  RINAAMATERER - BT
SEHTIA B AALEE 5% — B1A B R TR RIR R AR
B WRBFAATHEE o Hh o RIBARMATEHER R
REGEARE - SEBEERRIIEIGRE KES
80% » —HIZAXEDI00%  RREBISEREE  &H
BYPTAET EM - KFERRIITELURESHENED
T REBIEDREER - thI) - EKZEZ O HZD
HEREVIE B MBI - b R DI REEEERTEENER
BETER

SENHEYPERERELEY - FREERFEE+
XIEREHRNA - EEWHEFRENRIRN - B
MEBERBER - FR - SERERB25ENAINEO IH
[ IMARERERRRNEEREMERE - HHE
ETEA) 799,888 F 5K - HBRERNITEARTF - AA
SEERRENES R AMEERE -RB_FF+=
A=t—RAL  SEREREVERERLEOREOS
ARM620.2B 8T - PHIRFTAI0.2% -

AEENGERBEED  BORSEERAXNENTP
REFPRHEEENMEERRBIBEELRS - RAF
ERREEGEREAENARKE220BET - REREHAZ
EMEERRYE - BRERRE WEEE  TEEER
it BERKLEBMEBRBRLFESEERART - R
BRI R297B T K « BIEEE T HE © L
MEEBERRET - GRBEBRRREWENAM - EEE
EABBEE  ERER  ERUBEBNER - ERAKE
BROEPLESE - BEETHOLERN/61% -

2 (RE) HERAERAT
BE Bp s

5




6

Chairman’s Statement

ERE®RE

In terms of financing, the Group continued to improve its financial structure
actively during the year and adapted itself to the national regulatory requirements
of “three red lines” for real estate enterprises. Both the liabilities to assets ratio
after excluding receipts in advance and net gearing ratio have reached the target
levels to allow sufficient fund for sustainable development of the Group.

Looking forward to 2021, the Group is expected to achieve substantial business
growth. A number of urban renewal projects in Shenzhen represented by the
Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project will enter the stage of large-scale development,
while projects under construction and sale and property operating activities will be
accelerated in full swing. Following the implementation of the “Outline Development
Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area ( { B/ R K &R IR
FREIFME) )", “Opinions for Supporting the Development of Shenzhen as the Pilot
Modelling Zone under the Socialism with Chinese Characteristics ( (B ST H0xE
JIEFFEFEHEER LT REEAER))” and a series of policies regarding
the “three old” transformation supported by Shenzhen, it is expected that such
favourable policies would lay the groundwork for historic opportunities to the Group.
Looking ahead, the Group will seize the tremendous opportunities arising from the
development of the Greater Bay Area and capitalise on favourable policies and
benefits of population inflow, with a view to developing the smart city benchmark
and striving to establish the Company as a new smart city developer and operator
that is dedicated to the construction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area with its own ample land reserve resources, thereby bringing better life
experience to the residents, infusing vitality to urban renewal and development
as well as delivering long-term and sustainable returns to shareholders, investors
and society. On behalf of the Board, | hereby express my sincere gratitude to all
shareholders, investors, customers, partners and employees of the Group for their
unwavering support. Adhering to the corporate mission of “continuously enhancing
the value of cities”, the Group will make sustained efforts towards the vision and
goal of “being the most respected city value-creator in the PRC”!

HUANG Jingshu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Industry Review

In 2020, the global economy was under profound and lasting influence due to
the COVID-19 pandemic. With strong and decisive measures for prevention and
control of the pandemic, the PRC has taken the lead in fully returning to work.
According to the data of the National Bureau of Statistics, the PRC realised a GDP
of RMB101.6 trillion in 2020, representing a growth of 2.3% year-on-year. This was
the first time that the PRC realised a GDP of over RMB10O0 trillion, which enabled
it to become the only major economy in the world with positive economic growth.

With the impact of the pandemic, activities of the real estate industry in China were
temporarily suspended at the beginning of the year. A lot of real estate enterprises
promptly launched or upgraded their online marketing systems. Since the pandemic
was basically under control in the second quarter and prevention and control of
the pandemic has been effective, every industry resumed work and production
and economic and production activities resumed normal operation. The real estate
industry therefore accelerated the launch of new property projects, which led to
fast recovery of sales since the second quarter. Under the loose monetary policy,
the growth rate of investment in the real estate industry started to turn positive
in the second quarter. According to the data of the National Bureau of Statistics,
the investment in real estate development in the PRC amounted to RMB14,144.3
billion in 2020, representing a year-on-year increase of 7.0%. Among which, the
investment in residential projects amounted to RMB10,444.6 billion, representing a
year-on-year increase of 7.6%. During the year, both the sales area and amount of
commodity housing saw another historical high at 1,760.86 million square meters
and RMB17,361.3 billion, representing an accumulated year-on-year growth of
2.6% and 8.7%, respectively.

With the pent-up demand for housing and relaxed financing and capital requirement
after the pandemic, the sales of commodity housing recorded rapid growth, while
market segregation between first and second-tier core cities and some third and
fourth-tier cities continued to intensify. Under the keynote of “no speculation on
residential properties”, a new round of adjustment and control from the financing
side commenced in the fourth quarter, which has made stabilising market investment
and sales expectations the key direction of the industry.

With the support from favorable policies such as the “Outline Development Plan for
the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area” and “Opinions for Supporting
the Development of Shenzhen as the Pilot Modelling Zone under the Socialism with
Chinese Characteristics (BN iR ERHEFEM S ER AT RHENE
R.))”, the real estate industry in Shenzhen remained on a growing trend during
the year and once showed signs of overheating. To effectively curb speculation
of properties and maintain the sound and healthy development of the real estate
market, Shenzhen promulgated the “new eight measures” on adjustment and
control successively starting from 15 July, with a view to steering the real estate
industry in Shenzhen back to rational and stable growth. Meanwhile, urban renewal,
which has become the main source of property supply in Shenzhen, also gained
milestone policy support during the year. On 30 December, the Urban Renewal
Ordinance of Shenzhen Special Economic Zone was passed by way of poll at the
second meeting of the 46th meeting of the 6th Municipal Standing Committee of
the National People’s Congress, pursuant to which, old residential areas can be
acquired if both contracted area and number of people signing contracts reach
95%. The new measure has been effective since 1 March 2021. It is expected
that the measure will greatly facilitate the solving of deep-rooted problems in urban
renewal, so as to promote quality development of urban renewal.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED T

Results

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group achieved total revenue of
approximately RMB5,424.8 million (2019: RMB6,902.4 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 21.4% year-on-year. Gross profit was approximately
RMB2,665.7 million (2019: RMB4,430.4 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 39.8% year-on-year. Gross profit margin remained at 49.1%, which
is a high level in the industry (2019: 64.2%).

Profit for the year was approximately RMB3,451.1 million (2019: RMB1,750.0
million), representing a growth of approximately 97.2% year-on-year. Profit
attributable to owners of the Company was approximately RMB3,453.4 million
(2019: RMB1,750.0 million), representing a growth of approximately 97.3%
year-on-year. Basic earnings per share was RMB68.03 cents (2019: RMB35.12
cents), representing a growth of approximately 93.7% year-on-year.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended
31 December 2020.

%21 TEFT A= -RHILFE AREEREK
’J?%/\E”H%5,424.8§F%7_E(ZT N - AR6,902.4
E%ﬁ) RILL T HE421.4% - EMHRARME2,665.78
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The Group’s key financial indicators for the year ended 31 December 2020 were NTRAEBEEZE S -_TF+-_A=-+—HLEFEZE
as follows: EHBIER -
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-hEF
(RMB million) (RMB million) Change
(AR¥EBT) (AR¥HET) BE
Revenue Wes 5,424.8 6,902.4 -21.4%
Gross profit EAH 2,665.7 4,430.4 -39.8%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company AR B IR R FE (i B A 3,453.4 1,749.9 +97.3%
Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) ERERBFARES) 68.03 35.12 +93.7%
-15.1 percentage
Gross profit margin (%) EME(%) 49.1 64.2 points & 7 2

As at 31 December As at 31 December

2020 2019

RIBZEF+ZA RIZZE-NAFTZA

=+—H =+—H

Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR KIS (BRIEZBRHIRIT

(including restricted bank deposits) (RMB million) ERIANREHET) 9,409.7 8,347.0

Average finance costs (%)* FHRERA(%)* 7.1 6.3

Liabilities to assets ratio (%) EEBBLER(%) 62.5 73.3

Rate of equity return (%) BEARBHRE(%) 14.0 135
* Average finance costs are derived by dividing the total finance costs for the * FHRERARTDEFRNAREXNE(BEATRRERETS

year (including convertible bonds but excluding finance cost derived from lease
liabilities) by average total borrowings which is calculated by adding up of
average balances of total borrowings (including debt component of convertible
bonds but excluding lease liabilities) for the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

In 2020, the real estate market realised steady growth backed by various adjustment
and control measures. The Greater Bay Area has gained more and more strategic
importance in the economic development of the PRC. With over 30 years of
experience in the development of the Greater Bay Area, the Group established
its business layout by adhering to the “dual-core” strategy of “Focusing on Core
Cities and Cities’ Core Areas” and the “two-pronged” strategy of “residence +
business”. The Group identified land resources of low cost but high value through
urban renewal to develop its real estate projects and commercial projects that
were deployed mainly in the core cities and core districts of the Greater Bay Area
such as Shenzhen, Zhuhai and Hong Kong.

The Group has gained recognition and awards from the market and the industry
in terms of development of urban renewal projects and operation of commercial
properties. During the year, the Group was ranked as the “Top 10 Shenzhen
Real Estate Development Enterprises in terms of Comprehensive Strength”
for the 10th consecutive year and “Top 10 of the 11th Shenzhen Real Estate
Enterprises with High Credit (2020) (B+—8 (20205 /%) &I EEEF10
58)". For operation of commercial properties, the Group was awarded the “2020
Excellent Management Team of the PRC Shopping Mall Industry (fPE&H: - 58
Y TE2020F ZEFEEERK)” and the honorary title of “Enterprise with
Excellent Contract Performance and Credit Standing (SFA R E{Z b 4E8)”
of Guangdong Province for two consecutive years, while the LVGEM Hotel was
granted the Excellent Award of the Most Influential Hotel at the 40th anniversary
of Shenzhen Special Economic Zone.

Leveraging on its years of experience in urban renewal and acquisition of land
reserve resources with high value, the Group has established itself as a pioneer
in urban renewal. During the year, the Group continued to push forward the
urban renewal projects in, among others, Shenzhen, Zhuhai, Hong Kong and
Dongguan and achieved significant results. In January 2020, the Group attained
the qualification for the Guanlan Liguang Land Development Project in Lunghua
District, Shenzhen City, and initiated the contracting process in June. In August
2020, 55% of equity interest in the Shenzhen Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project,
the so-called “Grand Urban Renewal Project in Shenzhen”, was injected into the
Group following the injection of 25% of equity interest on 28 October 2019. As
at the date of this announcement, the Group has a total of 80% of equity interest
in the project. Moreover, the Donggiao Project in Zhuhai also commenced
construction during the year.

The Group is renowned for its high-quality land reserve resources. In order to
eliminate the uncertainties in the preliminary stage of urban renewal projects,
the Group’s unique way for acquisition of land reserve resources was to acquire
projects mainly by the collaboration with controlling shareholder, which in turn
would allow better profit sharing with shareholders and investors. The controlling
shareholder was mainly responsible for primary development such as negotiations
with the suburban people and resource integration. Project injection into the listed
company was only being made until the uncertainties were eliminated and a more
mature stage of the project was attained. As at 31 December 2020, the Group has
land reserves of approximately 6.48 million square meters, approximately 80%
of which are located in major cities in the Greater Bay Area such as Shenzhen,
Hong Kong, Zhuhai and Dongguan. Moreover, the scale of land reserves in which
the controlling shareholders have control was approximately 6.80 million square
meters, including projects in Nanxi, Zhuhai and Zhang Mu Tou, Dongguan, all
of which are located at core locations in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area. The Group has ample and valuable land reserves which will be able to
satisfy the Company’s needs for steady expansion and long-term development.
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While pushing forward urban renewal projects, the Group adhered to the “two-
pronged” model of “residence + business” to build a solid moat to secure its
cash flow and safety margins with stable and sufficient rental income and growth
in asset value. The Group held and operated commercial properties located in
the core areas of core cities of the Greater Bay Area represented by NEO Urban
Commercial complex and Zoll Shopping Centre. Following completion and delivery
of urban renewal projects, the Group gradually expanded the area of the commercial
properties. With further urbanisation and accelerated integrated development in
the Greater Bay Area, the value growth in core commercial properties is expected
to bring long-term and significant benefits to the Group.

Upholding the historical mission of urban renewal to “promote urban upgrade
and redevelopment”, the Group, as an industry pioneer, continued to lead market
development of the industry by adhering to the strategy of “focus on urban renewal
in the Greater Bay Area, develop a brand new smart city”. Following the strategic
cooperation agreement in relation to the joint development of smart urban regions
entered into with Huawei on 23 July 2018, the Group continued to strengthen
cooperation with third-party enterprises during the year by implementing the
“technology + property” strategy for urban renewal with the integration of smart
technology, with a view to developing the smart city benchmark, thereby developing
itself into an industry leader. On 15 March 2020, the Group established strategic
partnerships regarding building smart cities with China Unicom and Shenzhen
Jingyue Technology (FYIZ1HFHL) on the basis of the Baishizhou Urban
Renewal Project in Nanshan District, Shenzhen. On 18 December 2020, the
smart community of the LVGEM Joyful Town was launched as the first Huawei
smart community in Zhuhai. Leveraging its own strong capabilities, the LVGEM
Joyful Town was granted the “2020 Smart Community Modelling Project Award
(202088 S 4t [& /<8378 B #%)” at the 11th China Internet of Things Industry and
Smart City Development Annual Conference, after outperforming other branded
projects in various comprehensive weighted evaluation. On 28 December 2020, the
Group built Wanda Plaza in G1 zone of LVGEM International Garden in Huazhou
in joint efforts with Wanda Group. Looking forward, the Group will make use of
its own strengths in strategic layout and resources to accelerate the continued
growth of the Group by pushing forward the development of smart cities and
creation of city value.

Real Estate Development and Sales

Being the core business of the Group, the real estate development and sales projects
of the Group are mainly located in the core areas of core cities of the Greater Bay
Area. As at 31 December 2020, the real estate development and sales of the Group
generated revenue of approximately RMB4,512.6 million (2019: RMB5,962.4
million), representing a decrease of approximately 24.3% year-on-year, which was
primarily attributable to the suspended launch of Block A of LVGEM Mangrove Bay
No. 1 in consideration of profit maximisation. Total contracted sales amounted to
approximately RMB4,479.0 million for the year. During the year under review, the
quality real estate projects of the Group received overwhelming market response
once again. Benefitting from the good product strength and brand influence, the
projects, including LVGEM Amazing Plaza in Shenzhen, LVGEM Joyful Town in
Zhuhai and LVGEM International Garden in Huazhou, received overwhelming
subscriptions and market response with good sales results.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year, the Group continued to push forward urban renewal projects
with high potential, including LVGEM Liguang Project in Shenzhen, Baishizhou
Project in Shenzhen, Phase Il of Shenzhen LVGEM Mangrove Bay No. 1 and
Zhuhai Donggiao Urban Renewal Project. In the future, the Group will continue
to focus on the development in the Greater Bay Area and strive for excellence
in developing new benchmark smart cities by implementing the “technology +
property” strategy, in order to empower and add values to cities and develop an
upgraded and excellent residential and living community with unique and quality
design, thereby driving the continued steady growth of cost-effectiveness and
business scale of the Group.

As one of the pioneers in Shenzhen’s urban redevelopment sector, the Group
have prepared and planned for Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project for years.
Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project, the so-called “Grand Urban Renewal Project”
in the industry in Shenzhen, is located in Shennan Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City and in proximity to Science Park and the sub-district of Overseas
Chinese Town, which is a prestigious geographical location. With an area of
approximately 3.58 million square meters, the project is a mega-large complex
development project in the core areas of Shenzhen as a fast-growing city with
scarce land resources. Its development is in 4 phases according to the project
plan. The entire project development is scheduled to complete in the coming 8 to
10 years. On 28 October 2019 and 25 August 2020, the Group indirectly acquired
approximately 80% equity interests in total in Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project.
Phase | of the project was 100% contracted and it is expected that the Group will
complete the confirmation of the operating entity of Phase | and commence its
construction within 2021. The commencement of construction and sales of the
project will be a huge growth driver for the Group.

LVGEM Mangrove Bay No. 1 is the most iconic urban renewal project of the Group
in recent years. The project comprises three quality residential buildings and a
high-quality complex of Grade A offices, hotels and apartments. The project is
located in the southeast corner of the intersection of Shazui Road and Jindiyi Road
in the central business district of Futian District, Shenzhen. Having convenient
access to public transport and strategically located in the proximity to Futian Port,
Huanggang Port, Beijing-Hong Kong-Macao Expressway and Metro Lines 3, 4 and
7, the project occupies a site area of 24,424 square meters and a planned total
gross floor area of 305,450 square meters, among which, the residential portion
has a gross floor area of approximately 119,400 square meters. The project
was launched for sale for the first time in October 2018 and had several further
launch with hot sale in 2019, contributing contracted sales of RMB248 million
and recognised sales revenue of RMB625 million in 2020.

LVGEM Amazing Plaza is another urban upgrade and redevelopment project of the
Group in Shenzhen City, which is strategically located in the sub-district of Overseas
Chinese Town with rich scenic resources. As an integrated modelling zone for new
mixed-use industrial towns, this project will be mainly used for industrial research
and development, as well as dormitory and commercial purposes. The project
is located at the north of Qiaoxiang Road, south of Beihuan Road, east of the
intersection of Qiaoxiang Road and Beihuan Road as well as west of Qiaochengfang
in Shenzhen. The project occupies a site area of 10,862 square meters and a
total gross floor area of 97,214 square meters. The project was launched for the
first time in September 2019. The brand-new show-flats were further launched
with hot sale in April 2020 and the first batch of flats was occupied in June 2020.
The project contributed contracted sales of approximately RMB1,962 million and
recognised sales revenue of approximately RMB1,729 million during the year.
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LVGEM Liguang Project is a residential, commercial and industrial high-end
industrial park complex. The project is located in Liguang Village, Guanlan Town,
Lunghua District, Shenzhen City and adjacent to the Mid Valley Clubhouse of the
Mission Hills Golf Club, and possesses a prestigious scenic view of the natural
environment. This project occupies a site area of 85,333 square meters and a
total gross floor area of 382,139 square meters. Taking into consideration the
surrounding environment and the living needs of the community, the project plan
includes the development of a special commercial district at the west side of the
region, as well as the Liguang Ecological Park at the east side which is covered
with grassland. In January 2020, the Group and Liguang Company (223 &5 A
7)) entered into the Cooperation Agreement regarding the Guanlan Liguang Land
Development Project in Lunghua District, Shenzhen City ( {RIITH B2 & 25
By I B AR EE) ) for the redevelopment project of old villages in
Liguang and the land consolidation project in Liguang in joint efforts. The project
is currently at the contracting stage ahead of construction.

Zhuhai Donggiao Urban Renewal Project is a strategic project of urban renewal in
Zhuhai City for this round and among the first batch of projects that have officially
commenced construction. Located in the sub-district of Nanwan, Zhuhai City, the
project is in a well-established area where traditional luxury residences and street-
level commercial region are located. It is positioned as the No. 1 bay-area cultural
and arts community in Zhuhai, comprising high-end residences, featured hotels,
street-level cultural regions and other industrial functions. The project occupies
a total site area of approximately 207,550 square meters with a planned total
gross floor area of approximately 764,920 square meters, which is intended to
be developed into Donggiao Smart City and District adopting an 10C (integrated
operation and control centre) to real-time manage and control all the dynamic
situations of the entire district. The development involves 27 construction projects
of up to level 3 standard, comprising a total of 106 applied scenarios. It will provide
overall solutions and services for multi-scenario and multi-dimensional, safe and
intelligent urban management under the Donggiao Project. On 12 July 2019, the
Group has officially become the operating entity of the renewal project for the
old village in Donggiao and obtained all necessary administrative approvals. This
project marks an important milestone of the Group in terms of the urban renewal
development and operation in Zhuhai. On 12 January 2020, the groundbreaking
ceremony for the commencement of construction of the project was held in Donggiao
Village, Zhuhai. The project is currently under construction and is expected to be
launched in the second half of 2021.

LVGEM Joyful Town Project is located in the former Dongda Kaiwei Science Park,
which is west of Mingzhu Station of the urban railway on Mingzhu North Road in
Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City. With a total gross floor area of 445,292 square
meters, the project is positioned to comprise an international Grade A office
building, apartment (hotel-serviced offices), residential and commercial complex.
The project was launched for sale for the first time in September 2019. The online
sales department was established in early February 2020, while several rounds of
re-launch were held during the year with hot sale. The concentrated delivery of the
southern part of the project was completed in December. For the year ended 31
December 2020, contracted sales of the project amounted to RMB1,106 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LVGEM International Garden is located in Huazhou, Maoming, Guangdong
Province. Situated in a well-developed core district’s residential area with rich
natural resources, it is in proximity to the Juzhou Park and embraced by Xihu of
232 mu. It is well-served by public transport network and is only an approximately
20-minute drive from Yuexi International Airport. The project occupies a site area
of approximately 835,800 square meters and a planned total gross floor area of
approximately 2,248,298 square meters. Leveraging on the advantages such as
excellent geographical location, ecological environment, established brand reputation
and ancillary educational facilities, phase 4 of Lakeview Mansion in B4 zone of
LVGEM International Garden Bolin Mansion was launched in the market in June
2020 for the first time, while Blocks 10 and 12 in D2 zone, A units of Block 17 in
B4 zone and B units of Block 17 in B4 zone were re-launched for several rounds
subsequently. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total contracted sales
of LVGEM International Garden amounted to RMB1,062 million and recognised
sales revenue was approximately RMB885 million. The gross floor area pending
development of the project remained approximately 1.075 million square meters
and it is estimated that the project will be launched at a value of approximately
RMB1 billion annually in the future.

Hong Kong Lau Fau Shan Project is the Group’s first real estate development project
in Hong Kong, which marks a new milestone of the internationalisation of the
“LVGEM” brand. The project is located at Deep Bay Road, Lau Fau Shan, Hong
Kong. It occupies a site area of approximately 82,400 square meters, comprising
approximately 116 low-density waterfront villas, each of which has a gross floor
area of approximately 2,000 to 3,000 square feet. Embracing prime sea view and
overlooking Deep Bay, the project is geographically prestigious and adjacent to
Shenzhen with easy access to and from Mainland China. Further, it is located at
the vicinity of Hung Shui Kiu development area.

Commercial Property Investment and Operations

The “two-pronged” business model of “residential + commercial” is an integral
part of the Group’s development pattern. During the year, the Group holds over
25 quality commercial property projects comprising a total gross floor area of
approximately 799,888 square meters, mainly represented by two commercial
brands, namely “NEO” and “Zoll”, including Shenzhen NEO Urban Commercial
Complex, Hong Kong LVGEM NEO, LVGEM Zoll Chanson Shopping Mall, LVGEM
1866 Zoll Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll Hongwan Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll Mangrove
Bay No.1 Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll International Garden Shopping Mall, LVGEM
Zoll Jinhua Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll Yuexi Shopping Mall, Dongguan LVGEM
Zoll Shopping Mall and other shops and investment properties. The Group’s
commercial property development projects are mainly independent commercial
projects as well as complex projects that comprise commercial features. Among
them, the ancillary services of commercial properties under complex projects
significantly increase the overall value of individual residential projects among
the real estate development business.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s revenue from the commercial
properties investments and operation was approximately RMB620.2 million (2019:
RMB618.7 million), representing an increase of approximately 0.2% year-on-year.
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NEO Urban Commercial Complex is elected as “one of the ten major landmarks
of Shenzhen”. It is strategically located in the western region of central Futian
District of the core central business district in Shenzhen. It is a key urban and
commercial landmark in Shenzhen. It has easy access to public transport locating
at the intersection of four Metro Lines 1, 7, 9 and 11. NEO Urban Commercial
Complex has a total gross floor area of approximately 252,539 square meters and
a total lettable area of approximately 121,236 square meters. The high-quality
corporate tenants of Grade A office building comprise offices and branches of
various Fortune Global 500 companies, banks, telecommunication corporations
and other state-owned enterprises. During the year, the industry adjustment of
7,200 square meters of the podium of Tower A was completed and 100% of which
was contracted for delivery. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the average
occupancy rate of NEO Urban Commercial Complex was about 87% (2019: 83%).

Hong Kong LVGEM NEO Project is located in “Kowloon East CBD 2", the new
central business district in Hong Kong, occupying a site area of approximately
4,500 square meters and a planned total gross floor area of approximately 55,390
square meters. As a new smart city operator proactively developing the business
layout over the Greater Bay Area, the Group acquired 8 Bay East, the full seaview
Grade-A commercial building located in 123 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong for HK$9
billion at the end of 2017, and renaming it as the “NEO”. It is positioned as a
financial and technological centre which integrates health, green, humanity and
scenarios. In July 2019, the handover of Hong Kong LVGEM NEO was completed
and the operation officially commenced on 8 November 2019. The project received
overwhelming responses since it was launched for leasing. As at 31 December
2020, the occupancy rate of the property was over 50%. Anchor tenants include
insurance groups, financial or innovation and technological enterprises and a
virtual bank, thereby aligning with its positioning as a “full seaview smart financial
centre in Kowloon East”. Highlighted by the strategic significance of the project to
tapping into Hong Kong property market by the Group, the project will facilitate
consolidation of the leading position of LVGEM (China) in the commercial property
market as well as its market position and brand influence in the Greater Bay Area.

Zoll Shopping Mall is a famous fashion and comprehensive shopping centre. As of
31 December 2020, the Group owns and operates LVGEM Zoll Chanson Shopping
Mall, LVGEM 1866 Zoll Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll Hongwan Shopping Mall, LVGEM
Zoll International Garden Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll Jinhua Shopping Mall and
LVGEM Zoll Yuexi Shopping Mall. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the overall
occupancy rate was about 93% (2019: 97%). B4 zone of LVGEM Zoll International
Garden Shopping Mall launched its opening during the year as scheduled, while
Dongguan LVGEM Zoll Shopping Mall is currently available for leasing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Comprehensive Services

The Group provided comprehensive services to customers and tenants of its
residential and commercial properties, including property management services, hotel
operations and others. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the comprehensive
services of the Group generated revenue of approximately RMB292.0 million (2019:
RMB321.3 million), mainly attributed to the significant decrease of revenue from
hotel operations in the first to third quarters of the year due to the pandemic. The
situation basically returned to normal in the fourth quarter.

The Group provided comprehensive property management services for most of its
property development projects, including security services, property maintenance
and management of ancillary facilities, property brokerage business, online
platform and e-shops for lifestyle services, which comprised a total gross floor area
of approximately 2.97 million square meters during the year (2019: 2.42 million
square meters). Shenzhen LVGEM Property Management Co., Ltd. obtained the
1S09001:2008 certification for its quality system of property management services
and the Level A property management qualification. As the property management
services and value-added services become more mature, it is expected that the
property management company will contribute sustainable revenue growth for
the Group in the future.

In respect of hotel operations, the Group operates and manages two hotels in
Shenzhen and the United States. These hotels are the LVGEM Hotel which is
located in the central business district of Futian District, Shenzhen, and the Vanllee
Hotel in Covina, California, the United States which was acquired in 2017. With
the effect of suspension and reduction in business trips due to the COVID-19
pandemic, the average occupancy rate of LVGEM Hotel was approximately 61%
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 75%).

In the post-pandemic era, the living style and lifestyle of people as well as urban
development will experience dramatic changes driven by technological advancement.
The real estate industry in the PRC saw rapid development in the last 20 years,
during which, the delivery of property construction changed from simple manual
management to automatic management, and subsequently smart management. At
present, the architectural forms such as smart community, smart park and smart
city featured people-oriented service, smart operation and refined management have
become the best scenarios for testing the application of advanced technologies,
such as artificial intelligence, big data, cloud computing, 5G communication
technology, platform structuring and digital technology. In particular, urban
renewal projects of super large scale have problems like long development cycle,
large range of necessary technologies, high capacity and density and heavy traffic
volume. A single-pronged approach is not sufficient to tackle these key problems
and a two-pronged approach of “space + technology” is essential.
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Driven by technological innovation and based on information network, smart city is
able to address the demand of high-quality development and provides services like
digital transformation, smart upgrade and integrated innovation, thereby offering
huge room for integration in three aspects, namely information infrastructure
(represented by 5G communication technology, big data centre, artificial intelligence,
industrial internet, Internet of Things, satellite internet, cloud computing, block
chain and other sectors), integrated infrastructure and innovative infrastructure.
The development strategy of smart city features the use of the new generation of
information technology to build a digital city system mirroring the real city, with an
aim to achieve interconnection and intercommunication of data through the full
spatial perception of the real space, analysis and decision-making. The system
will therefore be able to actively provide customised and people-oriented services,
thereby achieving revenue growth through digital operation methods. LVGEM
Smart City will start with smart security system to provide contactless solutions
for living in the city. In particular, the city will be covered by digital HD cameras
without blind spot to achieve connection of systems such as videos, fire safety,
boundary patrolling, pedestrian gates, aerial monitoring and gate entry. Integrated
smart analysis will be carried out through facial monitoring, regulated connection,
scenario analysis, pedestrian flow statistics, regional security, lost and found and
people assembly, which will eventually be applied with facial recognition and Al
technology to achieve contactless access of the community, unit, elevator and flat.
Leveraging the large-scale LVGEM Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project as the carrier,
the Group will achieve smart management of the whole chain of people, vehicle
and freight yard with intelligent technology to solve the management problems of
property personnel and vehicles and create a new operation and management
model of logistics for super large urban complex located in prime location of core
cities, thereby providing logistics service of better quality for residents, tenants,
officers, hotel customers and staff in the city.

Financing

Facing the challenging macro environment, the Group adopted diverse domestic
and overseas financing means in their highest and best use during the year and
actively prepared for the refinancing schemes to secure sufficient capital for the
Group’s development. The Group has completed the refinancing of its US dollar
bonds and public bonds successively during the year: in February and March
2020, the Group launched and completed the complex and well-structured US
dollar bond exchange and issuance scheme to replace the US$50 million private
bond due in June 2020 and the US$400 million public bond due in August 2020;
and in August 2020, the Group completed the renewal of domestic corporate bond.
Meanwhile, the Group also actively managed the terms of the convertible bonds
in issue: in June 2020, the Group entered into a supplemental agreement with
the bondholder of the guaranteed convertible bonds due in 2023 with a principal
amount of US$100 million and an interest rate of 4.00% per annum to extend
the put option date to 17 May 2022 or a later date (originally on 17 May 2020); in
November 2020, the Group entered into a deed of extension with the bondholder
of the convertible bonds due in 2020 with a principal amount of US$70 million
and an interest rate of 5.50% per annum to further extend the maturity to 18 May
2022; and in December 2020, the Group entered into a supplemental agreement
with the bondholder of the guaranteed convertible bonds due in 2023 with a
principal amount of US$50 million and an interest rate of 5.00% per annum to
extend the put option date to 31 January 2022 or a later date (originally on 28
September 2020).

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

BEYEARITAF ARES - UWEARKAEN  BEAS
MEHEDTR  REHUEE  BEARE  RAAEE
BR7S - FESGRENBAM - K%ﬁ¢®~AI@§ T%#5
BB UBE  AEOHMA - ZiE  ERESAETA
REMEER L - BbA R A E R =8
FEGFEEANBAETH - 8RB - TRAA
F—REMBIT - BEURETEBNELARGNERNER
%o HEBTWEAKMN - BLOMAMRERLE @ BRE
ROEBER - ZHEHEHREGHOEMEL - A
%F 25 0 WBBBNLES ?&ﬁmPﬁWmoﬁE@
EREEUEELHESREASD - AR EFRE

ﬁ%&ﬁ?oﬁﬁx %mﬁﬂmﬁﬂ%%%umﬁﬁ

RIEEE - RIE - ED - BRKE - ATTRER - 5F
R PIRERGENBEES - ARME - RRES
%%ﬁﬂﬁ A/}lb L|:1+ Eiﬁﬁﬁﬁ N Wucll:liég }\%%%&5@
T—BIEESN  ZREAARBR - AIRMER A

B AEx - AR Aﬁ%i@&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ o SEEIHIA
FEQAMNALRWTENAE AHEE - BAT SR
FRERA E - f%’i&ﬂ%%‘?*ﬂt%‘.ﬁ fRRMENE
EBMERHR - AR O T RGBS AR A B
VRELERFERX - RWERNER - BF  HAAE -
BERP - BISHRRHEELANYRRE -

BMHRE

FR - EBXRENZBERET  SERSNBEARE

IZTLRERE  BEREREBRENEUAREEEER
BelES - AERERNFALRERETEMRIEENBR
BT R-T-TF_AN= ﬂ%&ﬁj&%ﬁf@ EREMRA

EOETEXBMEHE SR  BERR - -TFARH

95,0008 2 TERL BB M\ B B B4 £ T AR © BN
“T-TEN\R - REERFENNARSTE - AF &
EE B SEE BTN TRRESNER A2

FRA EEE-_T-_-FIH - AE&ELI0EHET
FHRERBIOO% 2 BERITBRBRESFNEFFEEAEZER
i ERER ﬁﬁﬂﬁéﬁﬁﬁi:?::iﬁﬂthEﬁ
2BR(RZZE-_TEFRAAT+ERH): T_FTF+—A8 -
SEEE_T_TFHE - ZF%%EV OOOF%T_E CEREA
5.50% 2 AR ESFMNESFF B AT LERRZY - #E—2F
ERENSHEE-_T-_—FHA+N\H: ER-_ZT_TF
+=ZA  SEE-ZT - —FFH - KeES50008T
iﬂ%)&%SOO%Z"ﬁ_Tﬂ%—H‘%Hﬁﬁ%ﬁ'ﬂi%%*ﬁ}\§§§ﬁ
whE  ERERGHERAPE_T-_—_F—A=1+—H
YZT&(Efoyiﬂﬁ +AH)-



Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year, the Group actively improved its financial structure and adapted
itself to the national regulatory requirements of “three red lines” for real estate
enterprises. The liabilities to assets ratio after excluding receipts in advance and
net gearing ratio was 61.8% and 76.2%, respectively, which were within the target
levels. The Group will continue to further explore financing channels, consolidate
its financial strengths, enrich its cash flow and improve its operational efficiency
through domestic and overseas financing, while making use of domestic and
overseas financing platforms flexibly and improving the efficiency in the use of
funds, thereby further supporting the rapid business expansion and development
and achieving stable growth in operating results.

Future Prospect

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has spread across the globe and caused great
impact on the global economy. The PRC has adopted strong prevention and
control measures to contain the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to
rapid economic recovery and gradual resumption of normal order. From a macro
perspective, the PRC has adopted active, flexible and loose monetary policy,
leading to rapid recovery of the real estate market. Following the implementation
of specific measures under the “Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area” ((EER X ERERMREIFE) ), especially
the promulgation of favourable policies regarding the promotion of urban renewal
projects, the Group, focusing on its development in the key areas of core cities of
the Greater Bay Area, has been provided with great historical opportunity. As a
pioneer in the field of urban renewal, the Group has focused on the development
of key areas in core cites of the Greater Bay Area for years. It is expected that the
Group will continue to benefit from the national strategic planning and continued
promotion of the development of the Greater Bay Area.

Looking forward to 2021, the Group will continue to adopt a prudent approach
by closely monitoring the changes in the macro environment and adjusting its
specific business development strategies. Adhering to the strategic guideline of
“focusing on urban renewal in the Greater Bay Area and developing a brand new
smart city”, the Group will focus on its development in the key areas of core cities
of the Greater Bay Area. In terms of facilitating the urban renewal projects in the
Greater Bay Area, the Group will continue to follow the national strategic plans,
with a focus on facilitating various large-scale urban renewal projects held by the
Group and its controlling shareholder, commencing the construction of various
large-scale urban renewal projects in Shenzhen and releasing the value of quality
land resources. While putting committed efforts in urban renewal, the Group will
use its best endeavors in establishing an outstanding business operation model,
aiming to create higher brand value for the Group, bring better life experience
to the residents, infuse vitality to the city’s renewal and development and deliver
substantial returns to the investors.

By continued research on the projects introduced by the controlling shareholder in
the future which include the planning of industrial parks and centralised commercial
clusters, the Group intends to develop a business model integrating industries
and cities, continue to develop quality projects in the key areas of core cities,
develop industrial properties (industrial park operation and industrial investment)
and operate smart commercial cities. With the unique positioning and brand-new
perspective, the Group will develop “unique properties, resources-linked properties
and smart properties”. The Group will also facilitate the collaboration with Huawei
Company, China Unicom and other intelligent technology companies in full efforts,
and strive to develop the smart city benchmark by integrating with the Baishizhou
urban construction platform.
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Looking ahead, the Greater Bay Area will definitely become an important driver for
national economic development. The Group will seize the tremendous opportunities
arising from the development of the Greater Bay Area, striving to develop the
Company into a new smart city developer and operator that is dedicated to the
construction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. Upholding
the spirit of remaining creative and motivated and adhering to the corporate mission
of “continuously enhancing the value of cities”, the Group will make sustained
efforts towards the vision and goal of “being the most respected city value-creator
in the PRC” in 2021.

As COVID-19 is largely under control in the PRC by the second quarter of 2020,
it is expected that the pandemic will not have material impact on our business
operations and financial performance in 2021. However, as most countries around
the globe are still largely affected by the pandemic, the Group’s future financial
performance might be subject to risks caused by the global economic environment.

Financial Review
Revenue
The Group's revenue mainly comprised of revenue from sales of properties held

for sale, leasing of investment properties and comprehensive services. The Group'’s
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately RMB5,424.8
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million (2019: RMB6,902.4 million), representing a decrease of approximately F: ARKE69024BETL)  REFRD421.4% IE‘E
21.4% as compared to the last year, which was mainly due to the decrease in AR E HEFEMENREIR DT
revenue from sales of properties held for sale.
Increase/
2020 2019 (decrease)
—E-EH —ZT-NF B GRD)
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 %
ARMFr AEEFT AEETFT Bt
Real estate development and sales FEERERIEE 4,512,643 5,962,446 (1,449,803) -24.3
Commercial property investment and EERES g =i
operations 620,167 618,674 1,493 +0.2
Comprehensive services “RE RS 292,017 321,328 (29,311) 9.1
Total st 5,424,827 6,902,448 (1,477,621) -21.4
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the revenue from sales of properties held HE_Z-_FF+_A=+—HIFE  KEHEFEY
for sale was approximately RMB4,512.6 million (2019: RMB5,962.4 million), ENR RN ABARKEASI26EET(ZE—LFE : ARK
representing a decrease of approximately 24.3% as compared to the last year, 59624BETT) BMEERMDLI24.3%  FTEHRN AN
which was primarily due to the suspended launch of Block A of LVGEM Mangrove SALEEME N EES SAIESIEARRE - AR

Bay No. 1 in consideration of profit maximisation. As a result of this change in
sales plan, there was a reduction in sales volumes of residential units in the current
year. The Group’s total gross floor area of properties held for sale sold during the
year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately 231,100 square meters (2019:
approximately 271,500 square meters).

Revenue from leasing of investment properties for the year ended 31 December
2020 was approximately RMB620.2 million (2019: RMB618.7 million). The Group’s
commercial properties are all located in core areas. The properties are mainly
operated under the brands of “Zoll” and “NEO”. Disregarding the occupancy
rate of Hong Kong LVGEM NEO, which commenced operation in second half of
2019, the occupancy rate of other investment properties during the year ended 31
December 2020 maintained at a high level at 91% (2019: 91%). The occupancy
rate of Hong Kong LVGEM NEO as at 31 December 2020 was over 50%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group provides comprehensive services to customers and tenants of its
residential and commercial properties. These comprehensive services include
property management services, hotel operations, renovations and others. For the
year ended 31 December 2020, comprehensive services of the Group generated
revenue of approximately RMB292.0 million (2019: RMB321.3 million).

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's integrated gross profit was
approximately RMB2,665.7 million (2019: RMB4,430.4 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 39.8% as compared to the last year, and the integrated
gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2020 was 49.1% (2019:
64.2%). The fluctuation of gross profit margin was mainly caused by the revenue
recognised under different project portfolio. In 2019, approximately 75.3% of
the revenue was derived from LVGEM Mangrove Bay No.1, with a higher gross
profit margin over 70% while only approximately 13.9% of the revenue in 2020
was derived from LVGEM Mangrove Bay No.1. The income from sales of LVGEM
Joyful Town and LVGEM Amazing Plaza accounted for approximately 26.0% and
38.3% of the revenue in 2020 respectively.

Gain on deemed disposal of an associate

For the year ended 31 December 2020, when the Group obtained the control
of Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project through the subscription of new shares in
Affluent Trade, Victor Success and Multiple Ally, the Group revaluated its 25%
equity interests (acquired in 2019) in Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project at fair
value and recognised a gain of approximately RMB3,893.6 million.

Selling Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2020, selling expenses of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB127.2 million (2019: RMB134.1 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 5.1% as compared to the last year. The selling expenses
mainly included advertising expenses and sales commissions for LVGEM Amazing
Plaza and LVGEM Joyful Town.

Administrative Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2020, administrative expenses of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB474.5 million (2019: RMB461.5 million),
representing an increase of approximately 2.8% as compared to the last year.
The increase was mainly attributable to the depreciation expenses incurred for
new office in Hong Kong LVGEM NEO.

Fair Value Changes on Investment Properties

The valuation on the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2020 was
conducted by an independent property valuer which resulted in a fair value loss
on investment properties of approximately RMB239.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: fair value gain of approximately RMB696.4 million).
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Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2020, finance costs of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB1,533.1 million (2019: RMB1,256.2 million), representing an
increase of approximately 22.0% as compared to the last year.

The increase in finance costs was mainly due to the increase of the Group’s total
interest-bearing loans to RMB30,650.5 million as at 31 December 2020 from
RMB25,976.5 million as at 31 December 2019. The Group’s average finance
cost of interest-bearing loans was 7.1% for the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: 6.3%).

Income Tax Expense

For the year ended 31 December 2020, income tax expense of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB865.0 million (2019: RMB1,617.2 million). The Group’s
income tax expense included payments and provisions made for EIT and LAT
during the year. The decrease of income tax expense during the year was mainly
attributable to the decrease in LAT provision due to the decrease in sales volumes
in the current year.

Operating Results

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the profit attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately RMB3,453.4 million (2019: RMB1,750.0 million),
representing an increase of approximately 97.3% as compared to the last year.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

Bank balances and cash as at 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately
RMB9,409.7 million (including restricted bank deposits) (2019: RMB8,347.0 million).

The Group had total borrowings of approximately RMB30,650.5 million as at 31
December 2020 (2019: RMB25,976.5 million). Borrowings classified as current
liabilities were approximately RMB10,136.9 million (2019: RMB10,826.7 million)
and the Group’s net gearing ratio as at 31 December 2020 was approximately 76.2%
(2019: 135.3%), which was based on net debt (total interest-bearing loans net of
bank balances and cash (including restricted bank deposits)) over total equity.

Current, Total and Net Assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had current assets of approximately
RMB48,369.2 million (2019: RMB22,276.5 million) and current liabilities of
approximately RMB15,903.1 million (2019: RMB17,760.7 million), which
represented an increase in net current assets from approximately RMB4,515.9
million as at 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB32,466.1 million as at 31
December 2020. The increase in net current assets as at 31 December 2020 was
mainly attributable to (i) the increase in properties under development for sale
upon injection of Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project, and (ii) the reclassification of
the outstanding convertible bonds from current liabilities to non-current liabilities
upon the effective of certain supplemental agreements and/or supplemental trust
deeds in the current year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded total assets of approximately
RMB74,267.0 million (2019: RMB48,736.3 million) and total liabilities of
approximately RMB46,381.4 million (2019: RMB35,701.5 million), representing
a liabilities to assets ratio of approximately 62.5% (2019: 73.3%). Net assets of
the Group were approximately RMB27,885.6 million as at 31 December 2020
(2019: RMB13,034.8 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group was able to utilise its internal
resources and debt and equity financing to meet the funding requirements for
the development of real estate projects.

Charge on Assets

For the year ended 31 December 2020, loans of approximately RMB15,731.6
million (2019: RMB18,642.0 million) were secured by properties under development
for sale, properties held for sale, investment properties, properties, plant and
equipment and pledged deposits of the Group respectively in the total amount of
approximately RMB22,114.8 million (2019: RMB26,344.1 million).

Contingent Liabilities

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had financial guarantee contracts
relating to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities for certain purchasers
amounting to approximately RMB2,128.8 million (2019: RMB2,132.4 million).
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage payments
by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the defaulted
purchasers to the banks.

The Group’s guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon the earlier of the buyer obtaining the individual
property ownership certificate or the full settlement of mortgage loans by the buyer.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group issued financial guarantee to certain banks
with a total amount of RMB289,200,000.

The Directors consider that it is not probable for the Group to sustain a loss under
these guarantees as during the periods under guarantees, the Group can take over
the ownerships of the related properties under default and sell the properties to
recover any amounts paid by the Group to the banks. The Group has not recognised
any deferred income in respect of these guarantees as its fair value is considered
to be minimal by the Directors. The Directors also consider that the fair market
value of the underlying properties is able to cover the outstanding mortgage loans
guaranteed by the Group in the event that the purchasers default payments to the
banks for their mortgage loans.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and Related Hedges

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the Mainland China
with most of the transactions denominated in Renminbi. The Group is exposed to
foreign currency risk arising from the exposure of Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollars against Renminbi as a result of certain cash balances and loans in
Hong Kong dollars or United States dollars.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Directors
monitor the Group’s foreign exchange exposure closely and may, depending on
the circumstances and trend of foreign currency, consider adopting appropriate
foreign currency hedging policy in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED T

Treasury Policies and Capital Structure MEBERERERES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and funding policies, AEEPRESERERNPCRPAEEE - WETRRRERE
with a focus on risk management and transactions that are directly related to the MEAEENHAEESBEEEZBREHRS -
underlying business of the Group.

Employees =31

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a staff roster of 2,097 (2019: 1,821), RZZZEF+ZA=1+—H ' XEBEHF2,097%(=ZF
of which 2,065 (2019: 1,794) employees were based in the Mainland China —NF  1,821%)BT « HF2,065%(=ZF—NF : 1,794
and 32 (2019: 27) employees were based in Hong Kong. The remuneration of Z)EIRFEHEAN  REBAERREG(ZE—HIF:
employees was in line with the market trends and commensurate to the levels of 27%)BT - REMFMNEMSBE —B - THRERHFH
remuneration in the industry. Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes BKFEAEE - AEBRENTHEIEELRFTS « 764 - R
basic salaries, bonuses, retirement scheme and long-term incentives such as RET 8| R R EBEEE) - R RT AT BRI BEARE -

share options within an approved scheme.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Ms. HUANG Jingshu, aged 33, is an Executive Director and Chairman of the Company
and is responsible for the overall business development of the Company. From
August 2012 to July 2013, Ms. HUANG served in the Guangzhou branch of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu (Special General Partnership) and her last position was analyst of
Corporate Risk Management Service Division, where she was primarily responsible
for providing professional services to clients. Since November 2010, Ms. HUANG
started serving in Shenzhen LVGEM Entity Management Group Co., Ltd. (&Il
M S EEIEEBAMRARF]) and her position was the vice general manager
of the investment management department and was responsible for corporate
development and planning matters. Ms. HUANG obtained her Bachelor of Arts
with Honours degree in Accounting and Finance from University of Exeter in the
United Kingdom in July 2010, and her Master of Science degree in Accounting
and Finance in November 2011. Ms. HUANG was appointed as an executive
director and the chairman of the Company on 15 May 2014 and 5 June 2014
respectively. Ms. HUANG is the daughter of Mr. WONG Hong King, the controlling
shareholder of the Company and the sister of Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan, an executive
director of the Company.

Mr. TANG Shouchun, aged 58, is an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and is responsible for overall corporate investment and finance
matters of the Company. Mr. TANG was appointed as vice president of Shenzhen
LVGEM Entity Management Group Co., Ltd. (RIS EEREEER A
A]) in October 2015 and operations director of the Company in February 2016.
Prior to joining Shenzhen LVGEM Entity Management Group Co., Ltd. CRIIIT4x
SEEEEEBAGMRAF]), Mr. TANG has been the deputy general manager of
Yue Xiu Enterprises (Holdings) Limited and executive director of Yuexiu Property
Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange). Mr. TANG studied
business administration in Nanjing Agricultural University in his early years and
obtained a doctor degree. After graduating, he has been vice professor in university,
senior management in Guangdong and Guangzhou large state-owned enterprises
(including Hong Kong listed companies) and was responsible for finance, capital
operation, legal, audit, strategic and operation management matters. Mr. TANG
is a vice professor, senior accountant, senior economist and registered asset
appraiser in China. Mr. TANG was appointed as an executive director and chief
executive officer of the Company on 31 March 2016.

Mr. YE Xingan, aged 57, is an Executive Director of the Company and is responsible
for the overall project development and management and business branding
management of the Company. He joined Shenzhen LVGEM Entity Management
Group Co., Ltd. ORI AR = EEEEE AR AR]) in March 2007 and served
as the executive vice president and was responsible for its overall operation
management. Prior to joining the Company, from March 1993 to August 2002, Mr.
YE served various positions in BRHPZERDBR A A (China Vanke Co., Ltd.*),
a company primarily engaged in real estate development. From August 2002 to
March 2005, Mr. YE served as a director and general manager of Chengdu Xinyi
Investment Industry Co., Ltd. (F&PIMEIRE BEBRAR]) and was primarily
responsible for overall management. From March 2005 to March 2007, Mr. YE
served as a director and general manager of Shenzhen Xinyi Real Estate Investment
Development Co., Ltd. (FRIITI BRI ER E#R G R A7) and was primarily
responsible for its overall management. Mr. YE obtained his associate degree
in accounting from Jiangxi College of Finance and Economics (I 7887 4% 2265,
now known as Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (TFEI & KE2)) in
the PRC in June 1986, and he studied courses of master’'s degree in business
administration at International Business Administration School of University of
International Business and Economics (H9MEEE 5 A BB T e 1R 26)
in the PRC from September 2000 to September 2001. Mr. YE was appointed as
an executive director of the Company on 15 May 2014.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREBAEBZEE

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan, aged 30, is an Executive Director of the Company and is
responsible for investment property operation and management of the Company.
Mr. HUANG joined Shenzhen LVGEM Entity Management Group Co., Ltd. &Yl
e EEEBAGRAR) N 2014, and served as the deputy general manager
of the Investment and Development Centre and was responsible for formulating
its strategic development and investment plans, as well as responsible for project
execution and the evaluation of potential projects. From August 2016 to February
2017, Mr. HUANG served as a senior investment manager of {8 & EE R AR
/2] (Boshuang Assets Management Co., Ltd.*) and was responsible for project
development and evaluation and monitoring of investments. Mr. HUANG possesses
7 years’ working experience in the real estate industry in China. Mr. HUANG was
appointed as an executive director of the Company on 21 February 2017. Mr.
HUANG is the son of Mr. WONG Hong King, the controlling shareholder of the
Company and the younger brother of Ms. HUANG Jingshu, an executive director
and chairman of the Company.

Mr. SIU Chi Hung, aged 50, is an Executive Director of the Company and is
responsible for corporate investment, treasury and financing, investor relationship
and compliance management of the Company. Mr. SIU joined KPMG (Hong
Kong) in 1994 and became a partner in 2008. He was the Head of Real Estate of
KPMG (China) and the Head of Capital Markets development, Southern China of
KPMG (China) before his retirement in June 2018. Mr. SIU currently also serves
as an independent non-executive director of Roiserv Lifestyle Services Co., Ltd.
(stock code 2146), China Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (stock code
1940) and Dongjiang Environmental Company Limited (B T3RARALD B R A 7))
(stock code 895), all companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr.
SIU obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1994. Mr. SIU is a non-practising member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Independent
Non-Executive Director Association. Mr. SIU also obtained an independent director
qualification certificate of listed company from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in
February 2021. Mr. SIU was appointed as an executive director of the Company
on 20 September 2019.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. LI Lihong, aged 48, is a Non-Executive Director of the Company. Ms. LI has
over 25 years of experience in the banking and financial industry. She is currently
the chief risk officer of the Real Estate Finance Division of Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.
(CFZR1TIHD BBR A 7)) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with
stock code of 000001) and is responsible for the risk management of the real estate
finance department. From March 2015 to November 2016, Ms. Li served as the
general manager of Ping An Caizhi Investment Management Company (“F & 8148
REEE AR A F]). She joined the Guangzhou branch of Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.
(CFZRITID BBR A 7)) in January 2009 and held various management positions
until March 2015, the last position she held in such branch was the investment
officer. From July 2003 to January 2009, Ms. Li also served as the branch general
manager of the Corporate Finance Department and general manager assistant of
the Risk Management Department in the Guangzhou branch of China Minsheng
Banking Corp., Ltd. (R BIR A SRTTAR (DB PR 2 &)) (a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock codes of 600016
and 01988 respectively). In addition, Ms. Li also served as the deputy director of
the Guangzhou Tianhe branch of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Limited (7F B T @ $R7TR% 1 B BR A A)) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock codes of 601398 and
1398 respectively) from July 1995 to June 2013. Ms. LI graduated from Nankai
University and obtained her master’s degree in business administration in senior
management. Ms. LI was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company
on 29 March 2018.

* For identification purposes only (£#£2 5

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

BEHRAE  BF30% - ARBRITES - AFEALA
ZIREMMFELRER - EAER T —TF AR
MHRSECXEREERRAR - BEREERDPL 2R
K12 - BENEHRERMRENE MERTRETEE
AR - RZZ2—RFENAZZT—+F-F @54
REHEEERARAFABEESMRELE - 6 HEARN
T HEREERE - mAEABLFRPREEHETE
ZIEESR - R=ZT—tF-_R=1+—H8  BEEEBZRE
RARFRITES - BEERARRERBRERFELLE
ZRFRANFRITEERIFERET KL 2D -

BERE  RES0R - ANEWITESE C BEARRZ
TERE  BoNmE  REEFENEGRERE - &4
R—NANEENMAREBSEFN(ES)  TR=Z
ENERABEA - R N\FEXABRKINETES
BHPBEEHEEFEAUARESRPEERR)EATS
BRIEAUA - BEEBRMETHONREER S L™
WAREBREFTRERDER A (BRH AR : 2146) -
China Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (B&{Hft
55 0 1940) RETIRIRIRMDBIRAE (ARG R - 895)8)%E
VIEHITESE c BEER —NANAEFRBRINRBIEE
BEBLEN - BALEADACHI S IERNESEA -
EHAMEHMBeeERERBUIENTESHT S
8  BEAN B —FE - ANMESRIIBEETSH LN
NEBUEEERBE R-T—hEHAZ-TH  #X
SEZTARDBRITES -

FHITES

ZEALL  WFLASHE  ANARIIEMITES - TLLER
AMERITEEERA - THFLR - ZUTHEBATR
RITRM AR AR (—HMRFIEEZ S T2 AR
HARHE : 000001 HES R BT RABRAE  BEME
SRSETNRREETIE RZTE—HAF=-RE=T—
NFET—A  ELLECFRHERETREAR QAL
B o FERTR_ETNF—AMAFZRITRHERAF
BMDIT  WIEAZERMG  2EE2-Z—HF=/ ' H#®
INTRERTIZBALARERE - ZLL IR _TT=
FHRAEZZTNF—ARPERERTRHAERAR(—
MR EEBEER G REAR G Eh 2z Aal(RHRES
B /A600016}01988) ) M D 1THEESZ 1T A B E MK BB E
BEESTRBEEIALIEE - B » TLENRER—
MNAFELAZE_Z—ZFNARPEIHRITRMDER
AE(—FHR EBBERZGAIREBR S M2 AR (K
P3RS BIA601398 % 1398) ) E M KA X 1TEE =5
BETRFURIBERE - ST EERERAAEINES
HEBABTITEEEBLTEMN KR_T—NF=ZA=-1Th
A ZTRTEZTARAGFNTES -



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Jing, aged 53, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
and is responsible for providing independent judgement and scrutinising the
performance of the Company. Mr. WANG currently serves as a vice president of
FE % E and an independent director of Dark Horse Venture (Beijing) Technology
Co. Ltd (BIZER B AL ) BHEAR (D B FR A 8)) (a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange with a stock code of 300688). From January 2017 to September
2018, he served as a chairman of the board of directors (chained supermarket
of retail industry) of Beijing Ueater Technology Co. Ltd (It REEERIE AR
2 A)). Mr. WANG served as an independent director of Better-Life Commercial
Chain Share Co., Ltd. (S & £ EHIR D BR A ) (a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange with a stock code of 002251) from May 2014 to May
2017. Mr. WANG also served as a chief strategy officer of RE£E (7FRESH
Business Unit) from October 2018 to April 2019. Mr. WANG obtained his Bachelor
of Engineering Degree from Heilongjiang Business School (B&E/IEEET) in
the PRC in July 1990, and his master’s degree in business administration from
University of International Business and Economics (¥19MEEE 5 KE2) in the
PRC in July 1997. Mr. WANG was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 15 May 2014.

Ms. HU Gin Ing, aged 62, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company and is responsible for providing independent judgement and scrutinising
the performance of the Company. Ms. HU has over 26 years of experience in
accounting and finance. Ms. HU was appointed as an independent director of Acer
Synergy Tech Corp. (2B RIS I D R A &) and Vigor Kobo Company Limited,
all of which companies listed on the Taipei Exchange with a code of 6751 and
2733, on 15 October 2019 and 28 June 2019 respectively. Ms. Hu is now the vice
chairman of the board of BeneLife Management Limited* (& & /HA P EE IR
#8(_8)B R A R)) since February 2018. From May 2014 to June 2017, Ms. HU
has served as the global chief finance officer of Acer Incorporated (&R AR
72 1A)), a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange with stock code of 2353.
From December 2013 to April 2019 and March 2011 to June 2020, Ms. HU has
served as an independent non-executive director of Carnival Group International
Holdings Limited (32 F 2= BB A% A BR 2 &) and Enterprise Development Holdings
Limited ({&E1EAZ A PR A F)), both companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange with stock code of 996 and 1808 respectively. From July 2017 to June
2020, Ms. HU has served as the chairman of the board of directors of Benepet
Co., Ltd. (FEABIMH AR A R]). From January 2005 to July 2020, Ms. HU
has served as the director of NHL CPA Ltd., Hong Kong. Ms. HU serves as an
independent non-executive director of Superactive Group Company Limited (5
D ELEBAR AR (formerly known as United Pacific Industries Limited (B
KT HABRZAR])) since November 2013, a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange with stock code of 176. Ms. HU obtained her Bachelor of Arts
degree from National Taiwan University in June 1981, her Master of Science
degree of science from Barry University in the United States of America in May
1988 and her Master of Business Administration degree from Florida International
University in the United States of America in August 1990. Ms. HU is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. HU was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 15 May 2014.

* For identification purposes only {Z#t5/
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREBAEBZEE

Mr. MO Fan, aged 38, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
and is responsible for providing independent judgement and scrutinising the
performance of the Company. Mr. MO has over 14 years of experience in financing.
Mr. MO currently serves as a Chief Financial Officer of the joint venture company
of Vanke Service and Cushman & Wakefield. Mr. MO obtained his Bachelor of
Business Administration degree and a Bachelor of Communication Engineering
degree from Zhejiang University in the PRC in June 2005 respectively, and his
Master of Science degree in Banking and Finance from Loughborough University in
the United Kingdom in December 2006. Mr. MO was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 8 April 2019.

Senior Management

Ms. HU Yong, aged 58, is the vice president of the Group and is responsible
for its financing. Prior to joining the Group in January 2005, from July 2003 to
December 2004, Ms. HU served as the assistant to general manager in China
Jiantou Commerce & Trading Co., Ltd. (F#£$% 5 E B R A 7)) and was responsible
for finance duties. From January 1987 to January 2001, she served in various
positions in Shenzhen Petrochemical Chemical Co., Ltd. CRIIA{L(L THREA
7)), including deputy general manager from July 1996 to January 2001. She was
responsible for financial and accounting matters. Ms. HU obtained her associate
degree in accounting from Shenzhen University GEIIIAEZE) in July 1989, and
studied strategic financing management courses in the Research Institute of
Tsinghua University in Shenzhen (RYINEZERZF5587) in the PRC in April 2008.

Mr. REN Hongbing, aged 53, is the vice president of the Group and is responsible
for the project construction and development. Mr. REN joined the Group in March
2001. He had served various positions including the vice general manager and
general manager of Zhuhai LVGEM Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 3K/84k 25
HhEE F 85 5 PR A 7)) and was responsible for project development. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. REN served as various positions in Shenzhen Huatai Enterprises
Company (FYIIZEZE{b %2 7)) and was responsible for technology and engineering
matters. Mr. REN obtained his bachelor’s degree in industrial and civil buildings
(THEER ML) from Yangzhou Construction Engineering Institute (35 /M &
TRER) in the PRC in July 1988, and his Master of Business Administration
degree from University of Wales in January 2012.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to present their report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020.

A review of the business of the Group during the year under review and a discussion
on the Group’s future business development, possible risks and uncertainties that
the Group may be facing and important events affecting the Company occurred
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are provided in the section headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 6 and the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 22 of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December

2020 using financial performance indicators is provided in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 22 of this annual report.

Principal Activities

The Group is principally engaged in property development and property investment
businesses.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As at 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report, the Board was
not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had
a significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital importance to the long
term development of the Group. In order to minimise the environmental impact,
the Group will continue to review and improve the effectiveness of its management
practices from time to time.

“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” will be published in July 2021.
For details, please refer to the Company’s website.

Results and Dividend
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the state of
affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements

on pages 62 to 227.

The Board does not recommended the payment of any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Convertible Bonds and Share Capital
Details of the movements in the Company’s convertible bonds and share capital

during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in notes 34 and 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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EESRE
Distributable Reserves

Pursuant to the applicable statutory provisions of the Cayman Islands, the
Company’s reserves available for distribution as at 31 December 2020, amounted
to approximately RMB363.7 million (2019: RMB283.1 million).

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Principal Properties

Details of the principal properties for investment purposes and properties under
development for sale are set out on pages 229 to 236.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 228.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities

During the year, the Company issued an aggregate of 46,444,364 ordinary
shares (including the issue of 8,808,000 shares by the Company pursuant to
the exercise of share options under the share option scheme of the Company).
Details are as follows:

(@) on 14 January 2020, the Company received a conversion notice for the
conversion of aggregate 13,636,364 convertible preference shares in the
capital of the Company into 13,636,364 ordinary shares of the Company;
and

(b) on4 August 2020, the Company received a conversion notice for the conversion
of aggregate 24,000,000 convertible preference shares in the capital of the
Company into 24,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

The Company has not redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during
the year. Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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Based on the financial and liquidity position of the Group (with details set out
in the paragraphs headed “Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing” of this
report), to the best knowledge of the Company, the Company expects that it will
be able to meet its redemption obligations under the outstanding convertible
securities issued by it.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)

Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YE Xingan

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan

Mr. SIU Chi Hung

Non-Executive Director
Ms. LI Lihong
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Jing
Ms. HU Gin Ing
Mr. Mo Fan

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Ms. HUANG Jingshu,
Mr. TANG Shouchun and Mr. YE Xingan will retire by rotation. All the above
Directors being eligible for re-election, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an
annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company considers such Directors
were independent.
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EEERE
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on pages
23 to 26.

Directors’ Service Agreements

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company and is subject to termination by either party in the manner as set out
in the service agreement.

The non-executive Director and each of the independent non-executive Directors
have entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of two
years; and is subject to termination by either party in the manner as set out in
the letter of appointment.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting have a service agreement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
not determinable by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this report
and in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements, none of the Directors
and controlling shareholders of the Company had a material beneficial interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Remuneration of the Directors and the Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is determined with
reference to their duties, responsibilities and performance and the Group’s results.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company

As at 31 December 2020, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had the following interests in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers of the Listing Rules.

(A) Interest in shares and underlying shares of the Company

Directors’ Report
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(R) RAEQTROHOERRABRERED 2ER

Number of underlying Approximate
shares (under equity percentage of the
Long position/ Number of derivatives of the Aggregate  issued share capital
Name of Director Short position Capacity shares held Company) held interests of the Company
FrisHERO A
(RAEQTRA AN E BT
e BE/ KA 54 FrERPEE fTEIAT) BRAE BAEZBHOBDL
Ms. HUANG Jingshu Long Position Beneficiary of a trust 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.09%
EWET AL IS5} EANXEA (Note 1)
(Hizt1)
Long Position Interests of spouse - 810,000,000 810,000,000 15.89%
A fofBiEas (Note 2)
(Hzt2)
Long Position Personal interest - 4,500,000 (Note 3) 4,500,000 0.09%
IS5} [N 3 (H17£3)
Mr. TANG Shouchun Long Position Personal interest - 10,000,000 (Note 3) 10,000,000 0.20%
BEELE I55) BN 3 (Hz#3)
Mr. YE Xingan Long Position Personal interest - 10,000,000 (Note 3) 10,000,000 0.20%
HEZEE I55) (VN (H17£3)
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan Long Position Beneficiary of a trust 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.09%
EEREE I5) EEMEEA (Note 1)
(Fist1)
Long Position Personal interest - 4,500,000 (Note 3) 4,500,000 0.09%
e {E AR (H1z#3)
Mr. WANG Jing Long Position Personal interest - 3,000,000 (Note 3) 3,000,000 0.06%
FHEE 5] (VN (H1z#3)
Ms. HU Gin Ing Long Position Personal interest - 3,000,000 (Note 3) 3,000,000 0.06%
LiEg e I5) VN3 (H1z#3)
Notes: B

1. Ms. HUANG Jingshu and Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan are deemed to be interested
in 2,400,000,000 shares in the Company by virtue of them being beneficiaries
of the family trust of Mr. WONG Hong King for the purpose of Part XV of the
SFO.

2. Ms. HUANG Jingshu is deemed to be interested in 810,000,000 convertible
preference shares held by Mr. Xu Jun Jia, her spouse, for the purpose of Part
XV of the SFO.

3. Share options were granted on 28 June 2016. Details of share options granted
to the Directors of the Company are set out in part (B) of this section.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company (Cont'd)

(A) Interest in shares and underlying shares of the Company (Cont'd)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the Company’s
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates, had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to
be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO.

(B)  Long position in underlying shares — share options

Under the share option scheme of the Company, share option may be
granted to certain participants including the Directors and employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries to subscribe for the shares of the Company.
Details of share options granted to the Directors during the year are as follows:

EERFETRAEREAQFANREG - 8
RO RESDERNVER @)

(A  REDARDEERRERERG 2 &R (F)

BEXWEEN AT -_ZTF+_-_A=+—8
AARZEE  ARREEBITHRABRFSZHE
A BN AR A S H AT AR A 2 B - AERRR
MRELFRETERIARE  MERELELPE
1565 EB352% F IARDER -

(B) #HEEARNDZHR-HERE
RBARRZ BEEFTE - BREATRTET2HE

ANBREERARTAREMBARZEE)ARE
ARBZB - RERETES ZBRIEFBINT

Number of share options
b HE
Granted Exercised Lapsed Balance at Exercise
Balance at during during during 31 December price per
Name of Director Date of grant Exercisable period 1 January 2020 the year the year the year 2020 share
dd/mmiyyyy dd/mmiyyyy HK$
S b 23 S b 2:3
-A-H TZA=t+-8
EZ4B RiLAH s 288 RERRE  RERAE  REREN 288 BRORE
B/R/% R/B/F BT
Ms. HUANG Jingshu 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 4,500,000 - - - 4,500,000 1.846
GGt (Note 1) (Note 2)
(hzt1) (Hzt2)
Mr. TANG Shouchun 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 1.846
BREEE (Note 1) (Note 2)
(Brst1) (Hit2)
Mr. YE Xingan 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 1.846
EAREE (Note 1) (Note 2)
(Brzt1) (Hit2)
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 4,500,000 - - - 4,500,000 1.846
BERLE (Note 1) (Note 2)
(hzt1) (Ht2)
Mr. WANG Jing 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 1.846
ks (Note 1) (Note 2)
(Br3t1) (Hit2)
Ms. HU Gin Ing 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 1.846
Pk e (Note 1) (Note 2)
(Brzt1) (Hit2)
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company (Cont'd)

(B)  Long position in underlying shares — share options (Cont'd)

Notes:

1.

The share options are exercisable in the following manner for a period of 10
years from the date of grant:

(i) 30% of the share options shall exercise on the date of the grant and
up to 27 June 2026;

(ii) 30% of the share options shall exercise upon the expiry of one year
from 28 June 2016 and up to 27 June 2026; and

(iii) 40% of the share options shall exercise upon the expiry of two years
from 28 June 2016 and up to 27 June 2026.

Details of the fair value of the options granted in 2016 are set out in note 41
to the consolidated financial statements.
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EEEHE

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and Underlying

Shares of the Company

So far as known to the Company, as at 31 December 2020, shareholders (other
than Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to

FERRRAQANRODRAEABRSG P&

BRER

R-B-_ZTF+-_A=+—H  BARAMM - BWR(E
HYEAQNBEBITHABRINRAR BRI MBS
REEAARERSF NS GG EXVIE2RIN FMEARR

be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part AIZERmIAE  JRBEFES R EIEOIFE36CKETFE
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the &R > RO
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
Long position in ordinary shares LTERROZER
Approximate
percentage of
Number Number the issued
of of underlying Aggregate share capital
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held shares held Interests of the Company Notes
1EARAT]
R FSEERS ERITRAEAZ
RERZEE 51 E ] MR g e R iz
China LVGEM Property Holdings Beneficial owner 1,078,336,583 - 1,078,336,583 21.16% 1
Limited (“China LVGEM”) EmAA
HEGRIMERRBR AR
([RE#ZR])
Go Great International Limited Interests of controlled corporation 1,185,479,094 - 1,185,479,094 23.26% 1
(“Go Great”) SR
2EERERAR(=%E])
Mr. WONG Hong King Interests of controlled corporation 1,185,479,094 - 1,185,479,094 23.26% 1
(“Mr. WONG”) XL
BRERE(ELE]
Founder of a trust 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.09% 2
{EFERIRLA
Kinson Group Limited Beneficial owner 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.09% 2
s Z-UN
Evergreen Holdings Limited Interests of controlled corporation 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.09% 2
i EE R
Cantrust (Far East) Limited Interests of controlled corporation 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.09% 2
i EE RS
Toplist Investments Limited Beneficial owner 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 5.89% N/A
EmmAA TEH
Wkland Investments V Limited Beneficial owner 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 5.89% 3
EnmAA
China Vanke Co., Ltd.* Interests of controlled corporation 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 5.89% 3
EREERHBRAT R EE R
Chance Talent Management Limited ~ Beneficial owner 15,600,000 309,889,785 325,489,785 6.39% 4
EnmAA
China Construction Bank Corporation Interests of controlled corporation 15,600,000 309,889,785 325,489,785 6.39% 4
B SRRITRH AR AR R EERES
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interests of controlled corporation 15,600,000 309,889,785 325,489,785 6.39% 4

PRESHBEAEREEAT

*  For identification purpose only £t 5|
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company (Cont'd)

Long position in ordinary shares (Cont'd)

Notes:

1. China LVGEM is owned as to 100% by Go Great, which is in turn owned as to
100% by Mr. WONG. Accordingly, Go Great and Mr. WONG are deemed to be
interested in the 1,078,336,583 shares held by China LVGEM.

2. Kinson Group Limited is owned as to 100% by Evergreen Holdings Limited, and
Evergreen Holdings Limited is owned as to 100% by Cantrust (Far East) Limited,
acting as the trustee for the family trust of Mr. WONG.

3. Wkland Investments V Limited is owned as to 100% by SR ERMD AR A F
(China Vanke Co., Ltd.*). Accordingly, BRI EMD AR 25 (China Vanke Co.,
Ltd.*) is deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000 shares held by Wkland
Investments V Limited.

4. Chance Talent is owned as to 100% by China Construction Bank Corporation,
and China Construction Bank Corporation is owned as to 57.11% by Central
Huijin Investment Ltd.. Accordingly, Central Huijin Investment Ltd. is deemed to
be interested in the 325,489,785 shares held by Chance Talent.
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Long position in convertible preference shares ARBREERRAZETR
Approximate
percentage of the
Number of issued convertible
convertible preference
preference share capital
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held of the Company Notes
AT
ECTIE: ERTTRRELR
BREREE E=20) BERGHE BRAZBHBES i3
China LVGEM Beneficial owner 2,066,967,094 60.71% 1
alETo S BB
Go Great Interests of controlled corporation 2,066,967,094 60.71% 1
= XA E R
Mr. WONG Interests of controlled corporation 2,066,967,094 60.71% 1
BEAE 2 EER
All Group Wise International Beneficial owner 810,000,000 23.79% 2
(Holdings) Limited EnfAA
BB (ERR) BRAR
Mr. Xu Jun Jia Interests of controlled corporation 810,000,000 23.79% 2
TEREE REEERER
Proud Pine Limited Beneficial owner 284,000,000 8.34% N/A
HIRBRAR] BERBAA THEA
Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited Person having a security interest in shares 1,070,830,000 31.45% 3
BERMOREEROA
Greater Bay Area Homeland Investments  Interests of controlled corporation 1,070,830,000 31.45% 3

Limited
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company (Cont'd)

Long position in convertible preference shares (Cont'd)

Notes:

1. China LVGEM is owned as to 100% by Go Great, which is in turn owned as to
100% by Mr. WONG. Accordingly, Go Great and Mr. WONG are deemed to be
interested in the 2,066,967,094 convertible preference shares held by China
LVGEM.

2. All Group Wise International (Holdings) Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr.
Xu Jun Jia. Accordingly, Mr. Xu Jun Jia is deemed to be interested in the
810,000,000 convertible preference shares held by All Group Wise International
(Holdings) Limited.

3. Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited is indirect owned as to 100% by Greater Bay
Area Homeland Investments Limited. Accordingly, Greater Bay Area Homeland
Investments Limited is deemed to be interested in the 1,070,830,000 convertible
preferecne shares held by Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

The Group remunerates and provides benefits for its employees based on current
industry practice. Discretionary bonuses are awarded to staff based on the financial
performance of the Group and performance of individual staff.

In addition, share options may be granted to eligible employees in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Company’s share option scheme.

For details of the Company’s key relationships with employees, please refer to
“Employees” paragraph under the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 22 of this annual report.

Retirement Schemes

The Group participates in several defined contribution retirement plans which
cover the Group’s eligible employees in China, and a mandatory provident fund
scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of these retirement plans
are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Share Options

The existing share option scheme of the Company was adopted on 2 June 2016.
The share option scheme was adopted for the purpose of enabling the Company
to grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the movements in the share
options are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, no rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to
any of the Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Major Suppliers and Customers

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 32%
— five largest suppliers combined 76%
Sales

— the largest customer 17%
— five largest customers combined 21%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers and
its five largest customers.
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Connected Transactions

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has entered into the following
connected transaction, certain details of which were disclosed in compliance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Subscription of New Shares in Affluent Trade Investments Limited, Victor Success
Investments Limited and Multiple Ally Limited

On 25 August 2020, Greater Bay Area Intelligent City Limited (the “Subscriber”),
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with Affluent Trade Investments
Limited, Victor Success Investments Limited and Multiple Ally Limited (the “Target
Companies”) to subscribe for new ordinary shares in each of the Target Companies
at the consideration of RMB1,200,000, RMB1,380,000 and RMB1,490,000
respectively (the “Subscription”). The Subscription was completed 25 August 2020.

The family members of Mr. WONG, the controlling shareholder of the Company,
ultimately wholly-owned the entire issued share capital of each of the Target
Companies which is an associate of Mr. WONG and therefore a connected person
of the Company. As such, the Subscription shall constitute a connected transaction
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transaction
Security Services Agreement

On 26 October 2015, the Company and Shenzhen Forsafe System Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Forsafe”) entered into a security services agreement (the “Security Services
Agreement”) pursuant to which Forsafe provides security products, intelligent
security system design, engineering and installation services, including fire security
system and low current intelligent system to the Group (the “Services”), for a term
commencing from the date of agreement and ending on 31 December 2017. On
24 November 2017, the Security Services Agreement was renewed for a term of
3 years continuing on 1 January 2018.

Forsafe is a wholly owned subsidiary of J&RIITEASEIE B AR (Shenzhen
Hongjing Investment Co., Ltd*) (“Shenzhen Hongjing”), the shareholding interest
of which has been transferred from Mr. Wong to his spouse, Ms. He Yaxing and
certain associates on 28 September 2015, when Ms. He Yaxing became the
controlling shareholder of Shenzhen Hongjing. Therefore, the Security Services
Agreement constitutes continuing connected transaction of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

*
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Connected Transactions (Cont'd)
Continuing Connected Transaction (Cont'd)
Security Services Agreement (Cont'd)

For the year ended 31 December 2020, no fees were charged by Forsafe for the
provision of the Services under the Security Services Agreement, which was within
the annual cap of RMB30 million for the same period.

The aforesaid continuing connected transaction has been reviewed by the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company and they confirmed that
the aforesaid transaction was entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group, (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from independent third parties,
and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the transactions on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.

Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has provided a letter
to the Board, confirming that nothing has come to their attention which causes
them to believe the continuing connected transaction abovementioned:

(i)  has not been approved by the Board;

(i) has not been entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transaction; and

(iii) has exceeded the annual cap.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group in the normal
course of business are set out in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements.
Those related party transactions, which constituted connected transactions not
being exempt from annual reporting requirement under the Listing Rules, are set
out in the section headed “Connected Transactions” above, and the Company has
complied with the relevant disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors had any interest in the businesses which compete or are
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
that were required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be published in
compliance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set
out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules within three months after the publication
of this annual report.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
is set out on pages 42 to 53 of this report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share
capital was held by the public during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up
to the date of this report.

Changes in Directors’ Information

Changes in directors’ information since the date of the 2020 interim report of the
Company and up to the date of this report which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are as follows:

Mr. SIU Chi Hung was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Roiserv Lifestyle Services Co., Ltd. (stock code 2146) in April 2020, China Gas
Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (stock code 1940) in June 2020 and
Dongjiang Environmental Company Limited (8T IR{RA% 15 B BR A 7)) (stock code
895) in December 2020, all companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
respectively.

Mr. SIU obtained an independent director qualification certificate of listed company
from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in February 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change to the Directors’ information as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

*

For identification purposes only £z 51

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

EERNHFRB2ES

(ARG TR 8. 10(2) BT 0 E  FE SL
BRI L7 B RIS T SR T 2
s -

B HEREARS
BE - HEREAMEBRAFHRTER =M@ANRE L

MR BIPTEE — B 2R - e RERREESDT
LASBSZTIE -

EER

ARARRMOEBLEEARRORE
42%53H -

CENARES

EHNRRERE

RBEARR AR ARSEIISHERRRERAAM - NE
ECRCRES A=+ -HIEFERBEARSEH
ARABZ2HEHTRN ZARFRER/TLR25%

ESENEH

BARR - ZE-_ZFRHREAEERARS AL - 18
BEEMARAMFISSIBMGREATRENEFENEZS
LI

BEEAEDNR_T_TFNA - ZTTF AR
ToTF T AREAREREBREFRBROHBR AR (IR
31X5% : 2146) * China Gas Industry Investment Holdings
Co. Ltd. (ARARR : 1940) RFTRRR M AR AT (K
5% : 895) (FIB A RN E BT LT ) A B L IEBTT
=

BEREN =T —F = ARBRIIBEX S LHARS
TEFEREE -

Bt EES  MEEEEREHERE LHRANE
135IB(LIET AR -



Directors’ Report

EEEHE

Auditor B ELRD

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December AEBHE T -_TFE+ A=+ —RHUEFEZHZEMT

2020 have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) who will HWREHEY « BEMR S S MT(ES)EZ - MED
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. Save as aforesaid, BERE - EFAERTREERIEET - B L& - R

there was no change in auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years. BE=FARNRRZEEIEEE) -

A resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte as the auditor of the Company will AREHEREERRBFTFAS LRErERUNEREY S
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. KA FIZEAED o

On behalf of the Board EEEEW

HUANG Jingshu Y

Chairman BHWEF

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021 BE T —F=A=+H

Z(TERHERERRIFA 4
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The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate practices and
procedures. The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise a
quality board, transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the Company.

Corporate Governance Practices

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group complied with all the
code provisions of Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Group’s corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the Code.

Board of Directors
Board Composition

The Board comprises five executive directors, one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors. All five executive Directors are members of the
executive committee of the Company responsible for dealing with the business of
the Company in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations, including but
not limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) have been consulted on all major and material matters of the Company.

The Board members as at the date of this report were:
Executive Directors

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)

Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YE Xingan

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan

Mr. SIU Chi Hung

Non-Executive Director

Ms. LI Lihong

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Jing

Ms. HU Gin Ing

Mr. MO Fan

Further details of the current Directors are set out on pages 23 to 26 under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of

this report.

The number of independent non-executive directors meets the requirements
under the Listing Rules.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

RRRBMNEL R Z BEERENRERF - ARFZE
¥(ERRAZEEF2EFE  SHERALRRMAER
RHEE -

TEERER
HE ZE+-A=1+—HILFE ' K&EB—FHET
Ezﬁﬂﬁﬁéx%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ AI(TEE P )5 R AN £
FRAN DR+ uprE 2 R EERSFRID (TSR D P 2 Fr
BFANESURE ©

EFRBREEERERASEY CEER
HAFRZIE -

Exg

B4

WA - PARELR

EEEMARRTESE —BIFNTEZFR=2BIIFH
TEFER  MELRRTESHORARRPITRESK
8 BERRAEERNRRGIIRERDRZE
He @4 - ERRREHHRA - KRR ZAEEEREKR
ERYABAMAES(REBIFRNITES) -

RAREARNCEZEKER
WITES

B AL (ZE)
ERERE(TTHAR)
EEREE

EEREE

[y ¥

FEHMITER

FRALL

BIFRTES

Eﬂﬁi

BB 2L

%R%E
ERRIEEZE - THBIARAFHRAFE23226RE
ENEREBABZIERE] & o

BYFMITEFZHE DA LTRBIRE -



Board of Directors (Contd)
Board Composition (Cont'd)

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are held separately
by two executive directors to ensure their respective independence, accountability
and responsibility. The Chairman is responsible for determining overall business
strategies of the Group. The duty of the Chairman is to work closely with audit,
nomination and remuneration committee of the Company and to ensure that all
key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely and constructive
manner. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible to work closely with the
executive committee of the Company to ensure management strategies, plans
and performance of the Group are appropriately carried out in accordance with
to the Board’s decision and to provide guidance to the Board on major issues.

The Board is responsible for corporate strategy, annual and interim results,
succession planning, risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and capital
transactions, and other significant operational and financial matters. Major corporate
matters that are specially delegated by the Board to the management include
the preparation of annual and interim accounts for Board approval before public
reporting, execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board,
implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and risk management
procedures, and compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules and
regulations.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual confirmation
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all independent non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with
the terms of the guidelines. The Company had made letters of appointment with
all the independent non-executive Directors which may be terminated by either
party by giving one month’s written notice; and subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company.

Attendance Record at Board Meetings

For the year ended 31 December 2020, five full Board meetings were held, two
of which were the regular ones held at approximately semi-annually intervals, to
review the business of the Group and approve the financial results of the Group.

The attendance of individual members at the meetings of the Board are set out
as follows:
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Meetings attended/

Number of Meetings held
HEEERE BTEEAH

BIITEE
mWET L (£E)
BSEELRE (1TBAEE)

Executive Directors
Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)
Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. YE Xingan BEZEE

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan =EREE

Mr. SIU Chi Hung o vidted
Non-Executive Director HFHITEE

Ms. LI Lihong FROLL
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHITEE
Mr. WANG Jing EREE

Ms. HU Gin Ing HAER S 2t

Mr. MO Fan SEREE
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Board of Directors (Contd)
Attendance Record at Board Meetings (Cont'd)

Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring Board approval were arranged by
means of circulation of written resolutions of all Board members.

Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can ask for
further information or retain independent professional advisors if necessary. They
also have access to the advice and services of the company secretary, who is
responsible for providing Directors with Board papers and related materials and
ensuring that Board procedures are followed. Directors are given sufficient time for
discussion at the Board meetings. Where queries are raised by Directors, prompt
and full responses will be given if possible.

Directors’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate directors and officers liability insurance
in respect of legal action against Directors.

Directors’ Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors receive comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on their appointments, so as to ensure that they have appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Group and that they are fully aware of their
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements. There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors at the Company’s expenses
whenever necessary.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5, Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. During the year,
all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by ways of attending trainings, reading materials or conducting academic
research relevant to the Company’s business or to the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

Model Code for Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code™) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. The obligation
to follow the Listing Rules is set out in the terms of the service agreements of
each executive Director and the letters of appointment of each independent non-
executive Director. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Board Committees

The Company currently have four committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Executive Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Executive
Committee are available on the websites of the Company (www.lvgem-china.com)
and the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk). The Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses.
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Board Committees (Contd)
Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 14 November 2005 with terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. In view of the implementation of the
Stock Exchange’s consultation conclusions on “Review of the Corporate Governance
Code and Related Listing Rules” effective on 1 January 2019, a revised terms of
reference of the Audit Committee was adopted by the Board on 31 January 2019.

The Audit Committee consists of independent non-executive directors only. The
members of the Audit Committee as at the date of this report are as follows:

Ms. HU Gin Ing (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Jing
Mr. MO Fan

Ms. HU Gin Ing, who possess a professional accounting qualification and relevant
accounting experience, is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. No member of
the Audit Committee is a member of the former or existing auditor of the Company.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and approve the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s interim results for
the six months ended 30 June 2020. The Group's final results for the year ended
31 December 2020 have been reviewed by the members of the Audit Committee
before submission to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee was of the
opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made. The
Audit Committee has also reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems.

Three meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year. The attendance
of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members
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REERE HESERE BTERAE
Mr. WANG Jing WL 1/3
Ms. HU Gin Ing il 3/3
Mr. MO Fan BEREAE 3/3

Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 14 November 2005 with
terms of reference in compliance with the Code. In view of the implementation
of the Stock Exchange’s consultation conclusions on “Review of the Corporate
Governance Code and Related Listing Rules” effective on 1 January 2019, a
revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was adopted by the
Board on 31 January 2019.
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Board Committees (Conta)
Nomination Committee (Cont’d)

The members of the Nomination Committee include one executive director and two
independent non-executive directors. The members of the Nomination Committee
as at the date of this report are as follows:

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Jing
Mr. MO Fan

The primary duty of the Nomination Committee is making recommendations to
the Board on appointment and removal of directors and management of Board
succession. No director was appointed or removed during the year. In reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee had considered
the various aspects set out in the board diversity policy. It had also reviewed and
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee resolved that all the existing Directors should be
recommended to be retained by the Company. In accordance with the Company’s
articles of association, Ms. HUANG Jingshu, Mr. TANG Shouchun and Mr. YE
Xingan retire by rotation. All the above Directors being eligible for re-election,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during the year. The attendance
of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members
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Meetings attended/Number of Meetings held
HEEBRY BTERAY

REEB

Ms. HUANG Jingshu EHET T
Mr. WANG Jing FaEAE
Mr. MO Fan BEREE

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) in
January 2019 which sets out the selection criteria and nomination procedures
adopted to guide the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates
for directorship so as to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee
in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

° Reputation for integrity

o Accomplishment and experience

o Compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
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Board Committees (Contd)
Nomination Committee (Cont’d)
Nomination Policy (Cont’d)

o Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years
or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service

The Secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of the Nomination
Committee, and invite nominations of candidates from Board members if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations
for the Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make nominations
to the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”) in
August 2013 in accordance with the requirement under the Code.

The Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
to ensure that the Board has the balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee will
consider candidates on merit and against the objective criteria with due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee will monitor
the implementation of the Diversity Policy and review the same as appropriate.

Remuneration Committee
The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 14 November 2005 with

terms of reference in compliance with the Code. The Remuneration Committee
consists of one executive director and two independent non-executive directors.
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Board Committees (Conta)
Remuneration Committee (Cont'd)

The members of the Remuneration Committee as at the date of this report are
as follows:

Ms. HU Gin Ing (Chairman)
Ms. HUANG Jingshu
Mr. MO Fan

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and determine
the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable
to Directors and senior management. The Company has adopted the model of
remuneration committee as described in Code Provision B.1.2(c)(i) of the Code.
As such, the responsibility for determining the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management of the Group has been delegated to
the Remuneration Committee.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee considered and reviewed the
existing terms of remuneration of all the Directors based on factors including
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration. The
Remuneration Committee considered that the existing terms of remunerations of
the Directors were fair and reasonable.

All of the five highest paid individuals during the year ended 31 December 2020
were Directors. Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 31

December 2020 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the year. The
attendance of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members
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Meeting attended/Number of Meeting held

REERE HESEREBTEERH
Ms. HU Gin Ing A 1/1
Ms. HUANG Jingshu EC G e 11
Mr. MO Fan BNEE 1/1
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Board Committees (Contd)
Executive Committee

The Board has delegated to the Executive Committee the authority of dealing with
the operational matters of the Group, save for those matters which are reserved
for the Board'’s decision and approval pursuant to the written terms of reference,
which includes taking in charge of major decision making in relation to the
day-to-day business operations of the Company, administering the Company’s
routine resolutions and dealing with ad hoc matters, ensuring adequate funding
and reporting periodically to the Board. The Executive Committee consists of five
executive directors and assumes full accountability to the Board for all operations
of the Group.

To comply with the requirement under the Code in respect of the responsibilities
for performing the corporate governance duties, the Board has delegated its
responsibilities to the Executive Committee to develop, review and monitor the policies
and practices on corporate governance of the Group and make recommendations
to the Board, to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
the legal and regulatory compliance, to review and monitor the code of conduct
and ethical behavior applicable to the Directors and employees and the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management,
and to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosures in the
corporate governance report.

Twenty-three meetings of the Executive Committee were held during the year.
The attendance record of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members
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Meetings attended/Number of Meetings held
HESBRAE ETEHRAE

REEZE

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman) BEWET LT (FE)
Mr. TANG Shouchun BEERE

Mr. YE Xingan HEELEE

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan BRI E

Mr. SIU Chi Hung vt

The Executive Committee reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code and
the regulatory and statutory requirements during the year under review, and the
disclosures of this corporate governance report.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal
controls system and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is committed to
implementing an effective and sound internal controls system to safeguard the
interests of shareholders and the Group’s assets. The Board has delegated to the
management the implementation of the system of internal controls and the review
of all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk management
function within an established framework.

The Company has established internal audit department to monitor compliance
with policies and procedures and the effectiveness of internal control structures of
the Group. The internal audit department reports directly to the Audit Committee
annually and ensure the internal controls are in place and functioning properly
as intended.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls (Cont'd)

The Audit Committee has conducted review on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system during the year under review and the
Company considers them effective and adequate.

The Company’s internal audit department independently reviews the effectiveness
of the internal controls and risk management, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, in the key activities of the Company’s business. The head
of the Company’s internal audit department reports to the Audit Committee, and
submits reports for its review in accordance with the approved review and audit
mechanisms. The internal audit department submits a detailed report at least once
a year to the Board for its review and monitors the effectiveness of the system of
internal control and risk management of the Group. In case any material internal
control defect is discovered, the Board would require reports on the cause of and
proposed solution for remedying the defect be submitted by the internal control
department and follow up with the defect until it is resolved.

For the year of 2020, no significant risk or critical internal control issues have
been identified.

The Company has procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information. The Group strictly prohibits unauthorised use of inside
information. The Group strives to identify inside information and any information
which may potentially constitute inside information at the earliest practicable
opportunity, which is then assessed and handed to the Board for decision on the
need for disclosure. Inside information and other information which is required
to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and the SFO will be disclosed in
accordance with all applicable requirements in due course. Inside information would
be kept strictly confidential until disclosure of such inside information is made.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in January
2019 which sets out the guidelines for the Board to determine the declaration
and payment of dividends.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute
discretion of the Board. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also
take into account, inter alia, the Group’s financial results, cash flow situation,
shareholders’ interests, general business conditions and strategies, future
operations and earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, taxation
considerations, statutory and regulatory restriction (if any) and other factors the
Board may deem relevant at such time. Any payment of the dividend by the
Company is also subject to any restrictions under the articles of association of the
Company and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy, as appropriate, and there is no assurance
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Convening an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”)

One or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company having the right
of voting at general meetings can deposit a written request to convene an
EGM at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (“Hong
Kong Office”), for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. If
within 21 days of such deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered shareholders in respect
of the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal as follows:

- At least 14 clear days' notice (the notice period must include 10 clear
business days) in writing if no special resolution is to be considered
at the EGM.

- At least 21 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 10 clear
business days) in writing if a special resolution is to be considered
at the EGM.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2013
Revision) or the articles of association of the Company. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene an EGM
as stipulated in above paragraph 1.

Right to propose a person for election as a director

If a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a person other than
a retiring Director or a person recommended by the Board to stand for
election as a Director of the Company, the shareholder concerned shall
lodge with the Company (for the attention of the Company Secretary) at
the Hong Kong Office or at the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, a duly signed nomination form which
includes, inter alia, the intention to propose that person for election as a
Director, notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected,
and the information required by the Listing Rules.

The period for lodgement of the nomination form will commence no earlier
than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which the
nomination form and associated documents may be given to the Company
will be at least 7 days.
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Shareholders’ Rights (Cont'd)
4, Right to put enquiry to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries must
be in writing with contact information of the person making the enquiry and
deposited at the Hong Kong Office for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Detailed procedures can be found in the document entitled “Shareholders’
Rights” which is available on the Company’s website.

Communication with Shareholders

Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general meetings of the Company.
The Chairman of the Board will attend the annual general meeting and invite the
Chairman of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and other Board Committee(s), or in their absence, other members of these Board
Committee(s), to attend the annual general meeting.

The Company held the annual general meeting on 10 June 2020.

Details of Directors’ attendance record of general meetings during the year ended
31 December 2020 are as follows:
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Annual General Meeting
RRBFRE
Meeting attended/Number of Meeting held
HEEBRY BTERAY

Executive Directors BITESE

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman) AT L (EE)
Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer) BB (TTEEE)
Mr. YE Xingan HET A

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan =R A

Mr. SIU Chi Hung Eht e
Non-Executive Director HHITEE

Ms. Li Lihong TRBAZ T
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYIBITEE
Mr. WANG Jing FaEAE

Ms. HU Gin Ing HAER R

Mr. MO Fan ENEE
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Investor Relationship and Communication

The Company strives to achieve a high level of transparency in communicating
with shareholders and the investment community at large. Briefings and meetings
with institutional investors and analysts are conducted at opportune times. The
Company is committed to continuing to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information on its
business in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory requirements. In order
to ensure effective, clear and accurate communications with the investors and
analysts, all corporate communications are arranged and handled by the executive
directors with the assistance of an independent corporate communication firm and
designated senior executives according to established practices and procedures
of the Company. The Company has announced results of the year under review
in a timely manner.

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there were no changes to the
constitutional documents of the Company.

The memorandum and articles of association of the Company is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing such consolidated financial
statements, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently.

The auditor’s responsibility is to express an independent opinion, based on their
audit, on those consolidated financial statements and to report their opinion to the
shareholders of the Company, as a body, and for no other purpose. The auditor
does not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of results and cash flows for that year.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations; made adjustments and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the going concern basis. The Directors also ensure the
timely publication of the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The fee in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by independent
auditor for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to RMB2,990,000
(2019: RMB2,490,000) and RMB5,689,000 (2019: RMB806,000) respectively.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of LVGEM (China) Real
Estate Investment Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 227, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (cont'd)
Key audit matter
Valuation of investment properties

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit matter as
they represented approximately 31% of the Group’s total assets, combined with
the judgements and estimation associated with determining the fair value.

As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the fair value of
completed investment properties and investment properties under development
amounted to approximately RMB22,726,094,000 and RMB441,065,000 as at
31 December 2020 and an decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss
amounted to approximately RMB452,500,000 and an increase in fair value
recognised in profit or loss RMB213,178,000 in aggregate for the year then
ended. The completed investment properties were located in the People’s
Republic of China (the “Mainland China”), Hong Kong and the Kingdom of
Cambodia (“Cambodia”).

As set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s
investment properties were stated at fair value based on the valuation performed
by an independent qualified professional valuer (“Valuer”). As disclosed in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the fair value of investment
properties have been arrived at using income capitalisation approach, direct
comparison approach and residual approach, which were dependent on certain
key inputs and assumptions in respect of prevailing market conditions such as
capitalisation rate and monthly market rent for income capitalisation approach,
selling price per square meters for direct comparison approach and gross
development value and developers’ profit margin for residual approach.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment properties included:
o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the Valuer;

o Obtaining an understanding of the valuation processes and significant
assumptions to assess if these approaches meet the requirements of
HKFRSs and industry norms;

o Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation methods applied by the
Valuer, in particular the valuation techniques and the capitalisation rate,
based on our knowledge of the property markets in the Mainland China,
Hong Kong and Cambodia; and

° Assessing the reasonableness of other valuation inputs and source
data, including capitalisation rate and monthly market rent for income
capitalisation approach, market value of completed properties, and gross
development value and developer’s profit margin for residual approach,
selling price per square meters for direct comparison approach by
comparing these estimates, on a sample basis, to entity-specific
information such as rental income, tenancy summary, location nearby
and size of the investment properties, as well as market data based on
our knowledge of the property markets in the Mainland China, Hong
Kong and Cambodia.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (contd)
Key audit matter
Acquisition of Intelligent City Development Limited and its subsidiaries

We identified the acquisition of Intelligent City Development Limited (“ICDL")
and its subsidiaries as a key audit matter as the accounting process for
the acquisition involved the management’s estimation and judgements in
determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

The Group acquired additional 55% equity interest in ICDL and its subsidiaries,
an associate of the Group prior to the acquisition, by the way of share
subscription in Affluent Trade Investments Limited, Victor Success Investments
Limited and Multiple Ally Limited, at total consideration of RMB4,070,000. The
Group effectively hold 80% equity interest of ICDL and its subsidiaries after
the acquisition and the acquisition is regarded as acquisition of a group of
assets and liabilities that do not constitute a business. The Group identified and
recognised the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the relevant fair value at acquisition date.

The fair value of individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
for the acquisition was determined by the management of the Group, with
support from the Valuer. Specifically, direct comparison approach is used
for the valuation of properties under development for sale, which is the most
significant asset acquired by the Group. The inputs of this approach consists of
recent land transaction price, estimated costs in obtaining the land, developer’s
profit margin and risk discount factor considering the estimated progress rates
by area and time of housing demolition, relocation and resettlement.

Details of the acquisition are set out in note 39 (a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to the acquisition of ICDL and its subsidiaries
included:

o Reviewing the related share subscription agreements, understanding of
the relevant contractual terms, and analysis of the impact of accounting
treatments;

o Obtaining and inspecting the valuation assessments prepared by

the Valuer engaged by the Group and on which the management'’s
assessment of the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed was based;

o Assessing the independence, professional competence, objectivity and
capabilities of the Valuer;

o With the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, discussing with
the Valuer and challenging the completeness and appropriateness of the
identification of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the valuation
methodologies adopted in assessing the fair values of the recognised
assets and liabilities; and

o Discussing with the management for key assumptions and critical
judgements used in the valuation and assessing the reasonableness of
the valuation methodologies adopted by the Valuer and key assumptions
and critical judgements determined by the management of the Group
by corroborating with our understanding of the business of ICDL and
its subsidiaries and inspecting the underlying agreements and other
supporting documents related to this urban renewal development
project.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (cont'd)
Key audit matter

Assessment of net realisable value of properties held for sale and properties
under development for sale

We identified the assessment of net realisable value of properties held for
sale and properties under development for sale as a key audit matter due to
the significant judgement and estimation involved in the determination of net
realisable value (the “NRV”) of these properties.

The Group had properties under development for sale of approximately
RMB32,132,185,000 and properties held for sale of approximately
RMB4,844,053,000 (collectively referred to as “Properties for Sale”) as at 31
December 2020, which are situated in the Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Cambodia.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company determined the NRV of the properties held for sale by using
prevailing market data such as most recent sale transactions, and the NRV of
the properties under development for sale was determined by using estimates
of future cash flows to be derived from these properties. These estimates
required judgement as to the anticipated sale prices by reference to recent
sales transactions in nearby locations, marketing costs (including price
discounts required to stimulate sales) and the excepted costs to completion of
properties, the legal and regulatory framework and general market conditions.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to assessment of the NRV of the Properties for Sale
included:

° Performing sensitivity analysis to identify the impact that changes in key
inputs such as the estimated future selling prices have on the NRV of the
Properties for Sale;

° Assessing the appropriateness of the NRV of the Properties for Sale
estimated by the management, on a sample basis, by comparing future
selling prices that derived the NRV to transaction prices of similar
properties in the nearby or relevant locations, or actual selling price of
properties sold subsequent to the end of the reporting period in the
same project or relevant locations nearby, based on our knowledge of the
property markets in the Mainland China, Hong Kong and Cambodia; and

° Challenging the Group’s forecast of construction costs, on a sample
basis, by comparing to the construction costs for similar units and
against signed contracts or quotes with subcontractors.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (conta)

Key audit matter
Revenue recognised from sales of properties

We identified revenue recognised from sales of properties as a key audit
matter as the revenue from sales of properties is significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and there is judgement involved in determining the
appropriate point at which to recognise revenue from sales of properties.

As disclosed in “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” paragraph under
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, revenue from sales of properties
is recognised when the completed property is transferred to customers, being
at the point that customer obtains the control of the completed property and
the Group has present right to payment and collection of the consideration is
probable. The Group has recognised revenue of RMB4,512,643,000 from its
real estate development and sales segment for the year ended 31 December
2020, which is disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognised from sales of properties
included:

o Assessing the management’s control over the point of time at which
revenue from sales of properties is recognised by obtaining an
understanding of the management’s control process and testing the
control on a sample basis; and

o Reviewing the terms stated in the sales and purchase agreements, on
a sample basis, and obtaining evidence regarding the completion and
the delivery of properties, on a sample basis, including completion
certificates and delivery notices, to assess whether the criteria for
revenue recognition set out in “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
paragraph under note 3 to the consolidated financial statements have
been met.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contd)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contd)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Yuen Wing Hang.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
30 March 2021

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

2020 2019
—ECEHF —ZT-NF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Hfat ARETR ARET T
Revenue = 5 5,424,827 6,902,448
Cost of sales SHERA (2,759,122) (2,472,093)
Gross profit ER 2,665,705 4,430,355
Other income HibUg A 6 148,901 123,476
Other gains and losses Hilas R Eia 7 (111,454) (11,184)
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate 18 {£H & — B4 A T8 Heas 39 (a) 3,893,561 =
Selling expenses HEM (127,165) (134,059)
Administrative expenses THFAX (474,547) (461,498)
Fair value changes on investment EMEN AR BEE
properties 14 (239,322) 696,378
Fair value changes on derivative AIRRREHFITE T AL D AL
component of convertible bonds 34 (b) 93,506 (20,170)
Finance costs Bh& B A 8 (1,533,101) (1,256,165)
Share of results of a joint venture Y el S e UNETES (2) 2)
Profit before tax BB AT F 9 4,316,082 3,367,131
Income tax expense FriSfiF sz 10 (865,007) (1,617,168)
Profit for the year FEEF 3,451,075 1,749,963
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to: LU TN AT E(LEERR (EE):
Owners of the Company ViN/NE )35 3,453,380 1,749,884
Non-controlling interests FEIE A RE S (2,305) 79
3,451,075 1,749,963
RMB cents RMB cents
ARES ARES
Earnings per share attributable to the FRAXDARREGEREF
owners of the Company during the year 13
- Basic —HR 68.03 35.12
— Diluted —#8 38.47 20.73

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEmaRkHMEENEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREEFIT

Profit for the year FERR 3,451,075 1,749,963
Other comprehensive income (expense) Hitn 2 mEk = (B)
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to BEAREEN 7 2R 2EE -

profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation EHEENIRE =5 169,268 (31,311)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEEF,HEZEm2EE -
Fair value changes on investments in equity BARBEMAREMBEEKZEZRAT

instruments at fair value through other AREZ AR BEZE(FKRFTIE)

comprehensive income, net of tax (65,929) 37,732
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHMEZEKE 103,339 6,421
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHIKZHAE 3,554,414 1,756,384
Total comprehensive income (expense) DTALTEAZEKE (X)) :

attributable to:

Owners of the Company RN TIRLER 3,560,599 1,756,905

Non-controlling interests FEPE AR R (6,185) (521)

3,554,414 1,756,384

B (TE)HERERRLA 63

—TTEER

=F—=



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI ® R

At 31 December 2020

RZE_TF+=-RA=+—H

2020 2019
etk 123 T hE
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Hfat ARETR ARET T
Non-current assets FREEE
Investment properties - 14 23,167,159 23,567,529
Property, plant and equipment ME - MEKREE 15 931,581 996,014
Goodwill [EE 16 231,602 231,602
Interest in a joint venture NE &R B R 17 6,056 6,058
Interest in an associate B & A R AR 18 = =
Amount due from a joint venture FE—EE L ATIRIEA 17 522,318 522,318
Equity instruments at fair value through QA4 BEFAHM WS ZRAT A
other comprehensive income 19 501,261 541,125
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE 20 537,869 565,713
Deposit paid Bftike 21 - 29,410
25,897,846 26,459,769
Current assets RENEE
Properties under development for sale BEDEFEYE 22 32,132,185 8,165,855
Properties held for sale HEME 23 4,844,053 2,467,237
Other inventories HithizE 24 674 738
Accounts receivable e BR FX 25 68,105 31,212
Deposits paid, prepayments and BftRS - T RIE RE A EKRIE
other receivables 26 1,862,033 3,230,928
Tax recoverable AT UG B R R 52,452 33,562
Restricted bank deposits ZBRFIERITIFK 27 3,979,537 2,804,061
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRE 28 5,430,113 5,542,921
48,369,152 22,276,514
Current liabilities wREAE
Accounts payable FETBRIX 29 1,262,086 1,111,831
Accruals, deposits received and FEFTERA - Bz M EAMERRIE
other payables 30 762,404 673,358
Contract liabilities ARAE 31 1,348,932 2,505,265
Lease liabilities HEaE 32 17,239 22,674
Tax liabilities HIEAE 2,375,586 2,398,675
Borrowings ETE 33 8,007,353 4,306,274
Senior notes and bond EBAERERES 35 2,129,522 5,027,123
Debt component of convertible bonds R EFEIE D 34(a) - 1,493,257
Derivative component of convertible AR EFITE T A D
bonds 34(b) - 222,207
15,903,122 17,760,664
Net current assets REEEFRE 32,466,030 4,515,850
Total assets less current liabilities BEERARBERS 58,363,876 30,975,619

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

el GRS T S

2020 2019
- Sl 33 —ZNEF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Btat ARETR AREBFT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Borrowings (=9 33 15,857,136 15,149,805
Senior notes and bond BEERNES 35 3,236,529 =
Debt component of convertible bonds AR ESEEE D 34(a) 1,419,974 -
Derivative component of convertible bonds A # A% & 5474 T B &[5 34(b) 111,612 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 85,134 95,380
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBAE 20 2,818,217 2,695,601
Other non-current liabilities Hi3ensa & 36 6,949,651 -
30,478,253 17,940,786
Net assets BEEFE 27,885,623 13,034,833
Capital and reserves BRAEARGHE
Share capital R AR 37 42,458 42,060
Reserves B4 38 24,681,258 12,885,799
Equity attributable to owners of the ENUNG g s
Company 24,723,716 12,927,859
Non-controlling interests eI 3,161,907 106,974
Total equity FERAAEE 27,885,623 13,034,833

The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 227 were approved and FO2EXTE AR EEES SR - —F =
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2021 and are signed A=THIEREETE  YHAUATEERERERE :

on its behalf by:

HUANG Jingshu SIU Chi Hung
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
FEFRPITES BWITES

BR(hE) HEREERAT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mEREmEER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
ToTEFA=t+—HIFE

BE"

Atriutable to onners of the Company

ATRREEES
Convertible Investment Non-
Share Share  preference Ofher  Bxchange  revaluaion  Shareoption  Stautory  Retained Sub-— controlling Total
capital -~ premium shares  reserves Tesene Tesere Tesere TeSere profits fotal  interests equity
BE RBRE TEREGR HAkEE  ERXRE REEREE BRERE iR RERA Nt FERER  BREE
RMBOO0  RMBOO0 ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO
ARETT ARETT ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETr ARETn ARETn  ARETR
Balance as at 1 January 2019 N-E-NE-A-Rigs 4041 6882609 6246161 (11,637.887) 59400 110,661 22910 2136 9251542 11397973 10749 11505468
Proftfor the year EREA = = = = - - - - 174984 1749884 1749963
Fairvalue changes on investments mequiy ‘ﬁ{“ﬁéﬁ\ﬁﬁﬁﬁqﬁzml
instument atfair vaue trough other AREVDABEZY(MRHE)
comprehensive income, net of tax - - - - - 317132 - - - 37732 - 31732
Exchange diferences arisng on ranslton ERELNIEEE - - - ) - - - - o B0 @31
Totel comprehensive (expense) income FEAA(AR s
for the year - - = = (30711) 37732 - - 1749884 175690 (521) 1,756,384
Converson of convtbl preference RETERETREES)
shares (note 38) 80 180376 (181,296 - - - - - - - - -
Lapse of share options BERH - - - - - - (3582) - 8582 = = =
Evercse ofshare opfions ke ¥ 10809 - - - - (3670) - - 7188 = AL
Transterfo stautory resere ERTITRE - - - - - - - RM (9229 - - -
Dividend declared and made (nofe 12) BERRENARS W) = = = - - - - - (3400 (23400) - (30
Balance as at 31 December 2019 RE-NETZA=t-BHER 2060 707384 6004906 (11,637.887) 268 148303 210718 313620 10683552 1292789 106974 13034833
Balance s at 1 January 2020 N-E-5F-A-BiER 42060 7073804 6064905 (11,637,887) 28689 148303 210718 313625 10683552 12,927,859 106,974 13,034,833
Proftfor the year EREA = = o = = - - - 3453380 3453380 (2,305) 3451075
Fair value changes on investments n equity }ﬂ“ﬁ{?ﬁ#/\ﬁﬁﬁ%z RAT
instrument a ai value though oter EREVDABERE (MRHE)
comprehensive income, net of tax - - - - - (65,929) - - - (65,929) - (65,929)
Exchange difierences arising on ranslaton EiEmhEEE - - - - B4 - - - - B (3880 169268
Total comprehensive income (expense) EERANG(RY) 48
for the year - - - - 11348 (65,929) - - 3453380 3560509 (6,185) 3594414
Converson of convrtbl preference RETEREER )
shares (note 38) 319 65,385 (65,704) - - - - - - - - -
Bercise of shae options fipERE 206 - - - - (151) - - 145 - 145M
Transter o Statuory resenve BETTRE - - - - - - - B3RO (3360N) - - -
Roquistion of an adetonel nerest i e -ERERANER
a subsidiary - - - 6,961 - - - - - 6,961 (36,371) (29410)
Acquisttion of subsidaries (note 39 (a) WENBAR (390 - - - 849%,3% - - - - - 849305 3097480 11503884
Dividend declared and mede (note 12) BERREANREHE1) - - - - - - - - (282672 (282672 - (8267
B3 D 2020 ASEIREICAI-RNEE QM TS SN GUAS)  N8 BAM MO 136 IBH0ES ATATIS SIS 278
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERER

2020 2019
—ECEHF —ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREEFIT
Operating activities RETER
Profit before tax %5 BT &L F) 4,316,082 3,367,131
Adjustments for: FEIER -
Depreciation e 66,915 37,399
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME - BERREOER
and equipment 9 925
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HENB AR - (33,300)
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate BEL S —RBE N Al ik (3,893,561) -
Fair value changes on investment properties & MER D BEE 239,322 (696,378)
Fair value changes on derivative AR ESSTE TESLS AL BEES
component of convertible bonds (93,506) 20,170
Share of results of a joint venture BiE—HaERARIEE 2 2
Impairment loss recognised (reversal) of FEUBRFUREE IR FE R (B[O ) FE8
accounts receivable, net 40,617 (59)
Interest income FEHA (113,884) (93,570)
Investment income HEWA - (418)
Dividend income & 2 U8 A (22,800) (19,745)
Finance costs &R AN 1,533,101 1,256,165
Loss on non-substantial modification of REHERAT R SRBEZIFERETE
financial liabilities at amortised cost 8 1,810 57,287
Loss on early redemption of financial IRATE R SR AT R 2 BB E 2 B8
liabilities at amortised cost - 1,099
Loss on substantial modification of AR ES 2 ERNEE EE
convertible bonds 20,105 -
Loss on non-substantial modification of BEEREZIFERETEIR
senior notes 129,571 -
Exchange difference [ N =%8 (391,684) 66,761
Operating cash flows before movements in LEESHHANKCLERERE
working capital 1,832,099 3,963,469
Increase in properties under development for R FEME N FEWELMN
sale and properties held for sale (459,088) (347,813)
Decrease (increase) in other inventories HibEE R4 (gm) 64 (109)
Increase in accounts receivable FEURBRE I AN (74,877) (19,034)
(Increase) decrease in deposits paid, BARE - FERRRIE R E M ERGRIE (E )
prepayments and other receivables B (352,031) 72,165
Decrease in accounts payable FERTBR R A (22,214) (272,234)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities ERAGECHD)EN (1,156,333) 236,977
Increase (decrease) in accruals, deposits BETER « BUiRe REALERFRIEE N
received and other payables O 1,426,554 (1,636,266)
Cash from operations RSB SRIR S 1,194,174 1,997,155
Income taxes paid BB (687,207) (857,022)
Net cash from operating activities RETHFIBRLTFR 506,967 1,140,133
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= hy il —1 For the year ended 31 December 2020
GmEHERER BE—ZF-TF A=+ BI5E
2020 2019
—E-EH —hE
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Hfat ARETR ARET T
Investing activities REETH
Placement of restricted bank deposits FERZRHISRITER (4,699,212) (2,922,449)
Net cash inflow arising from acquisition K B:Z&:BWE —RHBARWEESERE
of assets and liabilities through BNBREESRNAFE
acquisition of a subsidiary 39 114,618 298,970
Additional costs of investment properties & 4% 8 ZBIMNK AN (99,301) (177,920)
Advances to related parties ) B Es 5 S SRR (2,445,358) (1,701,251)
Placement of short-term time deposits ~ FHRER=E A LB—FRE|HHE
with original maturity beyond three HATERR
months but within one year (227,047) (447,605)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BEEIEZAABEFABRZEREE
through profit or loss - (21,873)
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE - BE RE&E
equipment (15,688) (52,201)
Purchases of debt instruments at fair BERAABEFAEMEE RS 2 E
value through other comprehensive TH
income - (225,064)
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits ~ #2EXVZ IR HISR1T1E R 4,446,661 4,037,303
Repayment from related parties A 5 i K 1,317,717 988,723
Repayment from a non-controlling FEFERRRE R B
interest (1,447) 1,629
Withdrawal of short-term deposits with ~ $2EURER =18 A A HE—FRZ|HiE
original maturity beyond three months BT
but within one year 74,175 442,133
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAABEFABZZEREENS
assets at fair value through profit or E =]
loss - 32,850
Interest received BEUFE 99,722 65,216
Dividend income received B A% M 22,800 19,745
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  BENEBRESIE
plant and equipment 143 48
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary & — B A B S IE 40 = 25,056
Proceeds from disposal of debt HERAREEARMEEEE 2 &
instruments at fair value through T AFTSRIE
other comprehensive income - 245,064
Net cash (used in) from investing REETH (A MERETE
activities (1,412,217) 608,374
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—Z-TF+_A=1+—HItFE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

I Eﬁﬁlﬂbii

2020 2019
—ECEHF —ZT-NF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Btat ARET T ARETIT

Financing activities REEE
Repayments of borrowings BBgEE (4,245,956) (8,301,256)
Repayments of bonds BBES (690,855) (486,474)
Interest paid BEAFE (1,776,137) (1,709,740)
Dividend paid BERRE (282,672) (234,207)
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEARE (15,681) (13,669)
Repayment of convertible bonds EEMRRES (134,589) =
Repayment of senior notes BREELAZE (1,189,991) -
Deposit paid for acquisition of additional & ANUkEE N — BB A BB RS HY

interests in a subsidiary BffEe 21 - (29,410)
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITESAIS A 690,855 -
Proceeds from new borrowings HEEEmEI0E 6,603,124 10,863,647
Proceeds from issue of senior notes BITR S HIE 1,683,724 -
Issue of new shares upon exercise of TR BB IR RE ABS T AR

share options 14,574 7,118
Net cash from financing activities MEEEMENESEE 656,396 96,009
Net (decrease) increase in cash and RERBESEBYORD ) EIMNTFE

cash equivalents (248,854) 1,844,516
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes /MEERSEHISIE (16,825) 18,891
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHHRLRRNELEEY

of the year 5,095,316 3,231,909
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FERBEERESEZEY

the year 4,829,637 5,095,316
Represented by: 5
Cash and cash equivalents BERREEEY 4,829,637 5,095,316
Add: Fixed deposits with original maturity 70 : REIEE AZR=E A BN —FK

date more than three months but TEHATER
within one year 600,476 447,605

Bank balances and cash RITEHRRES 5,430,113 5,542,921
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GENERAL

LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
Company’s registered office and principal place of business in Hong
Kong are Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman lIslands and Unit 2501, NEO, 123 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong respectively. Its ultimate controlling
party is Mr. WONG Hong King (“Mr. Wong”), the father of Ms. HUANG
Jingshu, the Chairman of the Company, and Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan, an
Executive Director of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 51.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Definition of Material

Definition of a Business
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to HKFRS 16
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions.

Except as described below, the application of the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont'd)

2.1

2.2

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments
provide a new definition of material that states “information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements, which provide financial information about
a specific reporting entity.” The amendments also clarify that
materiality depends on the nature or magnitude of information,
either individually or in combination with other information, in the
context of the financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a
Business

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments clarify that while businesses
usually have outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated set
of activities and assets to qualify as a business. To be considered
a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or
processes and continuing to produce outputs. The amendments
also introduce additional guidance that helps to determine
whether a substantive process has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional concentration
test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. Under the optional
concentration test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash
and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting
from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether
to apply the optional concentration test is available on transaction-
by-transaction basis.

The application of the amendments had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the current year as similar
conclusion would have been reached without applying the optional
concentration test.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont’d)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments!
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework?
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Phase 24

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)!

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

2w N e

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors
of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont'd)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
The amendments:

. update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations so that
it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) instead
of Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010);

° add a requirement that, for transactions and other events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an acquirer
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination; and

o add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current
should be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants,
the right exists if the conditions are met at the end of
the reporting period, even if the lender does not test
compliance until a later date; and

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont'd)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(Cont'd)

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of
the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings with no
change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2020,
including convertible instruments in which the conversion options are
classified as equity instruments, and the related terms and conditions
stipulated in the agreements between the Group and the relevant
convertible instrument holders, the application of the amendments will
not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following standards.
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes substantial
modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only
fees paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the borrower or the lender on the other’s
behalf.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16
removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement relating to
leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to remove any potential
confusion.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 [nventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Cont’d)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Basis of consolidation (Cont'd)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group'’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group'’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Basis of consolidation (Cont'd)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries (Cont’d)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 January 2020, the Group can elect to apply an
optional concentration test, on a transaction- by-transaction basis,
that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group
of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under assessment
exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and
goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business and no further assessment is
needed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Cont'd)
Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to properties under development
for sale and the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the
basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase
gain.

When an asset acquisition is achieved in stages, the Group'’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an
asset and a liability in the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Cont'd)
Business combinations (Cont'd)

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at
the acquisition date. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Cont'd)
Business combinations (Cont’d)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9 would
be accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect
new information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.

o)

e VI HRAR MR

BBBRZEHREERTES

BUR (&)

3.2

FTESTERE)

WAEENEB A HhERREREIAR
BR - MZSAREBREKBRBRALEE
SHEWF AEREB A 2 ERAERES
7 AFAEHHABRER ZIARE IR
BEZEHNIEEPAE - FFE2RREFBEIR
[FHEHRE ] (G285 8 48 B HEst T Al
B—F)ERGERENEERNCFESER
BN BINER T E L 2 FHEE

TEFFEHNRBEERZLARE &2
ABRDABURNZEIARBIEMEDE - D
RERZIANBERER 2 BE AT EHN
T8 HARBENESAAR - DBREE
HEEZIARBRERZ RS AREAARE
EEHNE  MARKESEEANEE T

REBEHTDOERTKRE - REBLFE
Z U EE T R Th i U B R (AN AR e B
BrEHEZ A 2R BESHE MM
EEZWaEREEMA) TREBERgE LR
ERE(RERE)ER - MAKEDERLE
SERIFTES A OB - RIRNUGE B RIR B RS
R MEEREIRA BV ENEMEE RS
BAENRUB T RaMELZS8E  BIZM
HERERELEAR -

WEBE U NS BHBBRAGRE 2 B
EBR MR - AU E 2 ARG R
ZIRE 2 R - RS REE RN B
BB EX)MEHEE - TRBEINEESE
5 ARBRATERS R IR B BIE P AE T8 A 40
MY B A O RREE L AR EEEER
AR o

(TR HERERRIA

—TTEER

=F—=

81



82

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the
cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a
cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those palicies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Cont'd)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

3. &&

3.2

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

BBBRZEHREERTESH

N

AEBFERE ATEBIREARB L DAk
BE AR ZEZATRERE » W ETAEEE
B 2BERAZE2NREE(REEE)RE
EBETERIFEIRIANE —BEENHRE
TRER - AR BRI E 4 58 (BIE
BAEEERABEREEXR AN RS E) HE
EfE - TAEHERZREBBY TR EEK
ZBEREREEZ —BH2ERNEE(RES
) AEREEE 2 FaBE DN ZERE
2R ESEE AN ERREE S
BIZE365RHERR

HAREHRERE L ABHEERFZME
RERMASEEERAERE  EHENE
FEEENHERREERRERENDES
#Ba o AIAEEERENER K2k aiE
RERRFTEEES A H 2 Wa BB NE

OB EE ©

SR B E BB B AR [l 2 B AR B AR
ARG  EEMERRRNAE R ZERER
SEEMZBERT - HEERRRAEREE
IRGMELZBNEEE  HaREay’
WRPHER

REER(RE) ETRBOEER (BN ERE
FRROE AR E R RGO 8B T
B PR )R

BHEERE AR R RS (e
S IRTS) 2 — R ARBHERIM B REE SR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

For property management service, as a practical expedient, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the entity has
a right to invoice, as the Group has a right to consideration from a
customer in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to
the customer of the entity’s performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd)
Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains
a significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the Group
adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a significant
financing component, the Group applies a discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception. The relevant
interest expenses during the period between the advance
payments were received and the transfer of the associated
goods and services are accounted for on the same basis as other
borrowing costs.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont'd)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of rental premises that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
are presented within “investment properties”.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Leases (Cont'd)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Leases (Cont'd)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Leases (Cont'd)

The Group as a lessor (Cont'd)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in
the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or
loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Foreign currencies (Cont'd)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement
or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. For properties under development for which
revenue is recognised over time, the Group ceases to capitalise
borrowing costs as soon as the properties are ready for the
Group’s intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented
under “other income”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of
the termination benefit and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium.

Shares/Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised as
expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Taxation (Cont’d)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale, except for freehold land, which is always presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets
and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether
the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the
lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation
on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal
portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than freehold lands and properties
under construction as described below). Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Property, plant and equipment (Cont'd)

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Construction in progress in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at
cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than freehold land and construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—Z-TF+_A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction
for such purposes).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the
Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
development comprises development expenditure including
professional charge directly attributable to the development and
borrowing costs, and these costs are capitalised as part of the
carrying amount of the investment properties under development.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A leased
property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised
if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a
finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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e P ERRME

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment other than goodwill
(Cont'd)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Properties under development/properties held for sale

Properties under development for sale which are intended to be
sold upon completion of development and properties held for
sale are classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land
element which is measured at cost model in accordance with
the accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties under
development for sale/properties held for sale are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a
specific identification basis including allocation of the related
development expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost to
completion and costs necessary to make the sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to properties
held for sale upon completion.

Transfer from properties under development/properties held for
sale to investment properties carried at fair value

The Group transfers a property from properties under
development/properties held for sale to investment property when
there is a change in use to hold the property to earn rentals or/
and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Any difference between the fair value of the
property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.

Other inventories

Other inventories comprising consumable stores for own
consumption which are recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories
are determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P ERRME

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Cont'd)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will continue to be held in the investment
revaluation reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the other income line
item in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Contd)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including accounts
receivable, deposits paid, other receivables, amounts due from
a joint venture, restricted bank deposits and bank balances) and
other items (lease receivables and financial guarantee contracts)
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for account receivables
without significant financing component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a loan
commitment, the Group considers changes in the risk of a default
occurring on the loan to which a loan commitment relates; for
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in
the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—Z-TF+_A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont'd)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has
a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.
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e IR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

(i)

(if)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk
since initial recognition of a loan commitment, the Group
considers changes in the risk of a default occurring on
the loan to which a loan commitment relates; for financial
guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes
in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the
contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.

For financial guarantee contracts, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of
the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL for certain accounts receivable are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when formulating

the grouping:

. Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont'd)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of accounts receivable where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account. For investments in debt instruments
that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is
recognised in OCl and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve without reducing the carrying amount
of these debt instruments. Such amount represents the
changes in the investment revaluation reserve in relation to
accumulated loss allowance.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including including accounts payables, other
payables, borrowings, debt component of convertible bonds and
senior notes and bond are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial
guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair
values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont'd)

Convertible bonds contain debt and derivative components

A conversion option that will be settled other than by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Group’s own equity instruments is a conversion
option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative
components are recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods,
the debt component of the convertible loan notes is carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The derivative
component is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan
notes are allocated to the debt and derivative components in
proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to
the derivative component are charged to profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs relating to the debt component are included in
the carrying amount of the debt portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible loan notes using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of a financial
liability with substantially different terms as an extinguishment
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new
financial liability. A substantial modification of the terms of an
existing financial liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable
to the financial difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition
of a new financial liability.
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BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

op

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. ZA U BHRRFREMBEIESI N
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ;1€ )
POLICIES (Conta)

i

i

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont'd) 3.2 FEEHBEE)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial liabilities and equity (Cont'd)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities (Cont'd)

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present value of the
cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of
any fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for
as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised
as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when
such difference is less than 10 percent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

When the contractual terms of a convertible instrument are
modified, such as extending the tenure, change in exercise
price of the underlying options, change in option date of
underlying options, the revised terms would result in a substantial
modification from the original terms, after taking into account all
relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative factors,
such modification is accounted for as derecognition of the original
financial liability and the recognition of new financial liability.
The difference between the carrying amount of financial liability
derecognised and the fair value of consideration paid or payable,
including any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purposes of applying the 10 percent test on the
modification of a convertible instrument, the Group considers
that the terms are substantially different if the higher of (i) the fair
value of the share settlement at the date of modification; and (ii)
the discounted present value of the cash flows of the host contract
under the new terms, is at least 10 per cent different from the
sum of the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows
of the original financial liability and the fair value of the derivative
component under the original terms.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. #Z#E8HBHRFHREBREIESHEK

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conta)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial liabilities and equity (Cont'd)
Senior notes and bond

Senior notes and bond issued by the Group that contains both
liability, early redemption option and interest rate adjustments
(which is closely related to the host contract) is not separated into
host contract and embedded derivative on initial recognition. At
the date of issue, the senior notes and bond are recognised at fair
value.

In subsequent periods, the liability components of the senior notes
and bond are carried at amortised cost using effective interest
method. The early redemption option of senior notes is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that related to the issue of the senior notes and
bond are included in the carrying amount of the senior notes and
bond and amortised over the period of the senior notes and bond
using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (conta)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the directors of the Company have determined that
certain of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2020
amounting to RMB14,135,880,000 (2019: RMB13,529,300,000)
situated in the People’s Republic of China (excludes Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan) (the “Mainland China”) are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. The presumption that the carrying amounts of certain of
the Group'’s investment properties situated in the Mainland China are
recovered entirely through sale has been rebutted and the deferred tax
on the changes in fair value of these investment properties is recognised
according to the relevant tax rules. For remaining investment properties
amounting to RMB9,031,279,000 (2019: RMB10,038,229,000), the
presumption that the carrying amounts of these investment properties
measured using fair value model were recovered entirely through sales
was not rebutted and no deferred tax on the changes in fair value of
these investment properties is recognised.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income tax in various jurisdictions. Significant
judgement and estimation is required in determining the amount of the
provision of tax and the timing of payment of the related taxation. Where
the final tax outcome is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in periods in which such determinations are made.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd)
Income tax (Cont'd)

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax (“LAT”) in the Mainland
China. However, the implementation and settlement of this tax varies
among various tax jurisdictions in cities of the Mainland China, and
the Group has not finalised certain LAT calculation and payments with
local tax authorities in the Mainland China. Accordingly, significant
judgement is required in determining the amount on the appreciation
of land value and its related LAT. The Group recognised LAT based on
the management’s best estimates according to the understanding of
the tax rules, which are determined by the appreciation of land value.
The amount of the land appreciation is determined with reference
to estimated proceeds of the sales of properties less the estimated
deductible expenditures, including the cost of land use rights and all
property development expenditures.

During the year, the Group incurred LAT of RMB387,411,000,
including under provision of RMB1,419,000 in prior year (2019:
RMB1,015,843,000, including over provision of RMB7,778,000 in
prior year) which was charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss as income tax expense. The directors of the Company considered
the amount charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss to
be adequate as this is calculated according to the method which is in
compliance with the existing rules and interpretation of LAT.

As at 31 December 2020, a deferred tax asset of RMB65,658,000
(2019: RMB131,314,000) in relation to unused tax losses has been
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of tax losses of
RMB623,795,000 (2019: RMB92,844,000) as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be
available in the future. In cases where the actual future profits generated
are more than expected, additional recognition of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the period in which it takes place.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties with the aggregate carrying amount as at 31
December 2020 of RMB23,167,159,000 (2019: RMB23,567,529,000)
are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed by an
independent qualified professional valuer. The fair value of the
investment properties was determined by reference to valuations
conducted on these properties by an independent firm of property valuer
using property valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions.
Changes in assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the
Group'’s investment properties which are reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and affect the carrying amount of these
properties included in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Information about valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of investment properties are
disclosed in note 14.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (conta)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd)
Acquisition of Intelligent City Development Limited and its subsidiaries

As mentioned in more details in notes 38 (ii)(f) and 39 (a), Greater Bay
Area Intelligent City Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has acquired additional 55% equity interests in ICDL and its
subsidiaries on 25 August 2020 by way of share subscription and after
completion of share subscription, ICDL and its subsidiaries became non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group and the acquisition is regarded
as acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities that do not constitute
a business. The Group recognised the individual identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the relevant fair value at acquisition
date which was based on the valuation performed by an independent
qualified professional valuer. The fair value of the properties under
development for sale, which is the most significant asset acquired by the
Group, was determined by reference to comparable market transactions,
and deducting estimated costs in obtaining the land, including estimated
outstanding land premium, the unpaid cost of housing demolition,
relocation and resettlement, the construction costs of resettlement
housing and the developer’s profit margin of the aforesaid costs. Such
fair value was further adjusted by a risk discount factor considering the
housing demolition, relocation and resettlement. The risk discount factor
was the arithmetic weighted mean of the estimated progress rate by area
(i.e. the signing completion rate of relocation agreement with original
residents) and the expected time to complete the housing demotion,
relocation and settlement determined by management of the Group.
Changes in assumptions may result in significant changes in the fair
value of the Group’s properties under development for sale and affect
the asset value at the acquisition date to be included in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Assessment of net realisable value of properties held for sale and
properties under development for sale

The directors of the Company determine the net realisable value
of completed properties held for sale with carrying amount of
RMB4,844,053,000 (2019: RMB2,467,237,000) by using prevailing
market data such as most recent sale transactions.

The assessment of directors of the Company on net realisable value
of properties under development for sale with carrying amount of
RMB32,132,185,000 (2019: RMBS8,165,855,000) requires the estimates
of future cash flows to be derived from these properties. These estimates
require judgement as to the anticipated sale prices by reference to
recent sales transactions in nearby locations, marketing costs (including
price discounts required to stimulate sales) and the expected costs to
completion of properties, the legal and regulatory framework and general
market conditions.

The Group had not recognised any an impairment loss for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. Where there is any decrease in the
estimated selling prices arising from any changes to the property market
conditions, a further loss will be recognised on the properties held for
sale and properties under development for sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the income from property development, property
leasing and provision of comprehensive services, net of business tax and
other sales related taxes and after deduction of any discounts.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

e P RRME

Wz & 2 A
WARREMERR - WERERIRBERA RBD
WA - AN SR A 34 6 7 B BE A R AE (]
I

FAAEBE ZWEDMIAT

2020 2019
—ECEHF —ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Sales of properties MIESHE 4,512,643 5,962,446
Revenue from hotel operation, property REBEESE - MESEREREMRBES
management service and other services Wz 292,017 321,328
Revenue from contracts with customers RERFALHAKRS 4,804,660 6,283,774
Rental income s AL N 620,167 618,674
5,424,827 6,902,448
Timing of revenue recognition from R B E A AR a5 BB [E]
contracts with customers
At a point in time T (B ] BA R AR 4,512,643 5,962,446
Over time BE& R ERER 292,017 321,328

Sales of properties

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of properties, the
relevant properties specified in the contracts are based on customers’
specifications with no alternative use. Taking into the consideration of
relevant terms, the legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the
Group concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable right to
payment prior to transfer of relevant properties to customers. Revenue
from sales of residential properties and commercial buildings is therefore
recognised at a point in time when the completed property is transferred
to customers, being at the point that customer obtains the control of the
completed property and the Group has present right to payment and
collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group receives an upfront payment, ranging from RMB10,000
to RMB500,000 (2019: RMB20,000 to RMB2,000,000) for different
properties from customers for the subscription of properties and such
amount will be treated as the deposits from customers after signing
the sale and purchase agreement. However, depending on the market
conditions, the Group may offer customers a discount compared to the
listed sale price, provided that the customers agree to pay the rest of the
consideration earlier.

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of properties, the
expected duration of satisfying the performance obligation of which
is within one year, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed as permitted under HKFRS 15.

The Group considers the advance payment contains no significant
financing component and accordingly no adjustments of the amount of
consideration would be made.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (contd)

Rental income

Revenue, include both fixed and variable rents, generated from leasing
of commercial properties, office premises, apartments and car parks, is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16.

Revenue from hotel operation, property management service and other
services

Revenue from hotel operation and property management service is
recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation, as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs.

All hotel operation service is for periods less than one year. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

For property management service, the Group elected to apply practical
expedient by recognising revenue in the amount to which the Group has
right to invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

In identifying its operating segments, the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers, generally follow the
Group’s service lines, which represent the main products and services
provided by the Group. The Group has identified the following reportable
segments under HKFRS 8:

- Real estate development and sales: sales of properties

- Commercial property investment and operations: lease of
commercial properties, office premises, apartments and car parks

- Comprehensive services: hotel operation, property management
service and other service income

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
these products and service lines requires different resources as well as
marketing approaches.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (conta) 5. WakosEER =
Segment revenue and results PENEREE

AT RAEBREERATZHRDAE DB R

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

operating and reportable segment: BRI DT
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T —_FFf—A=+—HIFFE
Commercial
Real estate property
development investment Comprehensive
and sales and operations services Total
FEibERE [GEX/ES
R#HE REEKLE wE R Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥T T AR¥TT ARETT
Revenue: s -
From external customers REINPRFE 4,512,643 620,167 292,017 5,424,827
Inter-segment revenue ax il e - 22,635 103,363 125,998
Total segment revenue PR HEE 4,512,643 642,802 395,380 5,550,825
Reportable segment profit A2F 5 BEF 2,025,264 565,977 74,464 2,665,705
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE-F-NFT-A=F—HIFE
Commercial
Real estate property
development investment Comprehensive
and sales and operations services Total
FEHERE [SE2ZES
RiFE  REELS e R st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
Revenue: Wt :
From external customers REINDEP 5,962,446 618,674 321,328 6,902,448
Inter-segment revenue SFEREU = 16,212 37,685 53,897
Total segment revenue PR SEEE 5,962,446 634,886 359,013 6,956,345
Reportable segment profit AI2B D \WEF 3,784,827 550,378 95,150 4,430,355

Inter-segment sales are at mutually agreed terms.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (contd)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss

The Group does not allocate fair value changes on investment properties,
fair value changes on derivative component of convertible bonds,
other income, other gains and losses, gain on deemed disposal of an

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

Wk BER @
EEECE e R =21
AEEY @ EFLBREE L 2 BRSERE

AFHEMREDEN R A BEZS - TARES
MTETARONAABEZS  HMUA - Bk

associate, depreciation, finance costs, share of results of a joint venture
and corporate expenses to individual reportable segment profit or loss
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment
by the chief operating decision makers while the investment properties

are allocated to the segment of “commercial property investment and

operations” for presenting segment assets.

The accounting policies adopted in preparing the reportable segment
information are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in

BiRE3ATIl 2 ERTIREARM -

mNEE - RIERE M E AR KRS - TE -
BMEXAE  BE—HAERRAEERRATAFIDE
EBYAERVB2BEARN - MREVEH 2
DRBESREIEEMERE

HLE | DHE -

RETT 2[R BER TR SEABEREAREER

note 3.
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT—NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
Revenue Yz
Reportable segment revenue BEX: Vol e 5,550,825 6,956,345
Elimination of inter-segment revenue HignmE ks (125,998) (53,897)
Consolidated revenue e 5,424,827 6,902,448
Profit EZF
Reportable segment profit AI2HDBEF] 2,665,705 4,430,355
Fair value changes on investment properties &% &% H A1 BESH) (239,322) 696,378
Other income E A 148,901 123,476
Other gains and losses HAth s 25 K E518 (111,454) (11,184)
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate RIELE—RBE QR 3,893,561 =
Depreciation e (66,915) (37,399)
Finance costs BhE P A (1,533,101) (1,256,165)
Share of results of a joint venture BE—EEaERRFEE 2 (2)
Fair value changes on derivative component AJ¥ A% E5HTAE T ERLOHN AL EEES)
of convertible bonds 93,506 (20,170)
Corporate expenses UNGILE 3 (534,797) (558,158)
Consolidated profit before tax FREiRIAR & & F 4,316,082 3,367,131
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (contd)
Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by reportable and
operating segment, no liabilities are presented as the information is
not reportable to the chief operating decision makers in the resource
allocation and assessment of performance:

e VI HRAR MR

Wi & 2 ME R ()
FEAERER
UTAFEERTZRREEDEBIDNEES

- ARBARERDERKRBNGREEEER
REZWMEE ARTE2IIZEER

Segment assets
2020 2019
g et 23 —T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREFIT
Assets BE
Real estate development and sales FEHERENIEE 37,433,525 12,452,128
Commercial property investment and PRI E L
operations 23,259,775 23,591,289
Comprehensive services ERE RTS 325,788 362,963
Reportable segment assets AI2RNBEEE 61,019,088 36,406,380
Goodwill (EES 231,602 231,602
Equity instruments at fair value through BArBEFAEMEEAKGE CRATA
other comprehensive income 501,261 541,125
Bank balances and cash (including IRITHEB RIS (RIEZRFHIRITER)
restricted bank deposits) 9,409,650 8,346,982
Deferred tax assets FEERIBEE 537,869 565,713
Interest in a joint venture and amount due R—HEEEARNERRER—HEER
from a joint venture A)FIA 528,374 528,376
Interest in an associate R—EE R RRER - =
Corporate assets NEBE 2,039,154 2,116,105
Consolidated total assets REIBEE 74,266,998 48,736,283

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, all assets are allocated to operating
segments other than goodwill, equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income, bank balances and cash (including
restricted bank deposits), deferred tax assets, interest in a joint venture
and amount due from a joint venture, interest in an associate and
corporate assets.

REANBRRRDBENEROE  FREE - &
AREEFARMEAREZBRATE - RITHER
kB2 (BREZRRTER) BERBEE - K
—HEE AN ERRER—HEERFFIE - ©
—HBERRNBEENARAREEIN  MEEED

BEREDIR -

(TR HERERRIA

=

—= =

121



REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (contd)
Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located on the Mainland China, Hong Kong,
the USA and Cambodia. Revenue from external customers are mainly
generated from the Mainland China for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019. Information about the Group’s non-current assets is
presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—Z-ZF+_A=1+—HItFE
W ko EER @)
ih & & K
REBENEBURPEAN  HE ZBRRHE

R BE_TTFER-_TFT-NF+=ZA=+—H
IFE RAIBELPHNREEZREREAM -

AEBNGERBEEEMREENENEZT -

2020 2019

—E-EF —ZT—NEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETFT

Mainland China A B A, 14,895,956 14,309,782
Hong Kong B 8,823,452 9,732,606
USA EH 189,304 213,074
Cambodia SRIEEE 718,402 865,867
24,627,114 25,121,329

Note: Non-current assets excluded goodwill, equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customer of the corresponding year contributing over 10%

Kt - ERBEETBEDE RARBEMARMGEEK

B BRATAFEIERIBAEE °

TERFEHR

PIERFEEAEEAHERBHI0%Z EPKA

of the total sales of the Group are as follows: ;R
Year end

BZUTEE
2020 2019
—ECEH —ZT-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Customer A A 960,258 N/A* g
& The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total * TR AR BRI (R AN B AR AR 10% ©

revenue of the Group in respective year.

No other major customers contributed over 10% of the total sales of the
Group for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

HE-_Z - ZFR-_T—NF+ZA=+—HLHF
BV EEMFrERFEAEEBHEEHBLH10% -

OTHER INCOME Hg A
2020 2019
—EB-BHF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Interest income F B A 113,884 93,570
Investment income TEWA 22,800 20,163
Government grants (Note) RS HaRE (A7) 12,217 9,743
148,901 123,476

Note: It mainly represented cash received from unconditional grants by the local
government to encourage the business operations in the Mainland China.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

e VI HRAR MR

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HftzmREE
2020 2019
—ETEH —ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & —FEH B A Rz e - 33,300
Impairment loss (recognised) reversal for AR FORBEE 18 (FER) B /558
accounts receivable, net (40,617) 59
Foreign exchange gain, net bE 5 e 5 58 71,976 12,356
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE R&EZEE
equipment (9) (925)
Loss on early redemption of domestic IRATEEBR AR BES 2 B8 (A1:#35)
corporate bond (note 35) - (1,099)
Loss on non-substantial modification of BARRESH 2 IEERNEEEHIB(F:#35)
domestic corporate bond (note 35) (1,810) (57,287)
Loss on substantial modification of AIRES 2 EXNEE BB (A7E34)
convertible bonds (note 34) (20,105) -
Loss on non-substantial modification of BRERZIIFERETEEB(ME35)
senior notes (note 35) (129,571) -
Others HAh 8,682 2,412
(111,454) (11,184)
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MEMK
2020 2019
—EC-EF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Interest on: FE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 1,263,397 1,186,817
Convertible bonds AR ES 285,303 172,237
Senior notes and bond BAEBRRES 519,199 411,241
Lease liabilities HEERE 10,544 11,929
Less: Amount capitalised in investment B BREEREMERBERSEMEE
properties under development and NMewyerE*
properties under development
for sale* (545,342) (526,059)
1,533,101 1,256,165

*

The finance costs have been capitalised at
13.75% (2019: 3.73% to 9.41%) per annum.

rates ranging from 1.61% to

RERATIIRFELE]L61%E13.75% (ZE—NF :

3.73%ZE9.41%) &AL -
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

9. KREmAER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

2020 2019
—ECEE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT
Profit before tax is arrived at after charging FRAE AT &R a8k (FEA) -
(crediting):
Cost of properties held for sale recognised as RARZNFEYENKR
expense 2,487,379 2,177,619
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %1% - BE LR EITE 67,137 37,448
Less: Amount capitalised in investment W BARTERIREMERERTFEEYE
properties under development and BERNbz &5
properties under development for sale (222) (49)
66,915 37,399
Gross rental income from investment WEMEMGHS WA LLE
properties 620,167 618,674
Outgoings in respect of investment EERFREEHSBAZIRENEN
properties that generated rental income =53
during the year (54,190) (68,296)
565,977 550,378
Expense relating to short-term lease BT E RN X 2,276 4,886
Auditor's remuneration %A & 3,026 2,490
Staff costs BIEKA
— Directors’ emoluments (note 11) —EBEHMAFLL) 11,099 11,851
— Salaries and other benefits in kind —Fe REMEYH 401,660 333,279
— Amount recognised as expense for —ERBRKEFNN AR SR
retirement benefit costs 1,727 27,946
Less: Amount capitalised in investment B B AR EMERERTEEY
properties under development and ¥ERNMEHEHE
properties under development for sale (84,826) (60,571)
335,660 312,505
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VI HRAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FRSHBEX
2020 2019
—ECoEE —T-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Htat AR¥T T ARETIT
Current tax BNERE IR
Mainland China Enterprise Income o B A 1 EEFT IS AL
Tax (“EIT”) ([EFPRER LD
— Current year —RFE (a) 266,957 765,660
— Overprovision in prior year —BEFEBERE (11,567) (19,250)
255,390 746,410
Mainland China LAT FR B O3 - 3 SR (E
— Current year —RFE (b) 385,992 1,023,621
— Under(over)provision in prior year —BAFERETE(BEEE) 1,419 (7,778)
387,411 1,015,843
Deferred taxation (note 20) IREFRIA(HT7%20)
— Current year —KRFE 222,561 (147,029)
— (Over)underprovision in prior year —BAFE(BEEE) BETE (355) 1,944
222,206 (145,085)
Total income tax expense st 58 865,007 1,617,168
Notes: Wit -

(a) Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the Mainland China subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for as the Group had no
estimated assessable profits for both years.

(b) Under the Provisional Rules on LAT Implementation Rules of the Mainland
China implemented on 27 January 1995, all gains from the sales or transfer
of land use rights, buildings and their attached facilities in the Mainland
China are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including cost of land use rights and all property
development expenditures.

(a)

(b)

BREFEARKMBEEREBOR(EEMEH
EDREEMETEAEREN 8 —FTN\F—H
—HE - hEAMHTE R R B R R825%

RRAKERMEFEYEEMGERBEAT
BB SRR -

BER—AAAF—A=-+LBEBHENFEANM T
HIEEREITIRPEEARR - A REEREER
hENMA T A - BT REEMRETNES
MUEs - RMR T EER - RBIR LR ER
(BNSHE M PSRRI ATHIR S I - B 3E L
RRARPIEDERRFA)ARERE - B30%

B60%TE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—Z-ZF+_A=1+—HItFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conta) 10. FrE%ipAZ &
No Cambodia Corporate Income Tax has been provided for both REBPMEFEHERRIFRLEMSTETRE
years. Pursuant to the Cambodia tax laws, a subsidiary of the Group is 1 o IRBERIFRBE - ZIKEIE’J—FH? MEBARIE=
entitled to preferential tax treatment with full exemption from Cambodia - N\FARAA+THNARE=_T=_—FA+=H1It
Corporate Income Tax for three years from 14 June 2018 to 13 June —AFEZENBKESFSE  BE2EBEIIFED
2021. ESiECY K
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit REEMEHAX A EGEBmRNORT &R S
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: BRANTE -
2020 2019
BB —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARET T
Profit before tax MR A&7 4,316,082 3,367,131
Tax at the Mainland China EIT at 25% B25%F EAM SRR E(ZT
(2019: 25%) F 1 25%) 1,079,021 841,783
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A F0FE B X MR 75 57 2
purposes 382,221 145,363
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERTA T ST LE
tax purposes (1,017,272) (112,385)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERHIEEENRIETE 135,780 17,809
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B S AIRER 2 IR
recognised (3,042) (364)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences R Z Al I Bl =58 2 RIS 2
not recognised 274 127
Mainland China LAT charge AP B A3+ A S 387,411 1,015,843
Effect of tax exemption granted to a subsidiary [AIRIFHEMB QAR HRIEERE 2 FE
in Cambodia - (13,811)
Tax effect of Mainland China LAT charge R A T IR E R X 2 B B (96,853) (253,961)
Overprovision in prior year BEFEBEEE (11,567) (19,250)
Others Eh 9,034 (3,986)
Income tax expense for the year AEEFEHRAS 865,007 1,617,168
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE

11.

—ZT-

=__

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)

et A=t ALEE

Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 9 (2019: 11)

directors are as follows:

e VI HRAR MR

11. EEREEMS

(a) E=EMe

ENREMNIBR(ZE-NF : 11R)EEEAH
EEBET

Equity-  Contributions

Salaries settled  to retirement
and share-based benefit
Fees allowance payments scheme Total
UL E
BAR 7 2 A5 BNEF
we HeREHR B HE - TE st
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Hist ARETR AR®BTn AR®Tn AR%®Trx AR%Txn
2020 —E-EE
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Huang Jingshu HmWEF R L - 2,789 - 121 2,910
Mr. Tang Shouchun ES&ELL (a) - 2,314 - 116 2,430
Mr. Ye Xingan EETEE - 2,049 - 20 2,069
Mr. Huang Hao Yuan BEREE - 1,211 - 19 1,230
Mr. Siu Chi Hung BEELE (c) - 1,645 - 82 1,727
- 10,008 - 358 10,366
Non-executive director FHITES
Ms. Li Lihong LS - - - - -
2020 - Sk 3.:3
Independent non-executive B EHITES
directors
Mr. Wang Jing FaEE 231 - - = 231
Ms. Hu Gin Ing [l 258 - - = 258
Mr. Mo Fan BEREE (e) 244 - - - 244
733 - - - 733
733 10,008 - 358 11,099
ZE(PEDBERERRAT

— =T

—= =

FI

127



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (contd)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Cont'd)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

1. EEREEME @

(a) EBME(HE)

Equity-  Contributions
Salaries settled  to retirement
and  share-based benefit
Fees allowance payments scheme Total
URELEH
UABRAD RS BIRER
e FHEREHR E7¢] s Mt
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Hiat ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETRE ARETRT
2019 —ZT-hNF
Executive directors WTES
Ms. Huang Jingshu BWAF L = 2,762 = 120 2,882
Mr. Tang Shouchun  EE&E%4 (a) - 2,287 - 114 2,401
Mr. Ye Xingan BEETEE = 2,050 = 51 2,101
Ms. Deng Chengying BEmEL L (b) = 2,037 = = 2,037
Mr. Huang Hao Yuan — E0&JR%GAE = 1,251 = = 1,251
Mr. Siu Chi Hung mEMEE (c) = 465 = 12 477
- 10,852 - 297 11,149
Non-executive director ~ JEHI{TEE
Ms. Li Lihong TR - - = = =
2019 “TNF
Independent non- B EMTES
executive directors
Mr. Zhu Jiusheng BMNBEEE (d) 63 = = = 63
Mr. Wang Jing FaEE 229 = = = 229
Ms. Hu Gin Ing gLt 255 - - - 255
Mr. Mo Fan ENEE (e) 155 = = = 155
702 - - - 702
702 10,852 - 297 11,851
Notes: (a)  Appointed and acted as the Chief Executive Officer of the Wtat - (a) BEERENEAERARITEABE -

Company.

(b) Acted as Executive Director of the Company since 15 May
2014 and resigned on 20 September 2019.

(c) Appointed and acted as the Executive Director of the

Company since 20 September 2019.

(d) Acted as the Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since 15 May 2014 and resigned on 8 April 2019.

(e) Appointed and acted as the Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since 8 April 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (conta)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Cont’d)

Except Ms. Li Lihong who agreed not to receive remuneration
during her service period as the non-executive director, no
other directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. The executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group. The non-executive director’'s and independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments was paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included five directors (2019: three directors). Details of the
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2019 of the
remaining two highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

e VI HRAR MR

1. EEREEM=®

(a)

(b)

HE_T-_ZTFR-_T—NF+=-A=+—H
IHFE  BREBAZTRENETB IR AR
BEAFERTEBR 2SN - BEEMESN
EZRRIBERETHIE - ERATFIAITESRH
e AR ERERANRRAEBEBLRER
TEHREN o ERFTVIBEMITE S MIB M IEHIT
EENNS I ARSETARRESMEE Y
RS B0 SR B

HE-_Z-_ZFR-_T—h&F+=-A=+—H
IHEE - AEEBERES LIRS - U
ERMARE @K INARNE BER ZEKEA
BERHIE o

EEME

RER  AEEBRURSHIESES - 8231F
FREE(ZT—NE:=Z8) - BE-_T—AN
FE+ - A=+ RALEEHTRBLIERAAT
BEEMIETETRABZ &S HHNES 2 HBN
FIEMT

2020 2019

—E-EH ZE-NEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET AREFIT

Salaries and allowance B2 DSe= 12 = 3,881
Equity-settled share-based payments VARG HE 45 8 DARR 1D 2 ST RO 0I8 - =
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme iE/RtEFI5H 215K - 51
- 3,932

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
followings bands is as follows:

NFTINMEHE 2 WIFARREEZRDH
BB ABIT

2020 2019
—ECoEE —ZT-NF
Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”) 2,000,001 to 2,000,001/ (BT)E
HK$2,500,000 2,500,000/ 7T - 2
#2(FEIBEREERAR

=

—= =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

12.

13.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

DIVIDENDS 12. BB
2020 2019
—ECEE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT
Dividends recognised as distribution during FAERED RIS
the year:
2019 Final dividend- HK6.1 cents (equivalent —Z—haRKEARE — 6.1l
to approximately RMB5.46 cents) (HERDARKS.465) 282,672 =
2018 Final dividend- HK5.3 cents (equivalent —Z— /\FEREIAL S — 5.3/
to approximately RMB4.65 cents) (FHERHAREAL655) - 234,207

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of any

dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

13.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

AAREETEERBEE—_E_TFE+_A=+—
HIEFERZFEMBRES -

BREFN

A R A 5 IR RS R T B T
Bt -

2020 2019
—E-F —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Earnings BF|
Earnings for the purposes of basic ARG ESRERZFHZF
earnings per share 3,453,380 1,749,884
Effect of dilutive potential earnings in BEHEERAEHUTSENZE
respect of
— Convertible bonds — Al E S (58,376) 23,891
Earnings for the purposes of diluted RARFTESREE R BT
earnings per share 3,395,004 1,773,775
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

13.

14.

e VI HRAR MR

EARNINGS PER SHARE (cont'a) 13. BRER &)
2020 2019
—EZEH —ZT-NF
Number of shares RHEEE
Weighted average number of ordinary AR EBRERBFH AR 7 T BAR hnE
shares of the Company for the purpose of gk
basic earnings per share 5,076,112,582 4,982,703,643
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares BEEE L ERE A TSENTE
in respect of
— Share options — AR 64,451,495 74,021,926
— Convertible bonds — AR ES 264,778,879 127,022,653
— Convertible preference shares — A RRBE IR 3,419,952,290 3,374,231,808
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 855+ 5 IS 2 R B9 7K A B3 38 A hn g
of the Company for the purpose of diluted gk
earnings per share 8,825,295,246 8,557,980,030

The computation of diluted earnings per share for both the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 does not assume the conversion of certain
outstanding convertible bonds of the Group as the conversion would
result in an increase in earnings per share.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices, residential properties and retail
stores under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of one to sixteen years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease
arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective functional
currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain any
residual value guarantees or any lessee’s option to purchase the
property.

14.

FEHE T _EFR-_T-NAF+-_A=+—H
IEREFENSREERFE  WERSALES
FRARTEMNITRRESEL R  RRAXRKEE
HEREFIG o

REMF

FEERBLEHERLZHANRAE FEWER
TEWM HeREAXN BHEAE-—ROLR
Hi—Z+R%F o

HRMEHESNEEERE BN ERE -
BASERERNRE S MAZINERR - HES
WA BEEEMRBEEERIABATTEEREH
MR EME R -

(TR HERERRIA

=

—= =

131



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE
REME =)

HE-Z-_ZF+-_A=1+—HItEE 2EARKR
BY ¥ MEZ RS KL 858 B ARK26,225,000

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Conta) 14.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total cash outflow for
leases classified as investment properties is RMB26,225,000 (2019:

RMB25,598,000). T(ZZF— N AR¥25,598,0007T) °
Investment
Completed properties under
investment development
properties at fair value Total
BRAABEARZ
ERERBREWE BRPRENE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFT ARETT
At 1 January 2019 R=ZT—NF—A—H 12,934,338 9,403,336 22,337,674
Additions INE - 545,036 545,036
Transfer upon completion MR TThK & B 10,439,446 (10,439,446) =
Transfer to property, plant and BEREYE - BEREE
equipment (note 15) (H1:£15) - (520,459) (520,459)
Acquired on an acquisition of a RIS — R A R A
subsidiary (note 39 (c)) (K17£39(c)) = 291,024 291,024
Increase in fair value recognised in  REZERFER Z A f BEE N -
profit or loss, unrealised REIH 180,523 515,855 696,378
Exchange adjustments R 13,222 204,654 217,876
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF+=-_A=+—H 23,567,529 - 23,567,529
At 1 January 2020 R-E-_TF—HF—H 23,567,529 - 23,567,529
Additions INE 19,445 79,856 99,301
Acquired on an acquisition of a RUREE — B A R A
subsidiary (note 39 (a)) (H17£39(a)) 16,200 = 16,200
Transfer from properties held ERBRFEHEDE
for sale 113,862 - 113,862
Transfer from properties under HEBEARRPEFEEYE
development for sale 50,947 148,031 198,978
(Decrease) increase in fair value REBEANERZ AR EBECHD)
recognised in profit or loss, #hn - REIR
unrealised (452,500) 213,178 (239,322)
Exchange adjustments R (589,389) - (589,389)
At 31 December 2020 R_ZE_FEF+-_A=+—H 22,726,094 441,065 23,167,159

All the completed investment properties are rented out under operating
leases or are held for capital appreciation purposes.

132 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

BB RRIRENEHERIBLLEERELAE
FEEB WA -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE"

14.

F_TFE+_A=t+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta)

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties with aggregate
carrying value of RMB23,167,159,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
RMB23,567,529,000) were arrived at on the basis of valuations carried
out on those dates by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited, which is a firm of independent qualified professional
valuer not connected to the Group.

As 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of investment properties
that were leased out under subleases amounted to RMB178,200,000
(2019: RMB216,600,000). During the year ended 31 December 2020,
income from subleasing these properties amounted to RMB33,670,000
(2019: RMB32,302,000) and a fair value loss of these properties
amounted to RMB38,400,000 (2019: RMB3,823,000) was recognised
in profit of loss.

For completed investment properties, the valuations have been arrived at
using income capitalisation approach and direct comparison approach.
For income capitalisation approach, the market rentals of all lettable
units of the properties are assessed by reference to the rentals achieved
in the lettable units as well as other lettings of similar properties in the
neighbourhood. The capitalisation rate adopted is made by reference
to the yield rates observed by the valuer for the similar properties in the
locality and adjusted based on the valuer's knowledge of the factors
specific to the respective properties. Direct comparison approach is
arrived at by reference to comparable market transactions and suppose
that evidence of relevant transactions in the market place can be
extrapolated to similar properties, subject to allowance for variable
factors.

For investment properties under development that are measured at fair
value, the valuations have been arrived at residual approach and direct
comparison approach assuming that the investment properties will
be completed in accordance with the development proposals and the
relevant approvals for the proposals have been obtained. The key inputs
in the residual approach include the market value of the completed
investment properties, which are estimated with reference to sales
evidence of similar properties in the nearest locality, with adjustments
made to account for differences in locations and other factors specific
to the respective properties based on the valuer’s judgement. Costs of
development are also taken into account including construction costs,
finance costs and professional fees, as well as developer’s profit margin
which reflects the remaining risks associated with the development of the
properties at the valuation date and the return that the developer would
require for bringing them to completion status, which is determined by
the valuer based on its analyses of recent land transactions and market
value of similar completed properties in the respective locations. Direct
comparison approach is arrived at by reference to comparable market
transactions and suppose that evidence of relevant transactions in
the market place can be extrapolated to similar properties, subject to
allowance for variable factors.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and
best use of the investment properties is their current use. The fair values
of certain investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid
or accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

14.

e P RRME

REWZE )

R-ZZB-ZFE+-_A=+—B A5ERELE
A AR H23,167,159,000t( —FE— N F : AR
23 567,529,0007T) 2 RE M3 2 A 7t BETIIRET

BT RFHE RAEAARA AR Z B ATEITR
@Lﬁ( FAE R EAEE W EAER 2B AER
HEMERDTT ©

RIZE-ZF+-A=+—0 " BEIEELNEK
B HEREE R AREE178,200,0007T (=T — 4+
AR¥216,600,0007T) - BME-_FT_TF+_H=
T—HLEFE RESHEZEVENBE/ARE
33,670,0007c( =& — 15 : ARKE32,302,0007T)
Mz EYWEN X1 EEBERARK3S8,400,0007T
(ZZ=—N%F : AR¥3,823,0007T) ' ZEAREBE
BRI R o

HRETREEMENS  ZHETVRBKRAERT
HERBERLBUERETT - RRABRHEEMS -
MEAREATEAEMNTERS 2R HAE
SIARMAMELDENEMEEELCSHNEDSE
TaHE - WA ZERNEL X2 RE MARUYERD
Was XU IR R (R ERD T A WA S E (TR -
BEERLERSERNELRM SRS :T'ETEEE—ME
BT NAER SRR EE L R - A
EEEPHAEAE -

HRRAREBEMABZERTREYENS @ HETD
ERREENERLEEBRZEREMERSRIE
BRAISLCMEHEERINME T - BEE
MEERABBBRETKREVENTE 2
Zari AR EEREG - R - RIR
i ER BT TR Z R AR ZWENEMT
R EETTHE - ZAECHHEREHAZE
BREBRRKA BERANEXERLHAEEHORN
TR (A E B R 2 5 35 A 0 68 2 B A0 B 3 7 i
MEEBCERARMFNER) - ERAANTIRIEE
EREE A L2 SN ARESEUS TR ET
BRENSTMEE - EERLBEZ2EAELR
M55 WREARET SN S ROIHE
AR LT - HEREREPHATEEE -

BIHREMEN AL BER  RENE AR
BRERBERR - ETRENENA L BEEEH
HR T SR AT TR B M AR 9 - A
W -

(TR HERERRIA

=T~ TG

133



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta) 14. REWMZE #)
The maijor inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Group’s RZZE_ZTER-_ZF-NF+_A=+—8" &%
major investment properties as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are set EXrEZREMEFCARBEFEMAZEZHAH
out below: BERNTX :

Investment properties held by

Relationship of

the Group in the consolidated  Fairvalue  Valuation technique and unohservahle
statement of financial position hierarchy  key inputs Significant unobservahle inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
TABREBHA

RESHHRRERR DREE AEERNTREEEAZ HEEAAEE

RMAKESAENREYE =8 B TEFAEZEAHE ZER HRE

Completed investment
properties

BRARIRENE

Completed investment Level 3 Income Capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking into account  The higher the A slight increase in
properties located in the Approach the capitalisation of rental income capitalisation the capitalisation
Mainland China with an potential, nature of the property, rate, the lower rate used
aggregate carrying amount The key inputs are: and prevailing market condition, the fair value. would result
of RMB13,516,086,000 (1) Capitalisation of a range from 1.5% t0 6.0% in a significant
(31.12.2019: rate; and (31.12.2019: 1.5% t0 6.0%). decrease in fair
RMB13,408,400,000) (2) Monthly market value, and vice

rent. versa.

URFEAMNETHIRE F=R WABARHEE B REXCESIMAEN - EM  BARMCEY FTRE A L)
¥ REEERARE EREAMTR  BEMEEEARLSS & ARAEE BRAHEHA
13,516,086,0007T( =% — FEHAZENT F6.0%(ZF—NE+=A=1— R o REEANER
NE+ZA=+—H8: A (MWERMEEE & H:15%%6.0%) ° 18 RZINA -
R#13,408,400,0007T) (mizAM -

Monthly market rent, taking into The higher the A significant
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account the completion time,
location, and individual factors,
such as frontage and size, between
the comparables and the property,
at an average of a range from
RMB11 to RMB707 (31.12.2019:
from RMB4 to RMB707) per square
metre (“sgm”) per month on gross
floor area basis.

monthly market
rent, the higher
the fair value.

increase in the
monthly market
rent used
would result

in a significant
increase in fair
value, and vice
versa.

TS ARG RTELRYEENE THAEMS - AT AEANE
MR IR CERBHRT  AnBEYEs-  EIEERQR
RESEXERE  NRERERE BEARZM -
EZAFFHAR(FIAKDFEN RZINA

FARKITEARKETO7L (=
—NF+TZA=1+—H: AR¥%4
TEARKTIO7TL)



For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—Z-TF+_A=1+—HItFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

14.

Investment properties held by

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta)

14. REWERw@)

Relationship of

the Group in the consolidated ~ Fair value  Valuation technique and unobservahle
statement of financial position hierarchy  key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
RUBREHA
REEHBRRERR DABE RERTREIZHAR HERAAEE
HAKERANRENSE =8 b TERTEHRGARE ZBR HRE
Completed investment Level 3 Direct Comparison Selling prices per sqm based on The higher the A significant
properties located in the Approach market observable transactions of selling prices increase in the
Mainland China with an similar properties, of a range from per sqm, the selling prices
aggregate carrying amount The key input is: Selling RMB102,602 to RMB119,815 higher the fair per sgm used
of RMB197,460,000 price per sqm. (31.12.2019: from RMB75,340 to value. would result
(31.12.2019: RMB76,538) per sgm on gross floor in a significant
RMB139,900,000) area basis. increase in fair
value, and vice
versa.
URFEAMHETKIRE £=R HELEE BREBUDENAERT SR8  BTAKEEE BTHREEER
W% REEERARK ERGTHRHEER - UEE B’HE A% RIEE NS EE
197,460,0007t(ZZF—H FEHABENT HEREAEEGEARNTARE EESS - NAEEKEE
F+-A=+—8: AR FHKREEBE 102,6027c 2 AE#119,8157T(= M K2R -
#£139,900,0007T) T-NEF+ZR=1—H: AR
75,340LE AR #76,5387T) °
Completed investment Level 3 Income Capitalisation ~ Capitalisation rate, taking into account  The higher the A slight increase in
properties located in Approach the capitalisation of rental income capitalisation the capitalisation
Hong Kong with an potential, nature of the property, rate, the lower rate used
aggregate carrying amount The key inputs are: and prevailing market condition, of the fair value. would result
of RMB8,294,810,000 (1) Capitalisation 2.5% (31.12.2019: 2.5%). in a significant
(31.12.2019: rate; and decrease in fair
RMB9,154,180,000) (2) Monthly market value, and vice
rent. versa.
MRBBHETKIRED E=R WABRGEE A RERNMEBERBNED - WEN BN EH PrAE AL
¥ REAEAARE BERERMTR BMEEEAR25% & DREE IERAEEEAL
8,294,810,0007T(=% FTERABBENT : (Z2—hF+=ZR=+—8H: @1& ® AEEKXIER
AF+=A=+—-H8: A DERELEE : R 2.5%) ° 18 - RZIRA o
[R#9,154,180,0007T) 2)iz A °
Monthly market rent, taking into The higher the A significant

account the completion time,
location, and individual factors, such
as frontage and size, between the
comparables and the property, at an
average of a range from RMB310

to RMB350 (31.12.2019: RMB310
to RMB350) per sgqm per month on
gross floor area basis.

5 ARG R AT & LR 2 B
BT - (LB REGEH AR
RESRERR  DWEREREAE
RGRAGTHRTANFARE
3I0TEARKI0L(ZE—NEF
+=A=1+—8: AR¥310ZE
ARM3507T)

increase in the
monthly market
rent used
would result

in a significant
increase in fair
value, and vice

monthly market
rent, the higher
the fair value.

Versa.
mEARER - FMAWSAEKE
DREEER . ENEERRA
BEAEEM -
RZ IR
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Conta)

Investment properties held by

14. REWE

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

Relationship of

the Group in the consolidated ~ Fair value  Valuation technique and unobservahle
statement of financial position hierarchy  key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
RUBEHA
REERERRERA DREE AERTREEBAR HEEAAER
MAKERANRENSE =8 % TETTHEGARE ZB% BRE
Completed investment Level 3 Income Capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking into account  The higher the A slight increase in
properties located in Approach the capitalisation of rental income capitalisation the capitalisation
Cambodia with an potential, nature of the property, rate, the lower rate used
aggregate carrying amount The key inputs are: and prevailing market condition, the fair value. would result
of RMB717,738,000 (1) Capitalisation of a range from 8.5% t0 9.5% in a significant
(31.12.2019: rate; and (31.12.2019: 8.3% t0 9.3%). decrease in fair
RMB8&65,049,000) (2) Monthly market value, and vice
rent. versa.
URRBERNETHEEY  F=R WABARHEE B REXMCESIMAEN - EM  BARMCHEMY PRAEAMELL &)
¥ REGEAARE BEREATR  EMEEEANT & DREE R EHA
717,738,0007t(=ZF— A TEBABBENT 85%EI5B(ZT—NFTA=  HE- R BEAER
E+ZA=+—H0: AR (MERMEEE & +—H :83%%9.3%) ° 18 RZINA -
#865,049,0007T ) (miz AN -
Monthly market rent, taking into The higher the A significant
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account the completion time,
location, and individual factors, such
as frontage and size, between the
comparables and the property, at an
average of a range from RMB103
to RMB135 (31.12.2019: RMB103
to RMB165) per sgqm per month on
gross floor area basis.

iz AT R AT LRy Ry %
MR TR - B RGN
FESEERE  UEEEEAR
EGRAGFHREINFARE
103 TEAREIBT(ZFE—NEF
+=A=+—H: AR¥103tZ
AR®1657T) °

monthly market
rent, the higher
the fair value.

s A -
RABEES -

increase in the
monthly market
rent used
would result
in a significant
increase in fair
value, and vice
versa.
FrFAT% AT K8
BINEBHA R
EEAREM -
RZ IR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (contd) 14. REWHE @)
Investment properties held by Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated ~ Fair value  Valuation technique and unobservahle
statement of financial position hierarchy  key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
RABR@A
RESRBRRERA DABE RERTREIZHAR HERAAEE
MAKERENRENE & A TEFAERBAYE 2B HRE

Investment properties under
development that are
measured at fair value as at
31 December 2020

R-B-BE+-A=1-

RERDAEBEFEZRRE
hIREME

Investment properties under  Level 3 Direct Comparison Selling prices per sqm based on The higher the A significant
development located in the Approach market observable transactions selling prices increase in the
Mainland China with an of similar properties, of a range per sqm, the selling prices
aggregate carrying amount The key input is: Selling from RMB2,701 to RMB3,518 higher the fair per sqm used
of RMB217,165,000 price per sqm; (31.12.2019: N/A) per sgm on gross value. would result
(31.12.2019: N/A) floor area basis. in a significant

increase in fair
value, and vice

versa.
URTPERHERTRE  F=R HERLEE BEACMENIBRTSRFEE SYHREEE SFIAHEER
mE - REAERARE HEFHAREEER - NEEEE  KBES - 2R RIEE AN EE
217,165,0007C(=ZF—Ah TEHABEWNT REEFFHANT ARH2,701 BEES - VHEEVN
F+ZA=+—H: 1@ BFHABERRE:  TEARYISIBT(ZTE-NET me RZIRA -
) ZA=+—H:TER) -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta) 14. REYE »)
Investment properties held by Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated ~ Fair value  Valuation technique and unobservahle
statement of financial position hierarchy  key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
RUBEHA
REERERRERA DREE AERTREEBAR HEHEAREE
MAKERANRENSE =8 % TETTHEGARE ZB% BRE
Investment properties under ~ Level 3 Residual Approach Gross development value on The higher A significant
development located in the The key inputs were: completion basis, taking into the gross increase in gross
Mainland China with an account the completion time, development development
aggregate carrying amount (1) Gross development location, and individual factors, value, the value used
of RMB223,900,000 value; and such as frontage and size, between higher the fair would result
(31.12.2019: N/A) the comparable and the property, of value. in a significant
(2) Developer’s profit RMB561,970,000 (2019: N/A). increase in fair
margin. value, and vice
versa.
URFEAMNERTRE F=R BEE REKEEE BRBEEELC R SREEEY PR EER
Mm% REEERARE ABENBYEEZNER ERT & AREAE ERIIF SR UN
223,900,0007t(=ZZF— N1 FTEBABBENT B LB REEANRESEE e R EEAEL
F+-A=+—H: (WEFREEE: & BR %A/ ARK561,970,0007T(= M- RZIFA o
NER) T-NF - NER) -
QFEEMEX -
Developer’s profit margin, taking The higher the A significant
into account the comparable land developer's increase in
transactions and progress of the profit margin, developer’'s
property, of 15% (2019: N/A). the lower the profit margin
fair value. used would
resultin a
significant
decrease in fair
value, and vice
versa.
R RATELB LR S RS RERMERE mAREFNEE
B BEEMEEALIL%(ZZ— m AREE NIEE NG ER
NE  NER) ° HUE o DR EEKER
Do RZINA
There were no transfers in or out of Level 3 during both years. RRBEFER  ERIEEASEL -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - RERRZE
Leasehold Computer
Leasehold land and Machinery software,
Freghold Hotel [and and huildings and electronic fumiture ~ Construction
[and property buildings in the Building Motor equipment and in
in USA in USA inHK  Mainland China  improvements vehicles ~ and others fixtures progress Total
8 BEEE TERLER KERET HE#BE

KAEELH ZEERNE  IMRET  IMRER  BTRE RE REREM AARKE  ERIR it
RMBON  RWBOOO  RWBODO  RMBON  RWBOO  RMBODO  RMBOO  RMBOO  RVBODO  RMBOO
ARETT  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARMTZ  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR

oSt HA
At 1 January 2019 R=E-NE-A-A 16,616 199,983 - 411,05 3958 242 28047 2,025 1,087 742974
Exchange adjustment i 204 2268 - - 1,046 1 - 5l - 3646
Additions e - 16,799 - - 877 2846 1,105 6%0 29,834 5,201
Transfer upon completon R AER - - - = - - 468 = (468) -
Transter from investment properis ~ BEERENE(Hi#14)

(note 14) - - 520459 - - - - - - 520459
Acquired on acquistion of a subsidiary  RAB-EHBATEEA

(note 39 (c)) (W) - - - - - 8 109 9 - 146
Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary F\H &AM AR L

(note 40) Bi(sa0) - - - - = = (143) = = (143)
Disposalshuriten off HE /i - - = - (2724) (313) (16) 1) - (3,131)
At 31 December 2019 RZF-NEFZA=1-H 16,890 219,050 520459 411,05 38785 24973 2510 24117 30503 1316,152
Exchange adjustment EigE (1,093) (14351) - - - (28) - (211 - (15,683)
Additions AE - 115 - - - 634 1,063 672 13,164 15,688
Transfer upon completion R AER - - - - 40923 - = 563 (41,486) -
Acquired on acaquisiion of a subsidiary  FMRE—FEHEAABEA

(note 39.2) (2390) - - - - = 5 - 47 - 4
Disposalshuriten off e/ - - - - - - 79 (64) - (143)
At 31 December 2020 R-E-EF+-A=1-A 15,797 204814 520459 41,205 79,708 25,69 30544 26,104 2,181 1316441
DEPRECIATION il
At 1 January 2019 R-E-NE-A-A - 14916 - 178,507 31553 16,391 24375 18839 - 284581
Exchange adjustment B - 37 = - - (1) - 3 - 3%
Provided for the year FERE - 14370 = 13799 2814 2807 1818 1840 = 37448
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries  HEMBAAELE - - - - - - (129 - = (129
Eliminated on disposalshwriten o~ (& /#5258 - - - - (1,800) (254) 9 (39) - (2,158)
At 31 December 2019 RE-NE+-A=1-A - 29653 - 192,306 32507 18943 26,055 20674 - 320138
Exchange adjustment [k - (2,108) - - - 23) - (151) - (2.282)
Provided for the year FERE - 10,381 25612 17,68 7,934 2,140 1,286 2039 - 67,137
Himinated on disposalshwritienoff (& /i H# - - - - - - (72) (61) - (133)
At 31 December 2020 W-ZF-3F-A=1-H - 37926 25612 20991 40441 21,060 21269 2,501 - 334,860
CARRYING VALUES FHE
At 31 December 2020 R-E-EE+-A=1-A 15,7197 166,888 494,787 201214 39267 4569 3275 3603 2,181 931,581
At 31 December 2019 RE-NEt-A=1-A 16,890 189,397 520459 2188%9 6,278 6,030 3515 4043 30503 99,014
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15.

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (contd)

The carrying amounts of owner-occupied leasehold land and buildings,
situated in the Mainland China and HK, at the end of the reporting period
included both the leasehold land and building elements in property,
plant and equipment, as in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
allocations of the carrying amounts between the leasehold land and
buildings elements cannot be made reliably.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for freehold
land in USA and construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

15.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

M BERRE®

HRARREERABEAEBEHAE T HEET
MO DE - MEBMRNETLR P EA ML EE
ZERBELHEETIFANE  BERREAD
HE+TIMRETH -

Xz ME - BB MBI B (LR EE 2 kA
FRELTH RIERTIRERIN DA B RERIA T F R
=

Hotel property in USA 5% to 10% EBHE 5%Z10%
Leasehold land and buildings in  Over the shorter of the term of the R FBE A2 HE FAE 2% E5% (ABE
the Mainland China lease, or 2% to 5% R AEF ERAE)
Leasehold land and buildings in  Over the shorter of the term of the UREBHETIR HEHH2%ZE5%(LARRE
HK lease, or 2% to 5% BF HRYE)
Building improvements 10% to 33':% BFEE 10%%33:%
Motor vehicles 20% t0 25% E 20%%£25%
Machinery and electronic 10% to 33Y3% W REFHREREM  10%E3315%
equipment and others
Computer software, furniture and  20% to 334:% STEREG - FKALR 20%%33:%
fixtures EE
GOODWILL 16. &
2020 2019
—E_FF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H~ 231,602 231,602

The amount represents goodwill arising from the Acquisition (defined in
note 38 (ii)(a)), which has been allocated to the group of cash generating
units (“CGU") in the real estate development and sales segment. The
recoverable amount of the goodwill has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation used cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the management covering five-
year period, and the discount rate of 9.4% (2019: 9.4%). The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a zero growth rate.
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales and
gross margin, such estimation is based on management’s expectations
for the market development. The management of the Group believes
that any reasonably possible change in the key estimations of the value-
in-use calculation would not cause the carrying amount to exceed its
recoverable amount. The directors of the Company determined that the
recoverable amount was higher than the carrying amount of the CGU
and hence no impairment on goodwill is required.
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FIAE M IBER(ER RS8N EEZEE
(BENEERMEREMEEOBNRSELSBMA
AREELEM])) - BB ZARESRIIREE
REEETTEMEE - ERNEEEMILERELF
Bz HBIEE  FH9.4% (ZT—NF : 94%)2
IR R AR SR EEITETE < BBSFHNREDM
A AR E®E - EAEEHEZEMEIER
REBEREHERLEMNETNRERA HH 2
mErE/ - ARG DREEREEYMSHRR A
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17. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/AMOUNT DUE FROM A 17. R—BEELFNERZ ER—BE

JOINT VENTURE &N RRIE
2020 2019
i —E-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AR¥TR AREFIT
Cost of investment in a joint venture R—HEEEARZIERAK (a) 9,520 9,520
Share of post-acquisition profits and FEIEUEER B Rt 2 E W - 0
other comprehensive income, FRUCER 2 fR B
net of dividends received (a) (3,464) (3,462)
6,056 6,058
Amount due from a joint venture W —MEE RRIKIE (b) 522,318 522,318
Notes: Wizt -
(a) Particulars of a joint venture as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as (a) RZEZZTFRZE-NF+_A=+—H—HEE
follows: NRIMFFEAT ¢
Place of Proportion
Form of establishment of voting right and
business and Paid-up percentage of
Company name nature operation capital interest held Principal activity
RERRFTHE
DRER EBHE YR EDE WRBRA R TEEK
RMB’000
ARETTT
Shenzhen Anyuan Industrial Established Mainland China 23,800 40%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (“Anyuan”) (2019: 40%)
(RN RTEXERBRAR)
40%
R TETEEERERAR(RT]) DAV FE A 23,800  (ZZT—NF : 40%) MR
(b)  Amount due from a joint venture represents advances to a joint venture (b) ER—HEEQRFEAINTEEARMTENK
which is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed repayment terms. In an ZHREER 28 0 BEEEEBHR - ARARE
opinion of the directors of the Company, the settlement of the advances is ERR - ZENRGEEL IR EEST - BRATRE
neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. RAKATRER T ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

17. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/AMOUNT DUE FROM A 17. E’\\‘—F'aﬁér%ﬁﬁlﬂ’ﬂ%ﬁ/@l&—ﬁsﬁé
JOINT VENTURE (cont'a) ENBRE (&)
Summarised financial information of Anyuan after adjusting for any TXHBELZTERSTBRRNEANEEmAENY
differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying BERRE - UARBEE T ERREEELEH -
amount in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:
2020 2019
—EB-BF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFIT
Non-current assets ERBVEE 29 29
Current assets MENVE E 549,814 549,814
Current liabilities mEaE (534,704) (534,699)
Included in the above amounts are: T A LHERIE -
Properties under development for sale ERPHFEME 439,702 439,702
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREZEEY 90,000 90,000
Amount due to a shareholder FE — BB RIE 522,318 522,318
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEBEREMZAMST
for the year 5 5
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the EAJ:%??%E%%4&%5%EﬁEiﬁé%?é%ﬂﬁﬁ%i&%?ﬁ@%%:zé%%%
carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in the DS AREE R
consolidated financial statements:
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETFT
Net assets of Anyuan LTI EEFE 15,139 15,144
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEENLITHAE 2 Lt
interest in Anyuan 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest REENZ T2 EmiREE
in Anyuan 6,056 6,058
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE"

18.

F_TFE+_A=t+—HILFE

e P RRME

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. R—[EHE QR ER

Particulars of an associate as at 31 December 2019 are as follows: RZE—NF+ZA=+—H—MBEQRRMNFE
LU

Place of Proportion

Form of establishment of voting right and

husiness and Issued share percentage of
Company name nature operation capital interest held Principal activity

REER kR
AR EB EgHE IR EE R ERTRAE Epif:974:4 FTEXEK
Intelligent City Development Limited Incorporated Hong Kong 10,000 shares 25%  Investment holding
(“ICDL") and its subsidiaries of HK$1 each and property
(B 25 ?"Eﬁﬂﬁé development
BERTERERA Eailijzava BA 10,0008 FARE & 25% RAERKRYFEER

(T*”‘*iﬁkm)&ﬁwg VBT ik

On 28 October 2019, Greater Bay Area Intelligent City Limited (“GBAIC”),
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Affluent Bright
Investments Limited (“Affluent Bright”) and Mr. Wong entered into the
subscription agreement pursuant to which GBAIC agreed to subscribe
99.99% equity interest of Affluent Bright, which has a wholly-owned
subsidiary, Affluent Bright Investments (HK) Limited, which indirectly
owned 25% of equity interest of ICDL and its subsidiaries. Pursuant to
the terms of the subscription agreement, the subscription price of the
subscription shares of Affluent Bright is US$10,000. Upon completion,
Affluent Bright will be owned as to 99.99% and 0.01% by the GBAIC and
Mr. Wong, respectively, and will become a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company. The transaction was completed on the same date.

On 25 August 2020, the Group has acquired additional 55% equity
interests in ICDL by way of share subscription. The Group is able
to control over ICDL by directing the relevant activities of ICDL and
accordingly became a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. Further
details of the transactions are set out in note 39 (a).

—hWE+A=ZTNA RERZEHMER
T(Fﬁ**nﬂi*“ﬁiﬁ}sz RRRZEEEZ2EWEB
AR wmAREERA T(Rﬁﬂﬂj)éﬁi%f&iﬂj
REHE - Bl REREERTRERB A
99.99% %1 - MimARMES —ME2EWEB LA RIERAK
B(EB)ARAR ZAHEREESERTRHE
Mﬂ% N A Z25% X HE o 1B IR R 2 &K 0 B
RER A 2 REE A10,000ETT » REmk% - %A
‘“‘%JEEK, [& %5 29k T & 5 5t A 5 99.99% K&
0.01% s WK ARARZIEEEH BT ° %
RSERR B ZEA °

RZZ-Z2FNAZTHB AFEURNRES
T%ﬂ%*‘jgﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁ\\%%ﬂxﬁé KEI—JéL%‘é
BRBWHZABERENEERT - E2RH
IﬁtﬁkﬁK%@E’]é‘Fiﬁwﬁ ale EE@E?W'
B — RIS M TE39(a) ©
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18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (conta) 18.

Summarised financial information of ICDL and its subsidiaries as of
31 December 2019 after adjusting for any differences in accounting
policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed below:

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

A — R 1\ ) MO RERS ()
TXHESEATRANBANRE_S—NE+

ZHA=t-HEHREAERENEAZEMARNY
BERE » ARERSPHHRREEEZEK

2019

—T-NF

RMB’000

ARETTT

Non-current assets JEMENEE 2,259,424

Current assets RENEE 1,183,324

Current liabilities mEAE (1,638,956)

Non-current liabilities IERBBEE (1,977,500)
Included in the above amounts are: A LHLFRIE ¢

Land related acquisition and development cost -t AE B U K B R AR AR 2,176,916

Cash and cash equivalents Re kR EEY 456,974

Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables BffiEe - BB R H A ERRIE 706,316

Accruals, deposits received and other payables EErER - Bl e R EMERRIE (1,630,363)

Bank borrowings RITIEE (1,978,500)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in an associate recognised in the
consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2019:

A EHBENBEREENBE—"T-AF+ A=
THZEAMBRABRZ —ME A RERR
E{E 2 $8R

2019
—E-AF
RMB’000
ARET T
Net liabilities of ICDL BEMTREFE (173,708)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in ICDL AEERSERTHAE 2 =LA 25%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in ICDL REBERE BN 2 mREE =
2019
—ZT—hF
RMB’000
ARETIT

The unrecognised share of loss of an associate for FRRER 2L —HEEAREBSERETRERZ

the year and cumulative unrecognised share of FE(E— B & N B EE

loss of an associate (3,579)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

e VI HRAR MR

19. EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 19. BARBEFAHMEZE WS ZKRE

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME =t
2020 2019
i —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETFTT
Investment in: RTFIBEZIRE
— Equity securities listed in the Mainland — R B At T IRiEE S (A1)
China (Note 1) 447,042 541,125
— Equity interests in certain unlisted —RETFIELEMRARZIREHZ2)
companies (Note 2) 54,219 -
501,261 541,125

Notes: Hiat -

Note 1:  The above listed equity investment represents 0.4% equity interests in Bi51 -

an entity listed in the Mainland China.

Note 2:  The amount represent 10% unlisted equity interests in a bank in Kizt2 :
the Mainland China and 1% equity interest in a fund management
company in the Mainland China .

bl ETRERE RN —EPEA ETARZ
0.4% %4 o

ZE BN P BEAMIRTT 2 10% I EiikiE
K- EAESEIBRAR 2 1%RHE

These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held for ZEREWIIEBIEEE  MERSHSKARE
long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company have elected o HRAAFEERARBFEBAZEREZ A
to designate these investments in equity instrument as FVTOCI as they LHEEEPEHVTEAAEEERIZEEZIEER
believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair ERBHARIBE N ZHE  WMESERIZEEN
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy FERATEZIREAIEA R BES AR M2 EK
of holding the investment for long-term purposes and realising their %o

performance potential in the long run.

(TR HERERRIA

=

—= =
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20. DEFERRED TAX

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

20. EFEHIR

The movements in deferred tax assets (liabilities) arising from temporary

differences are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

TR ESELNREHREE(BE)WESHIT

Withholding
tax for Valuation  Accelerated
undistributed  on investment tar  Fairvalue Accrual Pre-sale
Tax losses profits ~ properties  depreciation  adjustments for LAT deposits Others Total
AOBAE  REME  MERE  ARER EHiR
HEEE  HEOR e it LS BER  BERS A Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETL  ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2019 (restated) RZE-NE-F-H(EE3)) = (33050) (2336.273)  (184023) (36,887) 215,664 129,366 (17193)  (2,262,39%)
Credit (charge) to the profitor loss (nofe 10) ~ FMEEEFAGIR) (Hit10) 131,314 - W3 (3320 - 1213 (30822) S VA7)
Underprovision in prior year (nofe 10) BEEEREIR(WEL) - - - - - (1,944) - - (1,944)
Charge to other comprehensive income REMZERENR - - - - (12577) - - - (12577)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 RZF-NE+ZA=1-R
LEB 131314 (330000 (2378640)  (217.293) (49464) 335,854 98,544 (17193)  (2,129,888)
At 1 January 2020 A-F-36-F-F B3 (3050 RIBEN) QU U94e) BB WAM (7199 (2129889
Credit (charge) to the profitor loss (nofe 10) R E&EH AR ) (A 10) (114,683) = (50,870) (42,355) - 58,281 (13,630) (59,304)  (222.561)
Overprovision in prior years (ofe 10) BEEERERR(II0) = = = = = 3% = = 355
Credit to other comprehensive income REMZEREIA = = = = 21,979 = = = 21,979
Acquired on acquisiion of a subsidiary REE-REHBARREA
(note 39 (a)) (H2396) 49,027 - - - 740 - - - 49,767
Balance as at 31 December 2020 RZEZFEFZF=1-H
i 65,058 (33050) (2429510)  (259,608) (26,745) 394490 84914 (76497)  (2,280,348)

The following is the analysis of the deferred taxation balances for

financial reporting purposes:

MRS BN S - BERBEHRONAT

2020 2019

—ECoEE —E-NEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETT

Deferred tax assets FEERIBE E 537,869 565,713
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEAE (2,818,217) (2,695,601)
(2,280,348) (2,129,888)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE"

20.

F_TFE+_A=t+—HILFE

DEFERRED TAX (contd)

The EIT Law and its implementation rules impose a withholding tax
at 10%, unless reduced by a tax treaty or arrangement, for dividends
distributed by the Mainland China-resident enterprises to their non-
Mainland China-resident corporate investors for profits earned since 1
January 2008. Under the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement,
a qualified Hong Kong tax resident is entitled to a reduced withholding
tax rate of 5% if the Hong Kong tax resident is the “beneficial owner”
and holds 25% or more of the equity interests of the Mainland China
enterprise directly. Since the Group controls the quantum and timing of
distribution of profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China,
deferred tax liabilities are only provided to the extent that such profits are
expected to be distributed in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2020, the Group has unused deductible temporary
difference amounted to RMB27,333,000 (2019: RMB26,239,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such temporary
difference due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
RMB886,427,000 (2019: RMB618,100,000) available to offset against
future profits. For the year ended 31 December 2020, a deferred tax
asset had been recognised in respect of such tax losses amounting
to RMB262,632,000 (2019: RMB525,256,000) and no deferred tax
asset had been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of
RMB623,795,000 (2019: RMB92,844,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of RMB112,453,000 (2019: RMB43,131,000) will expire in the following
years ending 31 December 2020, other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely:

20.

e P RRME

IEFERLTH (4)

CEMRSTEREBERRARE BT NF—
A—Bi - PERAERSERMRIAN [ IET
BAERERREE DK EAERION BN
IR ERIFBEBEFRBHOXARFERR) - RIEAM
EEBROEBHNLRHE  (ERIEEHAAILE
BERFEPBE NP E25%HIA FIRENESEREE
BigE RBRRB R BB I RSB - MRS
I8 AJ 22 11 0 Ik AN 2 B 70 R I 9 1t ) /BB R B ) &2 R
MEERERE - RERRAEENERARAR K
RO IREE B BN AR AR -

R_B_ZF+_A=+—H ' XEEEXRSHHA
MR 258 ARK27,333,0000( Z2—h4F - A
R #26,239,0007T) ° B1 R R 2R 2 A1 R 89 1~ A 78 8
M AN ERZ S TR EAERRCHRBEE -
RERERR - AEBEREIKEARRATZ REBH
THE 1B A A RKESS6,427, 0007 (ZE—HE : AR
#618,100,0007T) - BE T -_ZTEFE+-A=+—
BIEFE  BZEHEEEARE262,632,0007T
—Z—NF : ARBES25 256,0007T ) FERIRIE R 18
BEERBARARREF IR AT TEA - 808 5 2 4
TRIAE 1B A R¥623,795,000( ZE—hE : AR
¥92,844,00070 ) RIEETR B A E © AR ZHIE
EEAEER ARK112453,000( = — L4 ¢
AR#43,131,00070) R A TEHE ST =_TF+=
R=+—RIEZFEER - i bE 18R 0] &R 5
Fo i

2020 2019

e —hE

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARBTT

2021 —T-—F 14,448 14,448
2022 —Eo—fF 212 1,347
2023 it St 2 1,296 1,29
2024 —BomE 13,422 26,040
2025 i 83,075 -
112,453 43,131

BR(TE)EREFRAT

=T~ TG
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21.

22.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-_A=1—HIFE

DEPOSIT PAID 21. &S
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT

Deposit for acquisition of additional interests & hniKEE R — M B A RS 2 EE

in a subsidiary - 29,410
During the year ended 31 December 2019, LVGEM (Suzhou) Real BE-_ZT—NWF+-_A=+—"RHLEE %2(&H

Estate Investment Company Limited (“LVGEM Suzhou”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group as the purchaser entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with the non-controlling shareholder of
Prosper View Group Limited (“PVGL”") to acquire remaining 49% equity
interest of PVGL at the considerations of RMB29,410,000 and the
amount represents deposit paid and included in non-current assets. The
transaction was subsequently completed on 15 January 2020.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Included in the properties under development for sale as at 31
December 2020 is carrying value of RMB31,786,705,000 (2019:
RMB3,611,033,000) which represents the carrying value of the
properties expected to be realised after twelve months from the end of
the reporting period. The Group’s properties under development for sale
are mainly situated in the Mainland China, Hong Kong and Cambodia.

22.

J\\)iﬁﬁhﬁﬁﬁﬁ AI([ARREM |- REEZ 5%
2EMBAR  ERED) ERASREER QR (1
B 1)z 3R 4% Hxﬁx?ﬁi%‘iéﬁ% CAREARY
29,410,0007TC Y ¥ 1 BASR T~ 2 49% 4 - T &% 50 IR
HENREAFTAERDEE - ZXFEEREN
Z-TF-A+ABZK -

ZERPHEUR

RZB-ZBF+-A=+—0 JRBERTFED
¥ 2RHEERARME31,786,705000t( = F— N
F: AR¥3,611,033,0007T) * JHTEEHRRE R
REFTZEARTERZYEREE - NEEZH
RPFSEMETEMNT A - BERRIEE -

Analysis of leasehold lands: HE Lz 247 -
2020 2019
—ECEF —NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFT
Carrying amount BRMEE 2,915,263 2,519,802
Total cash outflow WML 8% 490,403 40,122
Additions NE 490,403 40,122

Effective from 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of leasehold lands is
measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The residual values are determined as
the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land component. No
depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands taking into account
the estimated residual values as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

23.

24,

25.

e VI HRAR MR

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 23. FEYHE
The Group’s properties held for sale are situated in the Mainland China. REEFEMHELNFEAM o
Analysis of leasehold lands: HE L2 DA
2020 2019
—ECEF &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
Carrying amount BREE 1,647,051 104,462
The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured under HKFRS 16 *ﬂgfiiﬁzEﬁ@ﬁ)}@ﬁ@f’%%%ﬁ%ﬁﬂ”%15%
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. ?E&ZMEKETEJ;%af?ﬁ%&fiﬁﬁﬁ}éﬁéﬁi: ° 53%{\5
The residual values are determined as the estimated disposal value of %&%E%ﬁ%iiﬁﬁBﬁZﬁa‘fﬂj%Eﬁ o %\‘:‘éé‘f&@
the leasehold land component. No depreciation charge is made on the :%:;ﬁ?&:%—ﬂi +;ﬂ =t —RZMAEFE
leasehold lands taking into account the estimated residual values as at B BEREE T RN ERR -
31 December 2020 and 2019.
A
OTHER INVENTORIES 24, HittFE
Other inventories represent low value consumables carried at cost. HibFEERERAARNRESFER °
=5
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 25. FEUBRFR
2020 2019
—E-EF &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETFIT
Accounts receivable from: FEWERFRE
— Contracts with customers —BFEEH 16,719 8,065
— Lease receivables —HErkzIE 92,616 23,760
Accounts receivable YR K 109,335 31,825
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEERRE (41,230) (613)
68,105 31,212

As at 1 January 2019, trade receivables from contracts with customers

amounted to RMB10,437,000.

RZB-NF—A—0 RETFAHZEZEK

FIA R AREE10,437,0007T °

(TR HERERRIA

TECTFFR  —
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e P ERRME

25.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (contd)

Accounts receivable represent receivables arising from sales of
properties, rental income from leasing properties and comprehensive
services (including hotel operation and property management). For the
receivables arising from sales of properties, they are due for settlement
in accordance with the terms of the relevant sales and purchase
agreements. For the receivables arising from rental income from
leasing properties, monthly rents are normally received in advance and
sufficient rental deposits are held to minimise credit risk. For accounts
receivable generated from hotel operation, the credit term is payable on
demand. For accounts receivable generated from property management,
receivable generally have credit terms of 30 to 60 days (2019: 30 to 60
days). All accounts receivable are denominated in RMB. The ageing
analysis of the Group’s accounts receivable, based on invoice dates
for rental income from leasing properties and comprehensive services
and the terms of relevant sales and purchases agreements for sales of
properties, is as follows:

25.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

PEWBRFR ()

EURBRRIEHEME MEVENTHESRARES
RIS(BIEAELERMESIE)NEIRGRIEA - i
EMEELNERKFUENS @ ZSHENREAS
BEBRERIGENS RHEEWENHRSRAE
AREKGENS  SAHELSETBERE - i
ERBHHSEEUREKEERR - RBELEE
EREBEERTES  EEHINBRERI - E
EIRFEMERERNEES B A30E0OR(=ZE
— N : 30E60K) - FIEREIIRRAARBHE -
AEBERKEROERRZEBEEDENRS KA
RIFERBEHZAMURAENERESEETHER
KAMTAT -

2020 2019

—ECoEE —T-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETT

Within 1 month 1MEAA 27,690 22,333
1 to 12 months 121218 A 30,678 6,873
13 to 24 months 132 24{E A 9,737 919
Over 24 months HBiE241E A - 1,087
68,105 31,212

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group's accounts receivable
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of RMB40,416,000
(2019: RMB8,879,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. For
balance of RMB28,339,000 (2019: RMB6,519,000) has been past due
90 days or more, it is not considered as in default due to the long-term/
on-going relationship and good repayment record of the counterparties.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

e VI HRAR MR

25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (conta) 25. FEWERF (&)
The movement in the allowance for credit losses is as follows: EEBBRRHSHNT ¢
2020 2019
—E-TH —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
At 1 January w—A—H” 613 672
Impairment loss recognised BERREEE 41,230 =
Reversal on impairment loss recognised BERREEE 2 &L (613) (59)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 41,230 613

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group applies the
HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL for accounts receivable
based on lifetime ECL. Accounts receivable have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the historical observed default rates
have been adjusted by forward looking estimates.

HE_Z - ZFR-_ZT—NF+-A=+—HILHF
B AEEEAEBMBHREELFESRNGL A
BEFEHBHEEBETERRETNEHEE
EiE - RUWEREHRERBEEREERREBRELE
BUEANRDME - WASHTREE A% -

(TR HERERRIA

=

—= =
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26. DEPOSITS PAID, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

26. ENERE  AARERAMERKIE

RECEIVABLES
2020 2019
—EIEH —T-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HieE ARBTT ARETIT
Deposits paid and prepayments B fHe RIEMFRIE (a) 1,275,659 990,089
Deposits for urban redevelopment BWHEHIBRE 2 EE
projects (b) - 1,790,400
Other receivables HAotb EYGRIE 322,537 405,445
Amounts due from related parties FEU B HE A T 3RIE (c) 249,426 30,404
Amounts due from non-controlling FEUR FEFE A R 2 SR IE
interests (d) 14,411 14,590
Total 5T 1,862,033 3,230,928
Notes: Mz
(@)  The balance mainly represents prepaid construction costs of (a) HAEBRETEARAEEVMERBEE MRAASEE
RMB598,920,000 (2019: RMB789,047,000) to the contractors for 2 A R R A AR A R #5598,920,00070( = F — 1
the Group's property development projects, and urban renewal service F : AR¥789,047,0007T) ¢ A K gk 78 52 BIH 7T 5 5
prepayment of RMB341,000,000 (2019: nil) to an independent third party BB mMAEE = EE 2T B RBEMRA
for the Group’s urban renewal projects. R#341,000,0007c( =2 — N4 : &) -
(b)  The balance represented deposits paid for urban redevelopment projects (b)  AEBRESAA P BRAMIRE KR Z 5T E 8
located in Zhuhai and Shenzhen in the Mainland China as at 31 December BRZZE-NF+ZA=+—HBIZzike  EF
2019, of which RMB1,622,400,000 represented deposit paid to local AR #1,622,400,0007T 48 Bt U B 1 b {5 R AR 1 () &
government for acquisition of land use right. The amount is refundable MBS Z18E o (WA BRI WS L b A #E
in full if the acquisition of land use right is not successful. The amount ZRENERERE REE-T-_ZF+=-A=
transferred to properties under development for sale and investment +—HIFEEAKE L E AR ZREER
properties under development upon the completion of acquisition of land ERBPHEVEREEREEME -
use right during the year ended 31 December 2020.
(c)  Amounts due from related parties, in which the ultimate controlling party () FEHREMSFRE(GERIERIFREREEES#ER)

(d)

has beneficial interests, are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

As at 31 December 2020, amounts due from non-controlling interests
amounting to RMB10,989,000 (2019:RMB11,715,000) is secured by
equity interests held by the non-controlling party, interest bearing at 6.37%
(2019:6.37%) per annum and repayable on demand. Remaining balance
of amounts due from non-controlling interests is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.
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R-ZB_ZTE+_HA=1+—H BURFERER
A/ ARY10,989,000( —ZE—NF : AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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27. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS 27. ZREIBITER
2020 2019
—EoSE —T-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt et AR¥TF T AREFT
Pledged certificate of deposits for BIRTTEFIRIRN T RE
bank loans 1,411,486 700,709
Funds under regulation by banks for ZIRITEEERTEAENES
specific purposes 678,061 805,255
Performance deposits required by BT ENBAE S
government (a) 553,260 553,853
Pledged bank deposits for bank loans  FtIR1TE KB IR IRITIER 1,260,086 647,942
Pledged bank deposits for mortgage FARIBIE IR AR TIE K (b) 69,650 94,021
Performance deposits for construction  2EA LB LIES
contracts 4,184 2,090
Others HAt 2,810 191
Total RET 3,979,537 2,804,061
The effective interest rates of restricted bank deposits are in the range of PR 4R 1717 2 B RS 4E F X 19 ) F0.01% 53.58%
0.01% to 3.58% (2019: 0.01% to 3.03%) per annum. —ZT—H & 0.01%%E3.03%) °
Notes: /}/?E .
(a) The balance represents performance deposits required by the government (@) fy gk aa el pras oK = E AR BT R S A H B Y
for the Group’s urban redevelopment project. e o
(b) The balance represents bank deposits pledged to secure the mortgage (b) 27 fo s 45 9 I (8 1 4 8 R o2 4D L e b 4 U Y )
granted to buyers of properties. RIS o
28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 28. RITHBRES

As at 31 December 2020, included in bank balances and cash was
a fixed deposit of RMB600,476,000 (2019: RMB447,605,000) with
original maturity period of more than three months but within one year.

The effective interest rates of cash at banks are 0.01% to 1.60% (2019:

0.01% to 1.35%) per annum.

R-ZE-_TE+-_A=+—8  B7£%858EE
BIERIBEAZR=-EARLIR—FEZTEHE
AR #600,476000L( ZE— L F: AR
447 ,605,0007T) °

BITRESHERENZNT001%E1.60% (—F—
N 0.01%FE1.35%) °

(TR HERERRIA

=

—= =
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29. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 29. FETBRFX
Accounts payable mainly represents amounts due to contractors. EREREZEENEDERIE - BNABENIEA
Payment to contractors is made by reference of progress of the 2EFPRERTIREERBTEEIEL -

respective construction work and agreed milestones.

The following is an aging analysis of accounts payable presented based R BR R BRIRIZEZ A2 T ¢
on the invoice date:

2020 2019
—E_EF —T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBTT
Within 1 month HEA A 1,097,921 513,386
1 to 12 months 1Z21218A 55,986 436,676
13 to 24 months 13Z241E A 63,512 137,934
Over 24 months Bi@241@ A 44,667 23,835
1,262,086 1,111,831

The average credit period for purchase of construction materials ranged EEREEMEN I EZERANMERE—FETE -

from six months to one year.

30. ACCRUALS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER 30. fE:IEH - CWiRS R EMENZIE

PAYABLES
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-hEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T T ARETT
Rental deposits received BlEeEe 175,260 141,865
Receipts in advance S E L] (a) 3,787 5,402
Other payables and accruals Hih B M AT E R 579,657 495,005
Amounts due to related parties FEA RAE 5 5RIE (b) 1,175 28,981
Amounts due to non-controlling interests &~ FHE A% HE 25 7K B (c) 2,525 2,105
762,404 673,358
Notes: B
(a) As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, receipts in advance consist of rental (a) RIE_TFER-_ZT—NAFE+-_A=+—H 7K
considerations received in advance from customers. REREEERZEPIERZHENE -
(b) Amounts due to related parties, in which the ultimate controlling party has (b) e T RIE(REIER A REF A B ERN)
beneficial interests, are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. AEE . 08 RBEKREREE -
(c) Amounts due to non-controlling interests are unsecured, interest-free and (c) e IR E S R IE A E K - 2B NBRENRE
repayable on demand. 8o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

31.

e VI HRAR MR

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. eEAE
2020 2019
—EoSE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETIT
Sales of properties YEHE 1,345,571 2,502,338

Hotel operation and property management B E S8 M EE IR R

service 3,361 2,927
1,348,932 2,505,265
Note: The balance mainly represents sales deposits and advance payments Wiet - ZEHEZEHEES RYEHE 2B EWER

received from sales of properties. The decrease in contract liabilities in the
current year was mainly due to revenue recognised from sales of properties
located in Shenzhen.

As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to RMB2,268,288,000.
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the

respective years relates to carried-forward contract liabilities at the start
of the respective years.

He AFEARAGERDTIEZRRLNRINY
FIHEMR 2 WAFE

RZZBE-NEF—H—B GRAEGEAARY
2,268,288,0007T °

TRITREFEERERFENZABERAEE
R Z WA LSEE -

2020 2019

—E-EH —T—hF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Sales of properties VI HE 2,245,712 1,443,440
Hotel operation and property management T B M R E IR RS

service 2,927 3,175

#2(FEIBEREERAR

=

—= =
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32. LEASE LIABILITIES 32. HE&A®E
Lease liabilities payable: ENAE8E
2020 2019
—E_TF —ZT—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Within one year —FR 17,239 22,674
Within a period of more than one year but not A HiB1E —FENEBBRE
more than two years 18,949 20,627
Within a period of more than two years but not AHiBEBREENBBRE
more than five years 31,495 44,880
Within a period of more than five years REERTE 34,690 29,873
102,373 118,054
Less: Amount due for settlement within B FIARBEEL 1218 A N E| HEE
12 months shown under Z5RIA
current liabilities (17,239) (22,674)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months ~ ZIAIERE BEIW R 128 AL I EEE 2
shown under non-current liabilities FIE 85,134 95,380

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease

liabilities is 9.5% (2019: 9.5%).

fERREE A ENIEF R
T—NE :95%) °

fE A= 39.5% (=

33. BORROWINGS 33. &E&

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T

Borrowings comprise: BEERE
— Variable rate bank loans —ZBIRITERK 20,294,657 16,274,940
— Fixed rate bank loans —EEMERRITER 1,119,296 2,781,200
— Fixed rate other borrowings —EEMEEMER 2,450,536 50,000
— Private senior notes —NEBLEER = 349,939
23,864,489 19,456,079

Analysed as: DT
— Secured — GiKH 22,915,296 18,886,202
— Unsecured —E KR 949,193 569,877
23,864,489 19,456,079
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33. BORROWINGS (conta) 33. B8 #®)
2020 2019
—EoSE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Borrowings repayable within a period of: BEAERUTHEREE
— Within 1 year ——FNRx 6,438,547 3,616,424
— More than 1 year, but not —BIR—F R REF
exceeding 2 years 3,260,479 3,296,968
— More than 2 years, but not —BBRMFERIRAF
exceeding 5 years 11,379,145 10,090,473
— More than 5 years —RF AR 1,217,512 1,762,364
22,295,683 18,766,229
Borrowings that contain a repayment on BERERERERZ2BEGIARE A
demand clause (shown under current &) - AR THIERAERE
liabilities) but repayable:
— Within 1 year ——FRx 1,552,816 372,760
— More than 2 years, but not —BEMFEINAF
exceeding 5 years 15,990 317,090
Total borrowings wmiEE 23,864,489 19,456,079
Less: Amount due within one year shown B MEVAEIE TR —F AN B2 RIE
under current liabilities (8,007,353) (4,306,274)
Amount due after one year R—F&E|H 508 15,857,136 15,149,805

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional currencies
of the relevant group companies (i.e. RMB, United States Dollar (“US$”)
and HK$) except certain bank and other borrowings amounting to
RMB2,184,586,000 (2019: RMB1,797,697,000) are denominated
in HK$, and RMB3,345,395,000 (2019: RMB490,355,000) are

denominated in US$.

EASBEEERBEBEESE QAR NI E K (E
AR -Ex(ExDBEBT)FE ETR
TREMEES AR®2184,586,000t( = — A1
F: AR®1,797,697,0007T ) AABTTEHE R AR
3,345,395,0007T( = — N 4F : AR #490,355,000

TOASETTAHER SN ©
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33.

BORROWINGS (contd)

For bank loans denominated in HK$, the effective interest rates are
ranging from 4.01% to 8.37% (2019:3.87% to 7.67%) per annum. For
bank and other loans denominated in RMB, the effective interest rates
are ranging from 4.25% to 9.00% (2019: 4.90% to 9.00%) per annum.
For bank loans denominated in US$, the effective interest rates are
ranging from 1.60% to 10.00% (2019:3.21% to 9.41%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2020, certain secured bank loans with aggregate
amount of RMB4,984,327,000 (2019: RMB3,256,201,000) and certain
secured other borrowings with amount of RMB2,124,292,000 (2019:
RMB50,000,000) are secured by the equity interests of subsidiaries of
the Group (see also note 47).

As at 31 December 2020, a secured bank loan with aggregate amount
of RMB228,537,000 (2019: RMB244,167,000) was secured by certain
equity instrument held by Mr. Wong, the ultimate controlling shareholder.

As at 31 December 2020, a secured bank loan with aggregate amount of
RMB2,732,500,000 (2019: nil) was jointly secured by properties owned
by a related company controlled by Mr. Wong, 600,000,000 convertible
preference shares of the Company owned by Mr. Wong, equity interest of
that related company, and certain properties of the Group.

As at 31 December 2020, a secured bank loan with aggregate amount
of RMB115,000,000 (2019: nil) was secured by properties owned by a
related company.

As at 31 December 2020, certain secured bank loan with aggregate
amount of RMB837,984,000 (2019: nil) were secured by personal
guarantees of Mr. Wong and Mrs. Huang Jingshu, executive director and
chairman of the Company. As at 31 December 2020, certain secured
bank loan with aggregate amount of RMB1,155,190,000 (2019: nil)
were secured by personal guarantees of spouse of Mr. Wong. As at 31
December 2020, certain secured bank loan with aggregate amount of
RMB7,384,588,000 (2019: nil) were secured by personal guarantee of
Mr. Wong.
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BRAB T ENRTERNES  BEREHNX
401%%E837% ( — T — L& : 387%;.;767%)

RMUAREFENETREMERM S * BEF
K &N F425%%9.00% (=T — j1¢-490%i
9.00%) ° SRARTTAHEMBTERMS » BRF

F % 91 F1.60%%£10.00%
9.41%) °

—_F— ﬂi : 3.21%i

RZZTZZTFF+-_A=1+—H aTHEEFRTE
ST AREA,984,327,000T( —E—HE: AR
#43,256,201,00070) kB THE BB EMEEARE
2,124,292,0007T( =& — L 4F : A R #50,000,000

To) AL B E A R Z REEER(GERE 28K
A7) o
R-T-_TF+-A=+—H —F5EHRTE

FuasEE NR¥E228 537,000 (ZE—HE : AR
ﬁ%244 167,00070) ARKIERBRREZLEMFTEZ
ETFRAT B -

R-E-_ZF+-_A=+—81"
REEFEARME2,732,500,000c( = — NG : &)
HELEERGZBBMARMESZME EEEE
5 .2600,000,0000% A& A B AT AR @ 52 - 32 RERSE
B2 RERAEE 2B TYEEXRER -

—EHEEMRTE

RZTZ_FTF+_A=+—H —FFBEARTE
HBEFARKEL15,000,000(ZF—N4F : )
—ER R RS 2 MR R -

RZZB-ZF+-_A=+—H ETHEBERARTE
HEBSFAREER37,984,000t(ZF— N5 : )M

BEAERADRATESREIFEERTF LT ZEA
EREER - R-Z-_TFE+_-_A=+—RH0 &F
ABRFEITERE LT AR 155,190,0007T( =
TNE B RBERERBZAAERELRER - R
—E-FFE+_A=+—H ETHEWRRITER
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(a)

Debt component of convertible bonds

e VI HRAR MR

4. TmREFRTBRRESITET AR

i)

(a) FERRESEEHD

2020 2019
g et 23 —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Net carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BrERmFE 1,493,257 1,381,645
Recognition of new convertible bonds REREE BRI A RRES
upon substantial modification 1,393,642 -
Interest expense FERY 285,303 172,237
Interest paid EAFE (154,018) (88,155)
Repayment ER (134,589) -
Derecognition upon substantial REREEZEIEER
modification (1,360,965) -
Exchange difference & Z=%8 (102,656) 27,530
Net carrying amount as at 31 December A +=A=+—HEEFE 1,419,974 1,493,257
Less: Amount due within one year shown J& : REh B EHE NA—FAREH 2 78
under current liabilities - (1,493,257)
Amount due after one year R—FRE Bz 5B 1,419,974 =

(1) On 6 November 2016, the Company entered into
a Convertible Bonds Subscription Agreement (the
“Agreement”) with an independent third party, Chance
Talent Management Limited (the “CB Subscriber”).
Pursuant to the Agreement, the CB Subscriber agreed
to acquire the Convertible Bond (the “2018 CB”) with
aggregate principal amount of US$100 million (equivalent
to RMB686 million) at interest rate of 5.5% per annum,
payable by the Company semi-annually in arrears from the
issue date, with initial conversion price of HK$2.76. The
maturity date is on the second anniversary of the issue
date. The 2018 CB were issued to the CB Subscriber on 18
November 2016.

The bondholder has the right to convert the 2018 CB in
whole or in part into shares at any time on or after the issue
date of the 2018 CB up to the respective maturity date.
264,946,889 (2019: 264,946,889) new shares will be
issued upon full conversion of the 2018 CB. An adjustment
had been made to the conversion price from HK$2.76 to
HK$2.695 on 21 July 2017 as a result of the dividends
paid since the convertible bonds were issued.

(1)

RZE-—RE+—ARA  KA2A
B — £ ¥ 7 % = JChance Talent
Management Limited ([ A[#2 (& 5208
ADETL— R Al IR E 5 R R ([ 5%
W) o RIEZ I - TRRESRE
ARBWEARCBEAIEEZT(HE
RARM6.86(87T) « 1RF FE5.5%5
BRI R ES ([ =T — N\FrI LR E
1) (MFHIRBA2.767TT) * FIEBE
BITAHERREF FRERNAALZ -
FHH AT BRI RMEASF - =%
—NFABBRESFR =T —F+—A
TNBBETTARRKRESFREA °

EEREABRRN-_Z— N\ETHBRE
FETAME AR R ERBEEEA L
BE B 45 2 2R Sk 2D — B — )\ F Al AR (S
HE A o 264,946,8890% (— T —
FLEE : 264,946,889 TP R —F
— N\ F Al R EHEREE RIE T -
A AR E A5 T S T R IR BB BN
—FE—+tFEA-t+—BH#BEHR2.76
BITTHEZE2.6958 T ©
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

(1)

(Cont'd)

On 17 January 2018, the Company received a notice
from the CB Subscriber, requesting for the conversion of
the 2018 CB in the principal amount of US$10,000,000.
Accordingly, the Company has allotted and issued
28,794,063 conversion shares to the CB Subscriber at the
conversion price of HK$2.695 per conversion share.

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$2.695 to HK$2.636 as a result of allotment of ordinary
shares, allotment of convertible preference shares and the
dividends paid during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$2.636 to HK$2.574 as a result of the dividends paid
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

On 3 October 2018, the CB Subscriber, the Company and
Mr. Wong entered into the Deed of Extension to extend the
maturity date of the 2018 CB to 18 November 2020.

The 2018 CB will be redeemed on maturity at a value equal
to the amount equal to the aggregate of (a) the aggregate
principal amount of such outstanding 2018 CB; (b) any
accrued but unpaid interest on such outstanding 2018 CB
on the redemption date (other than default interest); and (c)
(if the sum of the amounts referred to above (a) and (b) fall
short of making up an internal rate of return of 8% on the
aggregate principal amount of 2018 CB) such additional
amount which would make up an internal rate of 8% on the
aggregate principal amount of 2018 CB.

On 18 November 2020, the CB Subscriber, the
Company and Mr. Wong entered into the 2020 Deed
of Extension to further extend the maturity date of the
remaining outstanding 2018 CB to 18 May 2022 and
amend certain terms of the 2018 CB (the “2018 CB
Amendments”), including amendments to maturity date,
certain amendments regarding the undertaking given by
the Company to the CB Subscriber and the bondholder.
Save for the 2018 CB Amendments, all other terms and
conditions of the 2018 CB shall remain in full force and
effect.
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4. TRESZRTBRRESITET AR

(a) FERRESEBEIHD(

(1)

(#&)

R=ZF—NF—A+t8 AAREE
ARBRESREAZRBAN - BREAS
%810,000,000 (L2 =T — \F 7]
PREFHEITRE - At - ARRERA
AR EH R AR FIR AR IR E
2.6957% JT B 2% [ 3 1728,794,0630% K,
HRRD ©

HRBE-_ZT—-\F+-A=+—AHI
FEAREEBR  EATHRRELR
RIS - ERE D 26958 T
B RB2.636/8TT

HREBE_T-AF+-_A=+—HL
FEAXMEKE  BHRED H2.6368
TLHER2.5748TT ©
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

1)

(Cont'd)

Under the 2020 Deed of Extension, the parties thereto
agreed to, amongst others, the following principal
amendments:

(i) the maturity date of the 2018 CB will be changed
from the date falling on the fourth anniversary of the
issue date to the date falling on the sixty-sixth month
from the issue date;

(i) the undertaking given by the Company to the
CB Subscriber and the Bondholder that the
shareholders’ equity of the Company should not be
less than RMB10,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in
any other currency) will be changed to not less than
RMB11,500,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other
currency); and

(i) the undertaking given by the Company to the CB
Subscriber and the Bondholders that the ratio of the
Company’s total assets to shareholder’s equity is not
more than 3.6:1 will be changed to the ratio of the
Company’s total debts (excluding contract liability
arising out of sale of properties) to the Company’s
total assets is not more than 75%.

The 2018 CB Amendments was effective on 18 November
2020. Based on the conversion price according to 2018 CB
Amendment and assuming full conversion of the 2018 CB,
an aggregate of 216,846,307 new shares will be allotted
and issued by the Company.

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$2.574 to HK$2.505 as a result of allotment of ordinary
shares, allotment of convertible preference shares and the
dividends paid during the year ended 31 December 2020.

e VI HRAR MR

4. TmREFRTBRRESITET AR

/'\/
73 (

(a) TFERBREFEEHD(
1) (&)

BRE-_Z-_ZFERRE -
B (EFEE) T EREE]

TS

(i ZT-\FrBEEFZEZHA
BT HBRRBESER
EHREIT BRI S T RE
AEH

(i)  ARABAARBRESFBEARE
FHE ARG AR A R R E S
TR R A K #10,000,000,000
T(REEREMEE ZEE
SHEIBERARTERARE
11,500,000,0007T( 3k E £ fa] &
EEZSESE) &

(iy AR EABRKRESBEARE
FRBEANRGRARRREELR
RERLEAENRI6:1EERR
AABREB(LEMERESL
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

(1)

)

(Cont'd)

Due to the 2018 CB Amendments, the Group derecognised
a carrying amount of the debt components of 2018
CB amounting to HK$603,745,000 (equivalent to
RMB512,398,000) upon substantial modification and
recognised a carrying amount of the debt and derivative
components of new Convertible Bonds (the “New 2018
CB”) amounting to HK$547,163,000 (equivalent to
RMB464,378,000) and HK$40,737,000 (equivalent to
RMB34,573,000) respectively. The resulting difference of
approximately HK$15,845,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB13,447,000) is recognised as a gain on substantial
modification of convertible bonds in other gains and losses.

Further details of the terms and conditions of the
2018 CB were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 6 November 2016, 8 November 2016, 18
November 2016, 3 October 2018 and 18 November 2020
respectively.

The New 2018 CB contains two components, debt
component and derivative component. The effective interest
rate of the debt component is 14.09% (2019: 14.23%) per
annum. The derivative component is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of conversion option is US$3,447,000
(equivalent to RMB22,511,000) for New 2018 CB (2019:
US$10,363,000 (equivalent to RMB72,292,000) for 2018
CB) as at 31 December 2020.

On 10 May 2018, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Gemstones International Limited (the “Issuer”

r “Gemstones”), and the Company together with its
eighteen subsidiaries acting as guarantors entered into a
Convertible Bonds Subscription Agreement (the “2018
Agreement”) with a third party, Global Affluence Holding
V Limited (the “2018 Subscriber”). Pursuant to the 2018
Agreement, the 2018 Subscriber agreed to acquire the
convertible bonds (the “2023 CB”) with aggregate principal
amount of US$100 million (equivalent to RMB675 million)
at interest rate of 4.0% per annum, payable by the Issuer
semi-annually in arrears. The maturity date is on the fifth
anniversary of the issue date. The 2023 CB were issued to
the 2018 Subscriber on 17 May 2018.
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

2

(Cont'd)

The bondholder has the right to convert the 2023 CB in
whole or in part into shares at any time on or after the
issue date of the 2023 CB up to the date falling seven days
prior to the maturity date. 208,776,595 new shares will be
issued upon full conversion of the 2023 CB based on the
initial conversion price of HK$3.76. Adjustments had been
made to the conversion price from HK$3.76 to HK$3.68 as
a result of the issue of Second 2023 CB and the extension
of 2018 CB during the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, adjustments
had been made to the conversion price from HK$3.68 to
HK$3.594 as a result of the dividends paid.

The 2023 CB will be redeemed on maturity at a value equal
to 124.012214% of the outstanding principal amount of the
2023 CB, together with any accrued and unpaid interest.

The bondholder has the right by written notice at any time
on or after 17 May 2020, the second anniversary of the
issue date of the 2023 CB and before maturity, require the
Issuer to redeem all or some only of such bondholder's
2023 CB at a gross yield of 8.00% per annum.

On 19 June 2020, the Company, the Issuer and the
bondholder have conditionally agreed to amend certain
terms and conditions of the 2023 CB (the “2023 CB
Amendments”), including amendments to the put option
date, the conversion price, the interest rate and early
redemption amount. Save for the 2023 CB Amendments,
all other terms and conditions of the 2023 CB shall remain
in full force and effect.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT 34. #RESFRABRRESITETIAEI

OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

(2)  (Contd)

73&5,‘

(a) TRREFEBEIHD(

(2)

The 2023 CB amendments of terms and conditions are set

as below:

Original terms
R

(&)

ZE - = FABRREFEFT 2GR RIE
HEHIINT -

Amendments

1&&T

Put option date
ok BAE A A

Conversion price

BEYE

Interest Rate

Fl

Early redemption amount

heRTER £/

On or after 17 May 2020
—T-TFRA+EBRRZE

HK$3.594 per share
FRRAZ(93.59478 T

4.00 per cent. per annum

REF|EAL00%:t 2

An amount such that the bondholders
would realise a gross yield of 8.00%
per annum on the principal amount of
the 2023 CB from the 17 May 2018 to
the date of early redemption

BEFFAEATE_Z-\FHAA+LH
tikm%@E%& T =i
Hx1a%$é%ﬁjjﬁﬂ8 00% FBF K=

BR SR

The 2023 CB Amendments was effective on 29 June 2020.
Based on the conversion price according to 2023 CB
Amendment and assuming full conversion of the 2023 CB,
an aggregate of 261,666,666 new shares will be allotted

and issued by the Company.
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On or after 17 May 2022
B —FRA+ERZZE

HK$3.000 per share
S5 3.000/8 7T

4.00 per cent. per annum from 17 May
2018 (inclusively) to 18 June 2020
and 5.00 per cent. per annum from
19 June 2020 (inclusively)

BT - N\FRATLH(BEZB)R
2T -FFXNA+N\BEREHNE
4.00%5H 8 MEBEZZ=ZFRAT
NEBE(B¥EZ B )RR EFRE5.00%
B

An amount such that the bondholders
would realise a gross yield of 8.00%
per annum on the principal amount of
the 2023 CB from 17 May 2018 to 19
June 2020 and a gross yield of 9.50%
per annum on the principal amount of
the 2023 CB from 20 June 2020 to the
date of early redemption

EBEFFHBEARIEZE—/\FRA++H
HBE_E_TFXATNER-_ZZ
= F AR IREF NS FE S N18.00% 42
FRHFER 2 eEIE T _FF
ANAZTBERRRIERB R
Z=FAHMREFARESEE S N9.50%
BFW SR 2 £
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

2

(Cont'd)

Due to the 2023 CB Amendments, the Group derecognised
a carrying amount of the debt and derivative components
of 2023 CB amounting to US$77,488,000 (equivalent
to RMB548,577,000) and US$19,731,000 (equivalent
to RMB139,683,000) respectively upon substantial
modification and recognised a carrying amount of the debt
and derivative components of new Convertible Bonds (the
“New 2023 CB") amounting to US$87,498,000 (equivalent
to RMB619,441,000) and US$7,362,000 (equivalent to
RMB52,118,000) respectively. The resulting difference of
approximately US$2,359,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB16,701,000) is recognised as a gain on substantial
modification of convertible bonds in other gains and losses.

In addition, the Issuer paid the bondholders a make-
whole amount in cash such that the 2023 CB holders
would obtain a gross yield of 8.00% per annum on the
principal amount of the 2023 CB from the issue date to
19 June 2020, amounted to US$8,896,000 (equivalent to
RMB62,639,000) as a result of the 2023 CB Amendments.

Further details of the terms and conditions of the 2023
CB were disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 11 May 2018 and 19 June 2020 repectively.

The New 2023 CB contains two components, debt
component and derivative component (including the
conversion option and the early redemption option that
are not closely related to the host). The effective interest
rates of the debt component is 14.15% for New 2023 CB
(2019: 13.48% for 2023 CB) per annum. The derivative
component is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit and loss.

The fair value of early redemption option is US$2,716,000
(equivalent to RMB17,722,000) for New 2023 CB as at
31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: US$12,712,000
(equivalent to RMB88,681,000) for 2023 CB). The fair
value of conversion option is US$4,206,000 (equivalent to
RMB27,446,000) for New 2023 CB as at 31 December
2020 (31 December 2019: US$5,100,459 (equivalent to
RMB35,582,000) for 2023 CB).

e P RRME

34. Wi H“ﬁ%&T?W‘Eﬁ%CTEIEW

i)
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)

(&)

ERN_T_=FABRBREHFE K
SEREREFTERILEREERED
Bl 577,488,000% T(HH & W AR
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

)

On 16 September 2018, Gemstones entered into a
Convertible Bonds Subscription Agreement (the “2018
Second Agreement”) with an independent third party,
Pioneer Festive Limited (the “2018 Second Subscriber”).
Pursuant to the 2018 Second Agreement, the 2018 Second
Subscriber agreed to acquire the convertible bonds (the
“Second 2023 CB") with aggregate principal amount
of US$50 million (equivalent to RMB341.8 million) at
interest rate of 5.0% per annum, payable by Gemstones
semi-annually in arrears. The maturity date is on the fifth
anniversary of the issue date. The Second 2023 CB were
issued to the 2018 Second Subscriber on 28 September
2018.

The bondholder has the right to convert the Second 2023
CB in whole or in part into shares at any time on or after
the issue date of the Second 2023 CB up to the date falling
seven days prior to the maturity date. 127,022,653 new
shares will be issued upon full conversion of the Second
2023 CB based on the initial conversion price of HK$3.09.

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$3.09 to HK$3.018 as a result of the dividends paid
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Second 2023 CB will be redeemed on maturity at a
value equal to 136.1% of the outstanding principal amount
of the Second 2023 CB, together with any accrued and
unpaid interest.

The bondholder has the right by written notice at any time
on or after 28 September 2020, the second anniversary of
the issue date of the Second 2023 CB and before maturity,
require the Gemstones to redeem all or some only of such
bondholder’'s Second 2023 CB at a yield of internal rate of
return of 10.00% per annum.

If a bondholder has exercised the conversion rights
attached to any Second 2023 CB and disposed of any
conversion shares issued as a result thereof, Gemstones will
be entitled to share 30% of the consideration (net of taxes
and brokerage fees) payable to the relevant bondholder in
excess of the agreed preferred return in accordance with
the terms of the Second 2023 CB.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

Q)

(Cont'd)

On 31 December 2020, the Company and the bondholder
entered into the supplemental agreement to amend and
restate the terms of the Second 2023 CB (the ” Second
2023 CB Amendments”), including amendments to the
redemption date at the option of the bondholders and
conversion price. Save for the Amendments, all other terms
and conditions of the Second 2023 CB shall remain in full
force and effect.

The Second 2023 CB amendments of terms and conditions
are set as below:

Original terms
RERFR

e VI HRAR MR

4. THRRESRATBRRESFITETAL

/'\/
73 (

(a) TFERBREFEEHD(

)

(&)

R-Z-_ZFF+_A=+—H A2
SESRA AR L bJ&
BIE-#H T = iTﬁ%%%Z%
RITE-H T -_=FraREHE
1) BEREEFSEAREZER

B RIRAE ZEFT © BREXFIERTSN -
FEo R —B—FARRESRZEHE
il R R R D A + R N KAk
e

FoM T = FRIBREFER] Z1E
ARG T

Amendments

BEEEE]

Put option date
iz fE R H A

The Second 2023 CB Amendments was effective as
from 31 December 2020. Based on the conversion price
according to Second 2023 CB Amendment and assuming
full conversion of the Second 2023 CB, an aggregate of
133,685,286 new shares will be allotted and issued by the
Company.

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$3.09 to HK$2.936 as a result of dividends paid during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

Due to the Second 2023 CB Amendments, the Group
derecognised a carrying amount of the debt and derivative
components of 2023 CB amounting to US$45,976,000
(equivalent to RMB299,990,000) and US$538,000
(equivalent to RMB3,513,000) respectively upon substantial
modification and recognised a carrying amount of the debt
and derivative components of new Convertible Bonds (the
“New Second 2023 CB”) amounting to US$47,483,000
(equivalent to RMB309,823,000) and US$6,733,000
(equivalent to RMB43,933,000) respectively. The resulting
difference of approximately US$7,702,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB50,253,000) is recognised as a loss on
substantial modification of convertible bonds in other gains
and losses.

On or after 28 September 2020
—ZTTFAAZTNREZE

On or after 31 January 2022
- F-A=+—RHzzE
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

)

(Cont'd)

In addition, Gemstones shall pay the bondholders a make-
whole amount in cash such that the Second 2023 CB
holders would obtain a gross yield of 10.00% per annum on
the principal amount of the Second 2023 CB from the issue
date to 31 December 2020, amounted to US$6,500,000
(equivalent to RMB44,813,000) as a result of the Second
2023 CB Amendments.

The New Second 2023 CB will be redeemed on maturity
at a value equal to 112.91% of the outstanding principal
amount of the New Second 2023 CB, together with any
accrued and unpaid interest.

Further details of the terms and conditions of the New
Second 2023 CB were disclosed in the announcements of
the Company dated 17 September 2018 and 31 December
2020 respectively.

The New Second 2023 CB contains two components,
debt component and the derivative component (including
the conversion option after profit-sharing and the early
redemption option that is not closely related to the host).
The effective interest rate of the debt component is 11.52%
for New Second 2023 CB (2019: 8.73% for Second 2023
CB) per annum. The derivative component is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit and
loss.

The fair value of conversion option (after profit-sharing)
is US$6,678,000 (equivalent to RMB43,575,000) (2019:
US$3,279,000 (equivalent to RMB22,875,000)) as at 31
December 2020. The fair value of early redemption option
is US$55,000 (equivalent to RMB359,000) (31 December
2019: US$398,000 (equivalent to RMB2,777,000)) as at
31 December 2020.
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT 34. AIAREFRAIBRRESFITETI A
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta)

(b)

Derivative component of convertible bonds

ANy
0 (#&)

(b) FERRESTETIABS

2020 2019

g et 23 —T-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFIT

Net carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BHMEREFE 222,207 198,105

Derecognition of derivatives RIERERITET R (143,196) =

Recognition of derivatives BRITETA 130,624 =

(Gain) loss arising on changes in fair value AR BEEEELH (W) EIE (93,506) 20,170

Exchange difference PE H ZRE (4,517) 3,932

Net carrying amount as at 31 December R+ =A=+—HKEREFE 111,612 222,207
Less: Amount due within one year shown & : BV EEE TR —FREIE 2 308

under current liabilities - (222,207)

Amount due after one year R—F1&FIH 2 K8 111,612 =
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT 34. #RESFRABRRESITETIAEI

OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(b)  Derivative component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

(1)

The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation
of the 2018 CB at 31 December 2019 and 18 November
2020, and New 2018 CB at 18 November 2020 and 31
December 2020 were as follows:

The fair value of the derivative component of 2018
CB as at 31 December 2019 and 18 November 2020
derived by using the Binomial Option Pricing Model were
approximately RMB72,292,000 and nil, respectively.
The fair value of the derivative component of New 2018
CB as at 18 November 2020 and 31 December 2020
derived by using the Binomial Option Pricing Model were
approximately RMB34,573,000 and RMB22,510,000,
respectively. They were determined by the directors of the
Company with reference to the valuation performed by
Asset Appraisal Limited, a firm of independent professional
valuer with appropriate qualifications and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar derivative instruments
with reference to market values. During the year ended 31
December 2020, the Group recognised the fair value gain
of RMB68,525,000 (2019: loss of RMB40,037,000) for
2018 CB and gain of RMB13,885,000 for New 2018 CB in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

() FHBRESFTETARD(E)

(1)
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T$+ A+ NBE =T — \Frik
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72,292,0007C f # o 31 =T — )\ 4F 7]
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BED 5 4 A8 A R %34,573,0007T &
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— \Fr R EEA A BEKZARE
68,525,0000( — T — N F : BHIEAR
#40,037,0007T) k¥ = F — )\ F ] #
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=c

The inputs used in the Binomial Option Pricing Model BUYHEGEMRSBPEEITETA
adopted by the independent professional valuer in o Rn BERAEAN B BEE
determining the fair values of derivative component at the ERAFATAREASRNT

respective dates were as follows:

At 31.12.2019 At 31.12.2020

RZT—NFE R-ZE-ZF

+=A=+-AR +=A=+-R

Share price R E HK$2.79 HK$2.33
2.79% 7T 2.33%B T

Exercise price 1TEE HK$2.574 HK$2.505
25747 7T 2.5055& T

Expected dividend yield TEHARR B 1.90% 2.62%
Volatility ] 34.98% 33.58%
Discount rate ARIR & 16.432% 15.079%
Risk free interest rate 4 5 B 7 =R 1.606% 0.088%
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta)

(b)  Derivative component of convertible honds (Cont'd)

2

The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation
of the 2023 CB at 31 December 2019 and 19 June 2020,
and New 2023 CB at 19 June 2020 and 31 December
2020 were as follows:

The fair value of the derivative component of 2023 CB as
at 31 December 2019 and 19 June 2020 derived by using
the Binomial Option Pricing Model were approximately
RMB124,263,000 and RMB139,683,000, respectively.
The fair value of the derivative component of New 2023 CB
at 19 June 2020 and 31 December 2020 derived by using
the Binomial Option Pricing Model were approximately
RMB52,118,000 and RMB45,168,000, respectively. They
were determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to the valuation performed by Asset Appraisal
Limited, a firm of independent professional valuer with
appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the
valuation of similar derivative component of convertible
bonds with reference to market values. During the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised the fair
value loss of RMB13,507,000 for 2023 CB (2019: gain
of RMB10,128,000) and gain of RMB2,965,000 for New
2023 CB in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The inputs used in the Binomial Option Pricing Model
adopted by the independent professional valuer in
determining the fair values the derivative component of the
2023 CB at the respective dates were as follows:
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:Eiﬂ?ﬁﬂ%ﬁ@jﬂﬁfﬁgﬂa/\}iﬁ%
13,507,0007c( = ZF — NLF : am A
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FAHARERITET A %Qﬁfﬁ@ﬁﬁ
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At 31.12.2019 At 31.12.2020

RZE—NF R-T_ZF

+=-A=+—~H +=—A=+—-~

Share price ] HK$2.79 HK$2.33
2.79% 7T 2.33%B T

Exercise price 1168 HK$3.594 HK$2.91
3.594% 7T 2918 T

Expected dividend yield TEHRRR B 1.90% 2.62%
Volatility iR 33.50% 34.32%
Discount rate BhIR 2 16.215% 14.834%
Risk free interest rate 4[5 B ) 1.669% 0.123%
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (conta)

(b)  Derivative component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

)

The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation
of the Second 2023 CB at 31 December 2019 and
31 December 2020 and New Second 2023 CB at 31
December 2020 were as follows:

The fair value of the derivative component of Second
2023 CB as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2020 derived by using the Binomial Option Pricing Model
were approximately RMB25,652,000 and RMB3,513,000
respectively. The fair value of the derivative component of
New Second 2023 CB as at 31 December 2020 derived by
using the Binomial Option Pricing Model was approximately
RMB43,933,000. They were determined by the directors of
the Company with reference to the valuation performed by
Asset Appraisal Limited, a firm of independent professional
valuer with appropriate qualifications and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar derivative component
of convertible bonds with reference to market values.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
recognised the fair value gain of RMB21,638,000 (2019:
RMB9,739,000) for Second 2023 CB in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The inputs used in the Binomial Option Pricing Model
adopted by the independent professional valuer in
determining the fair values the derivative component of the
Second 2023 CB at the respective dates were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—Z-ZF+_A=1+—HItFE

4. TRESZRTBRRESITET AR

() FHBRESFTETARD(E)

3) —NFFA=+—HEK=ZE=
TﬁﬂL A=t—RA%YE-_#H-—"FT—=
FrAHRES LA&?EA_E_YE-F_
ﬂ ToREME_H T =Fmin
15%1&1713@%%7&@E‘JH&&{E"“
LU

£ Ttl:fyf_i—ﬁﬁﬁﬁffﬁmilﬂ
BAR—ZB-NF+-A=+—BE=
E_TF+ A=+ BRA-EAH
BEBEAUTEZ ARBESANRA
R #25,652,0007T & A K #3,513,000

To e MR T - = F R BRRESDT
ETARON-_ZB-_ZF+-_A=+—
BB _AAPREEBRETEZ AR

B1E 4 A AR 43,933,000 - A
CENARREELERRELETE
FEREERARETHEEMEE - %2
RIS R B R A B AR
ﬂ&ﬂ%ﬁfﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬂﬁ{ﬁ%ﬁiz
Ao MENEREA LSS - BHE—
E_TFE+_A=+—HBILEE &K
EERRGEABERPHRE M =-F
—=FUBRREFAABEREAR
#21 638,000 (= —hE : ARK
9,739,0007T) °

BYBEMMEMNS AMEEE _#—
T_=FAMRESITET AR AR
EER AT SRAAR — IR B E E R S
PR MBI AZIET

At 31.12.2019 At 31.12.2020

R=ZZT—NF R-—Z_ZTF

+t=—A=t—~H t=A=+-A

Share price AR (E HK$2.79 HK$2.33
2.797%57T 2.33%E T

Exercise price 168 HK$3.018 HK$2.936
3.018% 7T 2.93678 T

Expected dividend yield TEAIAR B & 1.90% 2.62%
Volatility I8 33.528% 33.436%
Discount rate ARIR & 13.052% 11.667%
Risk free interest rate 42 | B | =R 1.696% 0.146%
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35. SENIOR NOTES AND BOND
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35. BARBRES

2020 2019
gt 23 —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
Senior notes and bond comprise: BAZBMESFBE
— Public senior notes —AABLEEIE 3,236,529 2,870,055
— Domestic corporate bond —RARARES 2,129,522 2,157,068
5,366,051 5,027,123
2020 2019
g et 23 —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Net carrying amount as at 1 January RN—A—BRNEREFE 5,027,123 5,400,969
Issue of new senior notes and bonds BITHBARBRES 2,374,579 =
Less: Early redemption of senior notes B IRAIERE LR RER
and bond (690,855) (485,375)
Add: Interest charged during the year o FAREIERFLE 519,199 411,241
Less: Interest paid B BAAFLE (534,792) (403,425)
Add: Adjustments on change in coupon rate  fill : FEE B RE BT 1,810 57,287
Less: Repayment B (1,189,991) =
Loss on non-substantial modification IEEAREFEEIE 129,571 =
Exchange differences PEH Z%E (270,593) 46,426
Net carrying amount as at 31 December R+ A=1+—BHEEFE 5,366,051 5,027,123
Less: Amount due within one year shown B mEBAEE TR —FEREIE
under current liabilities 2B (2,129,522) (5,027,123)
Amount due after one year R—F1&FIH 2 K8 3,236,529 =
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35.

SENIOR NOTES AND BOND (contd)

Issue of US$ denominated public senior notes due in 2020 and 2023

On 15 August 2017 and 25 October 2017, the Issuer (as defined in
note 34) issued senior notes with the aggregate principal amounts of
US$225,000,000 and US$175,000,000 respectively (collectively known
as, the “Senior Notes”). The issue price was at 100.0% and 100.6% of
the principal amount of the Senior Notes, respectively.

Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX”). Senior Notes are:

(a) carried interest at rate of 8.5% per annum and interest is payable
semi-annually on 15 February and 15 August of each year,
commencing from 15 February 2018 and will mature on 15
August 2020, unless redeemed earlier;

(b)  senior in right of payment to any existing and future obligations of
the Issuer expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Senior
Notes;

(c)  ranked and will rank at least pari passu in right of payment with
all other unsecured, unsubordinated indebtedness of the Issuer
(subject to any priority rights of such unsecured unsubordinated
indebtedness pursuant to applicable law);

(d) guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the
Company (collectively the “Guarantors”) on a senior basis, subject
to certain limitations;

(e) effectively subordinated to the secured obligations if any, of the
Issuer and the Guarantors, to the extent of the value of the assets
serving as security therefor; and

() effectively subordinated to all existing and future obligations of the
subsidiaries of the Company other than the Guarantors.

At any time prior to 15 August 2020, the Issuer may at its option to
redeem the Senior Notes, in whole but not in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100.0% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes
plus the applicable premium as defined in the offering memorandum
of the Company dated 17 October 2017 (“Applicable Premium”) as
of, and accrued and unpaid interest (if any) to (but not including), the
redemption date.
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SENIOR NOTES AND BOND (contd)

Issue of US$ denominated public senior notes due in 2020 and 2023
(Cont'd)

“Applicable Premium” means with respect to any Senior Notes at any
redemption date, the greater of (i) 1.00% of the principal amount of such
Senior Notes and (ii) the excess of the present value at such redemption
date of the principal amount of such Senior Notes on 15 August 2020,
plus all required remaining scheduled interest payments due on such
Senior Notes through 15 August 2020 (but excluding accrued and
unpaid interest to the redemption date), computed using a discount
rate equal to the adjusted treasury rate plus 100 basis points, over the
principal amount of such Senior Notes on such redemption date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 15 August 2020, the Issuer
may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior
Notes with the net cash proceeds of one or more sales of common stock
of the Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of 108.5%
of the principal amount of the Senior Notes, plus accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date; provided
that at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes
originally issued on the original issue date remains outstanding after
each such redemption and any such redemption takes place within 60
days after the closing of the related equity offering.

Early redemption option is regarded as embedded derivative not closely
related to the host contract. The directors consider that the fair value of
the above early redemption options is insignificant at initial recognition
date, 31 December 2019 and 2020.

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective
interest rate of approximately 8.90% per annum since the Senior Notes
were issued.

The fair value of the Senior Notes at 31 December 2020 amounted
to RMB3,050,848,000 (2019: RMB2,770,919,000). The fair value is
calculated by using the quoted price based on SGX at the end of the
reporting period (or the nearest day of trading).

On 20 February 2020, the Group commenced the exchange offer
(“Exchange Offer”) to the holders of the existing US$ denominated
senior notes with principal amount of US$400,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB2,801,040,000). The Exchange Offer allowed the existing
senior note holders to convert their notes into new notes maturing in
2023 with a coupon rate of 12% per annum. Upon the expiry of the
Exchange Offer on 2 March 2020, senior note holders with an amount
of US$227,390,000 (equivalent to RMB1,587,432,000) had validly
tendered for the exchange and accepted pursuant to the Exchange
Offer. Such amendment is considered as a non-substantial debt
modification and a modification loss of US$18,402,000 (equivalent to
RMB129,571,000) is recognised in other gains and losses.
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35. SENIOR NOTES AND BOND (cont«d)

Issue of US$ denominated public senior notes due in 2020 and 2023
(Cont'd)

On the following day, the Group announced to issue a new series of US$
denominated senior notes with principal amount of US$222,610,000
(equivalent to RMB1,547,447,000) at an interest rate of 12% per annum
due 2023 (the “New Issuance”). The interest charged for the period is
calculated by applying an effective interest rate of approximately 12.61%
per annum. The modified notes under the Exchange Offer and the New
Issuance for an aggregate principal amount of US$450,000,000 were
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited on 10
March 2020.

On 30 October 2020, the Issuer issued additional notes with the
aggregate principal amounts of US$20,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB136,277,000), which were to be issued pursuant to an indenture
dated as of 10 March 2020. (collectively known as, the “New Senior
Notes”).

The New Senior Notes are:

(a)  carried interest at rate of 12% per annum and interest is payable
semi-annually in arrears on 10 March and 10 September of each
year, commencing from 10 September 2020 and will mature on
10 March 2023, unless redeemed earlier pursuant to the terms
thereof;

(b)  senior in right of payment to any existing and future obligations of
the Issuer expressly subordinated in right of payment to the New
Senior Notes;

(c)  at least pari passu in right of payment with all unsecured,
unsubordinated indebtedness of the Issuer (subject to any priority
rights of such unsecured unsubordinated indebtedness pursuant
to applicable law);

(d)  guaranteed by the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Company
(collectively the “Guarantors”) on a senior basis, subject to certain
limitations;

(e) effectively subordinated to the secured obligations if any, of the
Issuer and the Guarantors, to the extent of the value of the assets
serving as security therefor; and

(f) effectively subordinated to all existing and future obligations of the
subsidiaries of the Company other than the Guarantors.
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SENIOR NOTES AND BOND (contd)

Issue of RMB denominated domestic corporate bond due in 2021

On 26 August 2016, a subsidiary of the Company, Zhengxinglong
Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Zhengxinglong”) issued a
domestic corporate bond (the “Bond”) with a principal amount of
RMB2,600,000,000 and will be repayable in full by 26 August 2021.
Zhengxinglong has an option to increase the coupon rate from 6.5%
up to 7.5% per annum at the end of the third year (“2019 coupon
rate adjustment”). Zhengxinglong will make an announcement of the
determination on the coupon rate adjustment and irrespective of whether
adjustment will be made or not, the investor can exercise retractable
option within three working days from the third anniversary of the issue
date.

On 23 July 2019, with the consent of the bondholders, Zhengxinglong
make an announcement that Zhengxinglong shall have an option to
increase coupon rate by up to 2% per annum at end of the third and
fourth years from the issue date (“2019 coupon rate adjustment”).
Zhengxinglong will make an announcement of the determination on the
coupon rate adjustment and irrespective of whether adjustment will be
made or not, and the investor can exercise retractable option within five
working days from the third and fourth anniversary of the issue date.

On 8 August 2019, Zhengxinglong make an announcement that coupon
rate was increased from 6.5% to 8% per annum from 26 August
2019. Such increase in coupon rate is considered as debt modification
and a loss of RMB57,287,000 is recognised on such non-substantial
modification of financial liabilities.

On 26 August 2019, an investor exercised retractable option and
redeemed bonds with a principal amount of RMB486,474,000 and
the loss on early redemption of financial liabilities of RMB1,099,000 is
recognised during the year.

On 1 August 2020, Zhengxinglong make an announcement that coupon
rate was decreased from 8% to 7.88% per annum from 26 August
2020. Such decrease in coupon rate is considered as debt modification
and a loss of RMB1,810,000 is recognised on such non-substantial
modification of financial liabilities.

On 26 August 2020, an investor exercised retractable option and
redeemed bonds with a principal amount of RMB690,855,000 and
subsequently subscribed by certain investors in September 2020.
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35.

36.

SENIOR NOTES AND BOND (contd)

Issue of RMB denominated domestic corporate bond due in 2021 (Cont'd)

The Bond is listed in Shenzhen Stock Exchange (“SZX"). The interest
charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of
approximately 6.63% per annum since the Bond were issued.

The fair value of the Bond as at 31 December 2020 is
RMB2,101,267,000 (2019: RMB2,113,949,000) with reference to the
quoted market price of the Bond on SZX at the end of the reporting
period (the last trading day prior to 31 December 2020).

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Pursuant to the relocation and compensation agreement for urban
redevelopment projects, the Group agreed to compensate the original
residents with completed properties of respective urban redevelopment
projects upon completion of redevelopment. The estimated future
completion cost incurred for construction of these completed properties
is accounted as a provision, with a corresponding increase in properties
under development for sale. The provision will be released upon those
completed properties have been delivered to the original residents.
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37. SHARE CAPITAL 37. BA
2020 2019
Il k- 23 —E-NE
Number Number
of shares HK$'000 RMB'000 of shares HK$'000 RMB'000
RBHE THx ARBTR e T ARBTL
Authorised share capital of RRANEEIRA
the Company:
Ordinary shares of FREE.01ETH
HK$0.01 each L@k 30,000,000,000 300,000 240,000 30,000,000,000 300,000 240,000
Issued and fully paid share capital  AAREETRER
of the Company: A
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 FREE0L
each BTHERE
At 1 January w—A—H 5,050,459,611 50,504 42,060 4,942 241,524 49422 41141
Exercise of share options TR
(note 41) (Hiit41) 8,808,000 88 19 4,392,000 4 39
Conversion of convertible AR
preference shares (note) BRRMAE) 31,636,364 316 319 103,826,087 1,038 830
At 31 December W+ZA=1-H 5,096,903,975 50,968 42,458 5,050,459,611 50,504 42,060
Note: On 23 January 2020 and 10 August 2020, 13,636,364 and 24,000,000 Wt R=FT=FF—A=+=BER=ZF=FFNA+

shares of convertible preference shares issued on 30 November 2015 have
been converted into ordinary shares at the conversion price of HK$2.06 per

conversion preference share respectively.

On 29 April 2019, 22 November 2019 and 27 November 2019,
50,000,000, 17,826,087 and 36,000,000 shares of convertible preference
shares issued on 30 November 2015 have been converted into ordinary
shares at the conversion price of HK$2.06 per conversion preference share

respectively.

B - % 5%513,636,364% %24,000,0008% 1 = F —
AE+—-A=TRETNTRRELRE RSRA
BB L2 068 TR L RER B A EBAR -

RZFE-—hFWA=+HIB - ZT—hAFE+—A
Z+tZBRZZFE-AF+—A=++tH:  95AE
50,000,0000% ~ 17,826,087k% %36,000,0000% 7 —
T-AF+—A=+BEHTHNAIRREERE RS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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38. RESERVES 38. f#fE
2020 2019
—ECoEE —T-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Htat ARBTT ARETT
Share premium &7 m B 7,161,195 7,073,804
Convertible preference shares A AR B ST A (i) 5,999,201 6,064,905
Other reserves E b (i) (3,134,531) (11,637,887)
Exchange reserve bE 5 e 201,837 28,689
Investment revaluation reserve WE SR 82,464 148,393
Share option reserve (note 41) PRSI A (Y 41) 203,207 210,718
Statutory reserve JRIE (iii) 367,316 313,625
Retained profits REZEF 13,800,569 10,683,552
24,681,258 12,885,799

Notes: Hat -

The movements of the Group’s reserves for the year are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the consolidated financial
statements. The nature and purpose of the reserves are as follows:

(i) On 30 November 2015, the Company issued convertible preference
shares (the “2015 CPS”) at issue price of HK$2.06 per share, of which
3,413,473,023 CPS were issued to Mr. Wong for aggregate consideration
of HK$7,031,754,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB5,959,114,000) as
consideration for the Transaction as defined in note 38 (ii)(b).

Key terms of the 2015 CPS

Holders of the 2015 CPS will be entitled to receive notices of and to
attend the general meetings of the Company but are not permitted
to vote unless a resolution is proposed to vary the rights of holders
of the 2015 CPS or a resolution is proposed for the winding up of
the Company;

Holders of the 2015 CPS have the right to convert each 2015
CPS at any time into one ordinary share of the Company without
the payment of any additional consideration. The holders may not
exercise the conversion right if upon the conversion, the percentage
of ordinary shares held by the public will fall below the minimum
public float requirement under Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules. The
shares that are issued upon the exercise of the conversion right of
the 2015 CPS are not subject to any restriction;

The 2015 CPS cannot be redeemed by the Company or its holder;

Holders of 2015 CPS will have priority over the holders of ordinary
shares of the Company on the assets and funds of the Company
available for distribution in a distribution of assets on liquidation,
winding-up or dissolution of the Company;
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38. RESERVES (contd)
Notes: (Cont'd)
(i) (Cont'd)

Key terms of the 2015 CPS (Cont'd)

Subject to compliance with all applicable laws and the article of
association of the Company, each 2015 CPS shall confer on its
holder the right to receive a preferred distribution from the date of
the issue of the 2015 CPS at a rate of 0.2% per annum, payable
annually in arrear. Such preferred distribution is non-cumulative.
The board of directors may, in its sole discretion, elect to defer
or not to pay a preferred distribution. No interest accrues on
any unpaid preferred distribution. If the board of directors of the
Company elects to defer or not to pay a preferred distribution, the
Company cannot pay any dividends, distributions or make any other
payment to any ordinary shares of the Company.

On 7 February 2018, the Company entered into the Convertible Preference
Shares (the “2018 CPS”) subscription agreement with Silver Sure (BVI)
Investments Limited, an independent third party to the Group as the 2018
CPS subscriber pursuant to which the 2018 CPS subscriber agreed to
subscribe for 132,564,669 new CPS at an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$389.47 million (equivalent to RMB325.56 million). The
allotment and issue of 2018 CPS was completed on 21 February 2018.

Key terms of the 2018 CPS

Holders of the 2018 CPS will be entitled to receive notices of and to
attend the general meetings of the Company but are not permitted
to vote unless a resolution is proposed to vary the rights of holders
of the 2018 CPS or a resolution is proposed for the winding up of
the Company;

Holders of the 2018 CPS have the right to convert each 2018
CPS at any time into one ordinary share of the Company without
the payment of any additional consideration. The holders may not
exercise the conversion right if upon the conversion, the percentage
of ordinary shares held by the public will fall below the minimum
public float requirement under Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules. The
shares that are issued upon the exercise of the conversion right of
the 2018 CPS are not subject to any restriction;

The 2018 CPS cannot be redeemed by the Company or its holder;
and

Holders of 2018 CPS will have priority over the holders of ordinary
shares of the Company on the assets and funds of the Company
available for distribution in a distribution of assets on liquidation,
winding-up or dissolution of the Company;
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38. RESERVES (conta)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(0

(ii)

(Cont'd)

The details of the 2018 CPS are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 7 February 2018.

The 2018 CPS and 2015 CPS are classified as equity instruments in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Group does not have a
contractual obligation to deliver cash or other financial assets arising from
the issue of the 2018 CPS and 2015 CPS.

On 29 April 2019, 22 November 2019 and 27 November 2019,
50,000,000, 17,826,087 and 36,000,000 2015 CPS have been converted
into ordinary shares at the conversion price of HK$2.06 per conversion
preference share respectively. Up to the date of the authorisation for issue
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019, no 2018 CPS has been converted into ordinary shares of
the Company.

On 23 January 2020 and 10 August 2020, 13,636,364 and 24,000,000
2015 CPS have been converted into ordinary shares at the conversion price
of HK$2.06 per conversion preference share respectively. Up to the date of
the authorisation for issue of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020, no 2018 CPS has been converted
into ordinary shares of the Company.

Other reserves mainly comprise:

(a) A deemed contribution of an amount of HK$1,007,864,525
(equivalent to approximately RMB806,292,000) by China LVGEM,
the then immediate holding company of the Company, to acquire
approximately 75% of the then aggregate issued share capital of the
Company on 8 May 2014 (the “Acquisition”).

(b) A deemed distribution of an amount of HK$13,785,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB11,682,204,000) to Mr. Wong,
to acquire the entire equity interests in Green View Holding
Company Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Target Group”) (the “Transaction”). The Transaction
was completed on 30 November 2015. The amount of deemed
distribution comprised of issuance of 2,509,342 511 new
ordinary shares at issue price of HK$2.06 per ordinary share of
the Company amounted to HK$5,169,246,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB4,380,717,000), issuance of 3,413,473,023
convertible preference shares at issue price of HK$2.06 per
convertible preference shares amounted to HK$7,031,754,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB5,959,114,000), and cash
consideration of HK$1,584,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,342,373,000).
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38. RESERVES (contd)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(ii) Other reserves mainly comprise: (Cont'd)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The difference between the aggregate amount of share capital
and share premium of the Target Group and the Company at
the completion date of the Transaction, which amounted to
approximately RMB433,106,000.

On 28 December 2018, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with Mr. Wong to subscribe 90.1% equity interests in
Copious Favour Holdings Limited (“Copious Favour”), an investment
holding company wholly owned by Mr. Wong and Copious Favour
indirectly holds 44% equity interests in Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao
Investment Co., Ltd (“Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao”), which is a 51%
owned indirect subsidiary of the Company. Upon completion of
the subscription on 28 December 2018, Copious Favour became
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, while the Group’s
equity interests in Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao increased from 51% to
90.64%.

The difference between subscription amount and the attributable
net liabilities being acquired was included in other reserves.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, LVGEM Suzhou, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group as the purchaser
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with the non-controlling
shareholder of PVGL, an investment holding company non-wholly
owned by the Group, to acquire remaining 49% equity interest of
PVGL at the consideration of RMB29,410,000.

Upon completion of the transaction on 15 January 2020, PVGL
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, while the
Group’s effective equity interests in Prosper View increased from
51% to 100%. The difference between the consideration and the
non-controlling interests acquired was included in other reserves.
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38. RESERVES (contd)

39.

Notes: (Cont'd)

(ii)

(iii)

Other reserves mainly comprise: (Cont'd)

() On 25 August 2020, Greater Bay Area Intelligent City Limited, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“the Subscriber”),
Affluent Trade Investments Limited (“Affluent Trade”), Multiple
Ally Limited (“Multiple Ally”), and Victor Success Investments
Limited (“Victor Success”), and Mr. Wong, entered into subscription
agreements (“Subscription Agreements”). Upon completion of the
share subscription, Affluent Trade will be owned as to 70% and
30% by the Subscriber and Mr. Wong respectively, Victor Success
will be owned as to 75% and 25% by the Subscriber and Mr. Wong
respectively, and Multiple Ally will be owned as to 75% and 25%
by the Subscriber and Mr. Wong respectively and ICDL and its
subsidiaries became non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group.

The difference between the consideration paid which was nil by way
of share subscription and the attributable identifiable fair value of
the net asset acquired on those additional equity interest of 55%
of RMB8,496,395,000 were included in other reserves as capital
contribution by Mr. Wong. For details of the transaction, please refer
to note 39 (a).

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the Mainland China,
certain subsidiaries of the Company in the Mainland China are required
to maintain a statutory reserve which is non-distributable other than upon
the liquidation of the entity. Transfer to this reserve is made out of profit
after tax of the Mainland China subsidiaries’ statutory financial statements
which are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the Mainland China.

ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

As detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 25
August 2020, the Subscriber, Affluent Trade, Multiple Ally,
and Victor Success, and Mr. Wong, entered into Subscription
Agreements.

Before the transaction, each of Affluent Trade, Victor Success and
Multiple Ally was wholly owned by Mr. Wong and indirectly holds
25%, 24% and 26% equity interests in ICDL, respectively.

Pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, the Subscriber agreed
to subscribe for, and each of Affluent Trade, Victor Success and
Multiple Ally agreed to issue its shares in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Subscription Agreements.
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39. ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (cont'a)

(a)

(Cont'd)

Pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, the consideration
for the share subscription of Affluent Trade, Victor Success,
and Multiple Ally were RMB1,200,000, RMB1,380,000 and
RMB1,490,000, respectively, which shall be payable by the
Subscriber to each of Affluent Trade, Victor Success and Multiple
Ally in cash at completion, respectively.

Upon completion of the transaction, Affluent Trade is owned as
to 70% and 30% by the Subscriber and Mr. Wong respectively,
Victor Success is owned as to 75% and 25% by the Subscriber
and Mr. Wong respectively, and Multiple Ally is owned as to 75%
and 25% by the Subscriber and Mr. Wong respectively. Each of
Affluent Trade, Victor Success and Multiple Ally becomes a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Prior to the transaction,
ICDL was indirectly owned as to 25% by the Company and 25%,
24% and 26% by Affluent Trade, Victor Success and Multiple Ally,
respectively. After the completion, ICDL becomes a subsidiary of
the Company.

As it is an asset acquisition achieved in stages, the 25% equity
interests of ICDL, which previously accounted as an interest in
an associate by the Group, is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control),
resulting gain in connection with the deemed disposal of the
then associate of RMB3,893,561,000 was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss of the year.

As there is no actual cash outflow by the Group arising from the
abovementioned transaction, the attributable identifiable fair value
of the net asset acquired, representing additional 55% equity
interests of ICDL, of RMB8,496,395,000, were included in other
reserves as capital contribution by Mr. Wong.

ICDL and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in urban renewal
development project in Baishizhou which is located on Shennan
Avenue, Nanshan District, Shenzhen City and in proximity to
Science Park and the sub-district of Overseas Chinese Town, and
is regarded as a megasized urban renewal project in Shenzhen.
According to the approved specific development plan endorsed by
relevant government authority, the project has a capacity area of
3.58 million square meters and will be developed in four phases.
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39. ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (conta)

(a)

(Cont'd)

The fair value of individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed for the acquisition was determined by the
management of the Group, with support from Jones Lang
LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, which is a
firm of independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group. Specifically, direct comparison approach is used
for the valuation of properties under development for sale,
which is the most significant asset acquired by the Group. The
fair value of the properties under development for sale was
determined by reference to comparable market transactions,
and deducting estimated costs in obtaining the land, including
estimated outstanding land premium charge to be paid to relevant
government authority for acquisition of land use right, the unpaid
cost of housing demolition, relocation and resettlement, the
construction costs of resettlement housing, finance costs and
professional fees and the developer’s profit margin of the aforesaid
costs. Developer’s profit margin reflects the remaining risks
associated with the acquisition of land use right at the acquisition
date and the return that the developer would require for bringing
the project to completion status, which is determined based on
recent land transactions in the similar locations. Such fair value
was further adjusted by a risk discount considering the housing
demolition, relocation and resettlement were still in progress.
The risk discount factor was the arithmetic weighted mean of
the estimated progress rate by area (i.e. the signing completion
rate of relocation agreement with original residents) and the
expected time to complete the housing demolition, relocation and
settlement determined by management of the Group.
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39. ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (contd)

(a)

(Cont'd)

The acquisition was completed on 25 August 2020.

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition at fair

e MR M EE
30. R LA I 2 0 OB T R 0 )

(a) (#&)
WEEBEEN _ZT_FFN\A-_THAZTK °

REBABR AR BERRZEERAR

value:
RMB’000
AREFIT
Assets BE
Investment properties LEMZE 16,200
Property, plant and equipment LEN S & 427
Properties under development for sale BRERPEFEYE 22,104,534
Equity instruments at fair value through other BArBEFAEMEZARKGSCRATA
comprehensive income 48,042
Deferred tax asset EETRIBE E 49,767
Accounts receivable FEUSERE X 8,079
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables BfES - BN FIERE MR RIE 949,871
Restricted bank deposits ZRAIRITFR 923,110
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR LIRS 114,618
24,214,648
Liabilities &a&
Accounts payable FERTBRER 115,668
Accruals, deposits received and other payables ERTER - BMiES REA R RIE 947,301
Borrowings BE 2,733,000
Other non-current liabilities Hi3ERBBE 4,931,234
8,727,203
Net assets EEFE 15,487,445
ZE(PEDBERERRAT

ZETHFFR
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39. ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH 39.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (conta)
(a) (Cont'd)

Capital contribution from controlling shareholder arising on

EBUW

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—Z-ZF+_A=1+—HItFE

BHEBARKRREERER®

Wi IR A A MR R RSO E

acquisition:
RMB’000
ARETT
Consideration transferred BEENE -
Plus: interest in an associate o AR E R R AR S
— previously held interest at fair value —?Eﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁfﬁ?‘%ﬁ ol 3,871,861
— share of net liabilities previously held AMEERRFAENAEFE 21,700
Plus: non-controlling interests at proportionate iR Bl E BT B E v FEIERE R
share of net assets acquired 3,097,489
Less: net assets acquired B B EESE (15,487,445)
8,496,395
RMB’000
ARETT
Net cash inflows arising on acquisition and cash WEEEEAMNRSRAFREUKR
and cash equivalent balances acquired: BNERS KRS EEBMEH 114,618

(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2019, LVGEM Suzhou, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group as the purchaser
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with the non-
controlling shareholder of PVGL, an investment holding company
non-wholly owned by the Group, to acquire remaining 49% equity
interest of PVGL at the consideration of RMB29,410,000.

Upon completion of the transaction on 15 January 2020, PVGL
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, while the
Group’s effective equity interests in Prosper View increased from
51% to 100%. The difference between the consideration and the
non-controlling interests acquired was included in other reserve.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

39. ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (contd)

(c)

As detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 21 May
2019, Shenzhen LVGEM Real Estate Development Co., Ltd (“the
Purchaser”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
as the purchaser entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement on
21 May 2019, with Dongguan Lusheng Enterprise Investment Co.,
Ltd. (“the Vendor”), a company established in the Mainland China
with limited liability which is controlled by the family members of
Mr. Wong as the seller pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to
purchase, and the Vendor agreed to sell, 100% equity interest in
Dongguan LVGEM Real Estate Development Co., Ltd (“the Target
Company”) at a total consideration of RMB& million.

The Target Company is principally engaged in the development
of a commercial properties project located in Zhangmutou Town,
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, the Mainland China. The
acquisition is regarded as acquisition of assets and liabilities. The
acquisition was completed on 28 May 2019.

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition:

e VI HRAR MR

39. ZBWEHBATAUBEEREE®

(c)

MMARR B/ -_FT-NAFAA-+—RAZ
NERFL RZE-AFREA-+—H &
Yk EHEREZEFR AR (KRR ZEE
2EMBAR EAET  [EF]ERED
HREZFREARLQR(—MRPEAMK L
ZABRAR  HEEEZREKEES  (ER
575 [B7 DAL BEEREGE  But - B
FREBEMENRELERETARREHE
RBEERQB(BEAR ) Z100%4E - 42
B R AK8,000,0007T °

BRRARETERERMBEMNTEAMERER
EMBARRREZ MEYEERR - ZWIBEFRE
BREBEEREE IR _T-NAFRAAZ
TNABTEK -

NE R RERZEELAR

RMB’000
ARBTIT

Assets EE
Investment properties under development EREEME 291,024
Property, plant and equipment W - BB KRR 146
Properties under development for sale BRPGEYE 48,907
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables BfES - BN FRIERE A EYRIE 2,481
Other current assets HibRBIEE 847
Bank balances and cash WRITHEBRIRS® 306,970
650,375

Liabilities aE
Accounts payable FERTBRER 490
Accruals, deposits received and other payables EEtER - Bl e R EMERRIE 494,885
Borrowings BE 147,000
642,375
Net assets EEFE 8,000
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39. ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (contd)

(c) (Cont'd)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHIFE

39. ZBWEHBATIKRBEERERE®

() (&)
Total consideration: HRE

RMB’000
ARETT
Cash consideration paid BEffIReRE 8,000

Net cash inflows arising on acquisition: WHEEHEARIR S RAIERE -
RMB’000
ARETT
Consideration paid in cash LIRS FRRE (8,000)
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired & : EWER & KBS EYELH 306,970
298,970

Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ik iy e R R

40. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDAIRY 40. HEMNEBAF
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group entered into a BHEZZT—NFTA=1+—HILFE  x&EHF]
sale agreement to dispose of its 100% equity interest in Yiyang Zhonghe VHERE  ALEERZGRZEEFR QA
Real Estate Co., Ltd (“Yiyang Zhonghe”), a company which owned a ([R5HZ] - ZARRE —BHEIBERABRPFE
piece of land classified as properties under development for sale of W2 7 + 3 A R#27,496,0007T ) 2 100% A 4E F —
RMB27,496,000, to an independent third party. The disposal was BBUE=H  c HESER-_Z—hEF_A=-+—
completed on 21 February 2019. AR -
Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of disposal: RS RRERZEERERE -
RMB’000
AREFT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R& 14
Properties under development for sale BRPSEME 42,513
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables EfEE - TN IR R E M EWKIE 319
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBRIA S 1,343
44,189
Liabilities =0
Accruals, deposits received and other payables EETER - BddR e R EMER IR 51,090
Net liabilities B8EFE (6,901)
The net liabilities of Yiyang Zhonghe at the date of disposal was as mEPZRNEERBR BEFBEAT
follows:
RMB’000
AREFT
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBEFE (6,901)
Gain on disposal 2 33,300
Total consideration BRE 26,399
Satisfied by: ATHIF A A
Cash B 26,399
Net cash inflows arising on disposal: HETRNRSHRAFE :
RMB’000
ARETT
Total cash consideration received B SRELRE 26,399
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances disposed B EHERE KRS EEMES (1,343)
25,056
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41.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 14 November
2005 expired on 13 November 2015. On 2 June 2016, the Company
adopted a new share option scheme (the “Scheme”) at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 2 June 2016.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the board of directors may, at its discretion,
invite any executive or non-executive directors including independent
non-executive directors or any employees (whether full-time or part-
time) of the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies;
any discretionary objects of a discretionary trust established by any
employees, executive or non-executive directors of each member of the
Group or its associated companies; any consultants, professional and
other advisers to each member of the Group or its associated companies
(or persons, firms or companies proposed to be appointed for providing
such services); any chief executives or substantial shareholders of the
Company; any associates of any director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company; and any employees (whether full-time or
part-time) of substantial shareholders of the Company, provided that the
board of directors may have absolute discretion to determine whether
or not one falls within the above categories, (together, the “Participants”
and each a “Participant”), to take up options (“Option(s)”) to subscribe
for shares at a price determined in accordance with the paragraph
below.

In determining the basis of eligibility of each Participant, the board of
directors would take into account such factors as the board of directors
may at its discretion consider appropriate.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the date on which the Scheme is adopted i.e. 2 June
2016, after which period no further Options will be granted but in all
other respects the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect, and Options which are granted during the life of the Scheme may
continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant.

The exercise price of a share in relation to each Option granted under
the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the board of directors
and notified to a Participant and shall be at least the highest of:

(a)  the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the business day on which
an offer is accepted by the grantee or if such date of acceptance
by the grantee is not a business day, the immediately preceding
business day;
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

41. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (contd) 41. ARG EZANEES M2

(b)  a price being the average of the closing prices of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date on
which an offer is accepted by the grantee (provided that the new
issue price shall be used as the closing price for any business
day falling within the period before listing of the shares where the
Company has been listed for less than five business days as at the
date on which an offer is accepted by the grantee); and

(c)  the nominal value of a Company’s share.

The total number of shares, which may be issued upon exercise of all
Options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of shares in issue on the date of commencement of dealings in
the shares on the Stock Exchange (“Scheme Mandate Limit”), unless
the Company obtains an approval from its shareholders. Options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating such 10% limit.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Scheme, the maximum
number of the shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding Options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed
30% of the total number of shares in issue from time to time.

Unless approved by the shareholders, the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.

Offer of an option (“Offer”) shall be deemed to have been accepted by
any Participant (the “Grantee”) who accepts an Offer in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme and the option to which the Offer relates
shall be deemed to have been granted and to have taken effect when
the duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the Offer
duly signed by the Grantee together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the granting thereof is
received by the Company within 30 days from the date upon which the
Offer is made.

(b) BEBAEAR AW RESXABTE
R PTEIRA AR B T YT E R A2
AR EHNEARAZRE RAID A
BORAEEEER - RIFHTEERRERD L
MATHIREAEXARRHE): &

() —BRARFRMEE -

BT R Z A 8 R AR R EA A A B IR R 813K
HE A BRAER BTARN A AT EER
BONEXMAKEERE QD HTROZEAL0%
(TEH3RAERE D) - AR B BUS IR A9 HE A BIRR
S o st EZ10%RBEI Tt MAR B %A EMRKE K
R FE AR

BEZEZBEMEMBRTE - RITERZEAE LA
N B AR E A R AR A AT &I R B R B M AR ITE BV AT
BARITEBERER  RZAHETHROKE TSE
B B B TAR D A EEN30% ©

BRIFERCRELE - B RINER + =8 A BEETTE
RTe428E0BRE(BEETERMRITER
B ME BT RS T ETORMNAL - TEEH
BERTIRMDBEEIL%

ER2EE([HERA D LIRRZ AT R IR RE
BEZOHTEQ]D RS SEMED  MEHE
EMBONBNERARARAZARE  LEX
NREAWEHENE B30 RN - HEARAEZENE
P& #E B 28 ) AN 1% B 52 f<71.0078 TTAE AR 4% HH B AR Y
RER BBOABNBRENERASEBILE
R e

On 28 June 2016, the Company granted share options under the RZFE—RNFNAZ+N\R  ARRIREZTEIR
Scheme to certain Participants which will enable the Grantees to ET2mEERZLERE  CARARMRERQT
subscribe for a total of 285,800,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in & AN & #£285,800,0000% F A E1EO.01E LAY E i
the share capital of the Company. % o
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41. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (conta)

Details of the Options granted by the Company pursuant to the Scheme
and the Options outstanding as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December

2019 are as follows:

Date of grant

A
(dd/mmyyyy)
(B/B/%)

Exercisable
period

frEEm
(dd/mm/yyyy)
(B/A/%)

41.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

RGBS REHM =)

ARARRBZBRENBREIR _F_FF+
ZHA=t-BRZE-AFt A=+ —HHEAKTT

SRR BT

Number of options
BREHE

Balance at

1 January
2020
RZB-%%
-A-8
e

Transfer
during
the year

RERER

Granted Exercised Lapsed
during during during
the year the year the year

REREE REAGE RERKN
(Note 4)
()

Cancelled
during
the year

REMEE

Balance at

31 December
2020
RZB-%%
TZR=t-A
e

Exercise
price per
share

BRITRE
HK$
A

Executive directors (Note 1)

Executive directors (Note 2)

Executive directors (Note 3)

Employees (Note 1)

Employees (Note 2)

Employees (Note 3)

Others (Note 1)

Others (Note 2)

Others (Note 3)

BT830

yER W)

yER (W)

&Mzl

[E&(Mi22)

[ER(M23)

Etizl)

Ettriz2)

Eftiizs)

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016 0
2710612026
280062016
2710612026
2810612017 to
2710612026
80062017%
2710612026
28/06/2018 to
2710612026
28/062018%
2710612026
28/06/2016t0
2710612026
280062016
2710612026
2810612017 to
2710612026
810620172
2710612026
28/06/2018 to
2710612026
28/06/2018%
2710612026
28/06/2016t0
2710612026
280062016%
2710612026
2810612017 to
2710612026
800620172
2710612026
28/06/2018 to
2710612026
28/06/2018%
2710612026

10,500,000

10,500,000

14,000,000

63,510,000

63,870,000

85,968,000

3,900,000

900,000

1,200,000

- (2,760,000) =

- (2,440,000) =

- (3,608,000) =

10,500,000

10,500,000

14,000,000

60,750,000

61,430,000

81,960,000

3,900,000

900,000

1,200,000

1.846

1.846

1.846

1.846

1.846

1.846

1.846

1.846

1.846

253,948,000

- (8,808,000) =

245,140,000

Exercisable at the end of the period

BRI e

245,140,000
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41.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (contd)

Date of grant

A%
(ddimmiyyyy)
(B/R/%)

Exercisable
period

i
(ddimmiyyyy)
(B/R/%)

e VI HRAR MR

41. IR EZFHNEEEM =)

Number of options

Ehuaze

Balance at

1 January
2019
RZB-NE
-A-A
o33

Transfer
during
the year

RERER

Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Balance at Exercise
during during during during 31 December price per
the year the year the year the year 2019 share
= il
—A=1-A
REMRE  RERGE  RERXE  RERH i BRAEE
(Note 4) HKS
(3t4) AT

Executive directors (Note 1)

Executive directors (Note 2)

Executive directors (Note 3)

Employees (Note 1)

Employees (Note 2)

Employees (Note 3)

Others (Note 1)

Others (Note 2)

Others (Note 3)

HHEZWEL)

$ER ()

#1782 (HH3)

EEWz1)

E&WH2)

EAW3)

Ethizl)

Afb(Hi2)

Etb(Hets)

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016

28/06/2016 0
27106/2026
28006120162
27106/2026
28/06/2017 to
27106/2026
28006120172
27106/2026
28/06/2018 0
27106/2026
28006120182
27106/2026
28/06/2016t0
27106/2026
28006120162
27106/2026
28/06/2017 to
27106/2026
28006120172
27106/2026
28/06/2018 0
27106/2026
28006120182
27106/2026
28/06/2018 o
27106/2026
2800620182
27106/2026
28/06/2018 o
27106/2026
28/06/2018%
27106/2026
28/06/2018 10
27106/2026
28006120182
27106/2026

13,950,000

13,950,000

18,600,000

65,490,000

65,850,000

87,300,000

3,000,000

(3,450,000)

(3,450,000)

(4,600,000)

2,550,000

2,550,000

3400000

900,000

900,000

1,200,000

- - - - 10,500,000 1846

B} . - - 10500000 186

= = = = 14,000,000 1846

- (1,440,000)  (3,090,000) - 63)510,000 1846

- (1,440,000 (3,090,000) - 63870,000 1846

- (1,512,000 (4,120,000 - 85,568,000 1846

= = = = 3,900,000 1846

= = = = 900,000 1846

= = = = 1,200,000 1846

268,640,000

- (43920000 (10,300,000) - 253948000

Exercisable at the end of the year

ERUFE

253,948,000
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41.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (contd)

Note 1:The options were vested immediately on the date of grant.

Note 2: The options granted are subject to the vesting period from the date of grant
up to 27 June 2017.

Note 3:The options granted are subject to the vesting period from the date of grant
up to 27 June 2018.

Note 4:The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise for share options
during the year was HK$2.62 (2019: HK$2.74) per share.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 8,808,000 shares
(2019: 4,392,000 shares) were exercised at RMB14,574,000 (2019:
RMB?7,188,000).

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before 28 June
2016, the date of grant, was HK$1.820.

There is no performance condition for the Options to vest.

The fair values of the Options determined at the date of grant using the
Binomial Option Pricing Model were HK$276,156,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB236,030,000). During the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019, no expense was incurred in relation to share options
granted by the Company.

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the best estimate of the
directors of the Company. Changes in variables and assumptions may
result in changes in the fair value of the Options.
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43.

F_TFE+_A=t+—HILFE

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Hong Kong

The Group has joined a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is
registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rule of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the
required contributions under the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from the MPF
Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss represent
contributions payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the scheme.

The Mainland China

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the government of the Mainland China. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their employees to
the state-managed retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.

During the year, the retirement benefit scheme contributions amounted
to RMB8,085,000 (2019: RMB28,243,000). Forfeited contributions
could not be used by the Company to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing properties commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristic of
the underlying assets.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt to equity ratio.
For this purpose the net debt is defined as borrowings less cash and
cash equivalents. The Group’s goal in capital management is to maintain
a net debt to equity ratio at a reasonable level. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group’s overall strategy in capital management remains unchanged
from prior year.

42.

43.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

4. BHEAREENBREBE

OBJECTIVES
Categories of financial instruments Sm T AER
2020 2019
—ECEH —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REER AT ENSRIEE 10,586,447 9,350,951
Equity instrument at fair value through other R AR BEFFAEMEERZEZ
comprehensive income BRART A 501,261 541,125
Financial liabilities SRas
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1&Z# Rk At BN S R E & 32,392,095 27,721,441
Derivative financial instruments PTEEmMIT A 111,612 222207
Lease liabilities HEas 102,373 118,054

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks: currency risk,
interest rate risk, price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management focuses on unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Group currently does not have any written
risk management policies and guidelines. However, the directors of
the Company meet periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to
manage and monitor financial risks.

The Group is not engaged in the trading of financial assets for speculative

purposes. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is
exposed are described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (conta)

44.1

44, BBEREENBREREE S

e VI HRAR MR

Currency risk 44.1 E¥ER
Certain subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency ARNRHETHBARZ BB EENE BAINE
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which expose the FHE - AEBAEGRINER R o ANEEHRRI
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not have EERINER IR 2 BER o A - BEEEERY)
a policy to hedge the foreign currency exposure. However, the EEHINERE - WRNERERZEEEIN
management monitors the related foreign currency fluctuation MR HA S A AR E R HMNER R ©
closely and will consider entering into foreign exchange forward
contracts to hedge significant portion of the foreign currency risk
should the need arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency REBLINESH B EREEREEBERR
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the SR REERAT ¢
reporting date as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE 8fE
2020 2019 2020 2019
et S 23 —E-NF ZECBF —ENEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT AR¥ T ARETT
uss$ ETT 209,714 279,351 3,872,213 1,153,875
HK$ BT 320,410 442 438 2,436,163 1,860,657

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of US$ and HKS.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in RMB against the relevant foreign currency.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to directors of the Company’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items assuming the balances at the
end of the reporting period outstanding for the whole year and
adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in
profit where RMB strengthen 5% against the relevant currency.
For a 5% weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit, and the
balances below would be negative.

AEETEmBETRETEERR -

TRFF A B AR AR INEIRIRS%
M BLRKE o 5% B[R A R E = R EDHE NS
RSP MAGURE L E - RIRARBEE
HOMNEIE R IR SID A e BB 2 5T -

FRENTEBIBAINENE 2 HA N EE
BE (REBREPRESRBEAFEAREE

A 74 6 A B LA SMNEE B SR S 35 % 1R I 3 S 2K -
THZEEHEFRBRARBEBEINETE
5% - BFIGHZIN - ARBIEBBING
2E5%H - BANHEREERERTZE M
TIESRERAL -
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (conta)

44. BEEREEBENBERRBEZE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

44.1 Currency risk (Cont'd) 441
Sensitivity analysis (Cont'd) R T ()
2020 2019
—E_EF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTFT
us$ EYH
Profit or loss B 137,344 32,795
HK$ BT
Profit or loss Bm 79,341 53,183
In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is EEERAE  ARFREBRTRERFARRE -
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year BURE DT AREER R ATERIINE BBz o
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
44.2 Interest rate risk 44.2 FEER

The Group has significant borrowings (see note 33 for details)
with floating interest rate which are exposed to cash flow interest-
rate risk. Certain bank loans and certain other borrowings, certain
restricted bank deposits, certain bank balances, convertible
bonds, senior notes and bond, and lease liabilities (see note 32
for details) carried at fixed rate which exposed the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. During the year, the Group has not hedged
its cash flow and fair value interest rate risks.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate borrowings at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 (2019: 50) basis
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to directors of the Company’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (conta)

44.2

44.3

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis (Cont'd)

If interest rates had been 50 (2019: 50) basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year would decrease/increase by approximately
RMB14,490,000 (2019: RMB24,538,000), net of interest that
would be capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy.

Sensitivity analysis on bank deposits is not presented as the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s exposure to
interest rate fluctuations on bank deposits is insignificant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by
the Group is arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position and the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in
note 48.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its accounts
and other receivables, amounts due from a joint venture,
related companies and non-controlling interests, and amount
of contingent liabilities in relation to the financial guarantees
provided by the Group. The amounts presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position are net of allowances
for credit losses, estimated by the Group’s management based on
prior experience and their assessment of the current economic
environment.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and
customers, except for amounts due from a joint venture, a
subcontractor, related parties and non-controlling interests of
RMB786,155,000 (2019: RMB829,310,000) in aggregate as
at 31 December 2020. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited
because the funds have been deposited with various creditworthy
financial institutions located in Hong Kong and the Mainland
China.

e P RRME
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44.3
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (conta)

44.3 Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2020, the directors of the Company
considered that the default risk for other receivables, amounts due
from a joint venture, related parties and non-controlling interests
is very low due to their sound credit worthiness, financial position
and historical repayment records.

For amount due from a joint venture, the management of the
Group assessed the profitability of the underlying project of the
joint venture and its recoverability. Due to its profitability, the
directors of the Company considered that the default risk is low.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

For properties under development which are subject to pre-sales
agreements, the Group generally typically provides guarantees
to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing of
mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties for
certain amount of the total purchase price of the property. If a
purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage during the
term of guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage may demand
the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and any
accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to forfeit the customer's purchase deposit and sell the
property to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the bank.
Therefore, the management considers it would likely recover
any loss incurred arising from the guarantee by the Group. The
management considers the credit risk exposure to financial
guarantees provided to property purchasers is limited because
the facilities are secured by the properties and the market prices
of the properties are higher than the guaranteed amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

As at 31 December 2020, the directors of the Company
considered that the default risk for the accounts receivable
is very low and the lifetime ECL recognised is approximately
RMB7,002,000 (2019: reversal of RMB58,000).
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (conta)

44. BEEREENBERE

44.4 Liquidity risk 444 REBELEK

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the Group does not have any
significant liquidity risk exposure.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
to ensure that the Group maintains sufficient reserves of cash
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term
financial liabilities.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the non-derivative financial
liabilities, based on undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on current rates at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay.

Specifically, for term loans which contain a repayment on demand
clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole discretion, the
analysis shows the cash outflows based on the earliest period
in which the Group can be required to pay, that is if the lenders
were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with
immediate effect. The maturity analysis for other bank borrowings
is prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates.

REERSE SRR - NEEEENMERIR
ERREEBYMEINEERERRTERHKT
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OBJECTIVES (conta)

44, BBEREENBEREE®)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

44.4 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 444 FEBESEKE)
Total
Weighted Less than After 1 After 2 contractual
average 1 year year hut years hut undiscounted
effective oron less than less than After cash Carrying
interest rate demand 2 years 5 years 5 years flows amount
il 352 —FR% —ENE MELL AREH
ERF= RER MELR AEFELHR If#k RERELE WREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TRE AR%TT AR¥Tr AR¥Tr AR%ETn AR¥Txn
2020 - o 33
Financial liabilities SRAE
Accounts payable FERTRRER - 1,262,086 - - - 1,262,086 1,262,086
Accruals and other FESTBR R EM
payables [ AnERE] - 479,495 - - - 479,495 479,495
Borrowings 58 5.76 9,120,355 4417788 11,466,582 1,537,982 26,542,707 23,864,489
Senior notes and bond BEZERESR 9.70 2,591,472 368,004 3,250,705 - 6,210,181 5,366,051
Convertible bonds AR ES 1348 95,465 97,029 1,874,989 - 2,067,483  1,531,586*
Leases liabilities HERE 9.50 26,226 26,226 54,663 41,949 149,064 102,373
Financial guarantee BBERAL
contracts (note 48) (fi#48) - 2,128,831 - - - 2,128,831 -
15,703,930 4,909,047 16,646,939 1,579,931 38,839,847 32,606,080
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND

OBJECTIVES (contd)

e VI HRAR MR

i
V=

44. BEEREENBERE

includes the carrying amount of the related derivative components.

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that
amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based
on the expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood
that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

44.4 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 444 REBESREKE)
Total
Weighted Less than After 1 After 2 contractual
average 1 year year but years but undiscounted
effective oron less than less than After cash Carrying
interest rate demand 2 years 5 years 5 years flows amount
ETS —EFR —FNE MENAE AREL)
EIRF|% REX MELA AFUR TF% ReREEE BREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETr ARETT ARETT AR®TRT ARETR
2019 “T-NE
Financial liabilities SHAR
Accounts payable e RN = 1,111,831 = = = 1,111,831 1,111,831
Accruals and other ST BRREM
payables TR - 528,998 - - - 528,998 528,998
Borrowings £ 6.29 5,022,406 4,834,740 11,345,649 1,950,810 23,153,605 19,456,079
Senior notes and bond BEEBRESR 7.89 5,274,980 - - - 5,274,980 5,027,123
Convertible bonds AaRES 1283 1,787,118 - - - 1,787,118 1,715464*
Leases liabilities HEARE 9.50 33,218 29,615 71,702 40,754 175,289 118,054
Financial guarantee BBERAL
contracts (note 48) (H:#48) - 2,132,390 = = - 2132390 =
15,890,941 4864355 11,417,351 1,991,564 34,164,211 27,957,549
o The carrying amount of the convertible bonds disclosed here * IEFFER AR ESRAESERBEITE

THEFDMREE -

EREF AR BEREONFIARMI ZET7E
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (conta)

44. BEEREEBENBERRBEZE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

44.4 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 444 FEBESEKE)
The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of term TR EZRERERERNERETIRE
loans with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed KRS TEER A EBNEIER ST - Z
scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. The ZLHERRIBRAHNMNETENF BFIA -
amounts include interest payments computed using contractual It ZESBERA LRBHA S TP RE KR
rates. As a result, these amounts were greater than the amounts HEEARENSEAS - EXNASENTH
disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the maturity analysis RS - EBERARIT PRI TR ENISES
above. Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the SKENRF B - ERBEZETHEFFZER
directors do not consider that it is probable that the banks will HhEFTERT e E S A HAfEE -
exercise their discretion to demand immediate repayment.
The directors believe that such term loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.
Maturity analysis of term loans subject to a repayment on demand A IEE K ERGRA T B E SRR EE 5 B
clause based on scheduled repayments is as follows: HAREIEAA AT T
Total
On Less than 6to 1to5 undiscounted Carrying
demand 6 months 12 months years cash flows amount
~MERE KITRBE
BRERX  DORKEA +=@R —£EZuHfF REAE HREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥ETR AR%TR ARETR AR®Tr ARETR
31 December 2020 —ZE T4
+=—A=+—8H - 937,620 637,911 16,368 1,591,899 1,568,806
31 December 2019 —Z— N4
+—A=+—~H - 41,894 355,880 318,366 716,140 689,850
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (conta)

44.5

44.6

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in connection with equity
instrument at FVTOCI. The Group closely monitors the fluctuation
of the trading prices and value of underlying assets and assesses
the impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

If prices of equity security has been 5% higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s investment
revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB18,797,000 (2019: RMB20,292,000).

The Group was also exposed to other price risk arising from the
outstanding derivative financial instruments with predetermined
maturity date. The fair value of these derivative financial
instruments was calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model detailed in note 34.

However, the management considers that the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent market risk as the pricing
model used in the fair value valuation of these derivative financial
instruments which involves multiple variables are interdependent
and the Group’s exposure to fluctuation of the fair value is
minimal.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines
fair values of various financial assets and financial liabilities.

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair value,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third
party qualified valuer to perform the valuation or to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

44. BEEREENBERE

44.5
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e IR M

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND

OBJECTIVES (contd)
44.6 Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Cont'd)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at 31 December
Rt-A=+-BHAAER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

44, BIEEREENBEREE®)

FAEEHSEREEREHEENSRESNR
BAREBENE - TRENREHENAIEEZS
PREENRSREBBEAABENEN(LER
FRER A MO E R RS A BR)

Valuation technique(s) and
key input(s)
HRERTRTEGASE

Significant unobservable input(s)
TETARRBAYIE

2020 2019
Financial assets/ —E-EE —Z-hE Fair value
financial liahilities RMB'000 RMB’000 hierarchy
SREE/SRER ARETRT ARBTT AREEZR
Derivative financial instruments 111,612 222,207 Level 3
PTESMIA £=
Equity instrument at fair value through 447,042 541,125 Level 1
other comprehensive income
RO BEG AR MEEKE 2 RA £—&

TH
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Binomial option pricing model The
fair value is estimated based on
the risk free rate, discount rate,
share price, volatility of the
share prices of the Company,
dividend yield and exercise
price.

“EABEEEEA DA ERD
RERBRAE  BRE R
B ARFRERE  KREX
RITEEMREE

Quoted bid price in an active
market.

SEEIEPAUN LR

Volatility of the share prices
determined by reference to
the historical share prices of
the Company (Note 1).

REZANAELRERETE
M ERE (L) -

N/A

TEm
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e VI HRAR MR

HE—Z-TF+_A=1+—HItFE
44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 44. BHEREAREENBEREBE®)
OBJECTIVES (Contd)
44.6 Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Cont'd) 446 SRMIBEMNAABEFT=E(E)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities AR SR ELA DB
that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Cont'd) ERTEEENALEEE)
Fair value as at 31 December
Rt=A=+-BHNAAEE
2020 2019

Financial assets/ —EC-8E —T-NF Fairvalue  Valuation technique(s) and

financial liabilities RMB'000 RMB'000 hierarchy  key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)

SREE SRAE ARBTT  ARETT DAAEEZR AERGRIZBAHE TEFUERRAEE

Equity instrument at fair value through 54,219 - Level 3 Market approach by applying The ratio of market capital to net

other comprehensive income market multiples such as the book value from comparable

ratio of market capital to net companies is determined
book value from comparable by the mean of comparable
companies and adjusted companies as at the valuation
by discount on lack of date (Note 2)
marketability

RARBEFALMEERE 2 RA =R THE BRRRUENRLAR  AENBRAATSEREHE

I& PAliEe = QMW%§$EQ EFEZEETIATE LR

REFELE) TRz
BRBE LR

ARREERH FHEE
E(HfaE2)

Discount for lack of marketability
taking into account the
external valuer's estimate on
the length of time and effort
required by the management
to dispose of the equity
interest which is determined
as 15% to 20% (Note 2)

BRIV EMEERE
SRS 2 B AR
ZBNERZEE - B2
St 2 T EEE R15%
ZE20%(Hizt2)

B (hE)HEREERAF 209

ZETHFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 44. BiKEREENBERREE@®)

OBJECTIVES (contd)

44.6 Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Cont'd) 446 SBMIANDAEE

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Cont'd)

Notes:

Note 1:The higher the volatility of the share prices of the Company, the
higher the fair value of the derivative financial instruments, and vice
versa. For the volatility of the share prices of the Company used
in the fair value measurement for derivative financial instruments,
please refer to note 34.

Note 2:The higher the ratio of market capital to net book value from
comparable companies, the higher the fair value of the equity
instrument, and vice versa. The higher of the discount for lack
of marketability, the lower the fair value of the equity instrument,
and vice versa. No sensitivity is presented as the directors of the
Company considered that the slight change in relevant inputs would
not have a significant impact to the fair values.

There is no transfer between different levels of the fair value
hierarchy for both years.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

F0 4 i
B =T

Bt -

Bl - ARRARBRERERS  TESBRTANRA
BEIES R2TA- ARITESRTA
AR BEFEMRANARRRERE &
2HMIEE34

Kiaz2 : Al B LR R 2 5 B A E S ARE FE L X
B BATANAABERNES  R27F
R RZTHRBMEZITEDS  BRATA
MARBERDE  RZITAA - ARAAT
EER/ERB AR EMESHETEY
ARBEELEATE  WHE2IISE -

REEFE 2R EESRERZERES

FE=RAREEAEBNEER

Conversion option derivative

RBHETETA

2020 2019

—ECoEE —T-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETT

Net carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BEEFE 222,207 198,105

Derecognition of derivatives BIEERITET A (143,196) =

Recognition of derivatives BRITETHR 130,624 =
Fair value (gain) loss recognised in RERERAN AR EEKE) BB

profit or loss (93,506) 20,170

Exchange difference & Z=%E (4,517) 3,932

Net carrying amount as at 31 December B +=A=+—HHKKREFE 111,612 222 207
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—Z-TF+_A=1+—HItFE

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND  44.

OBJECTIVES (conta)
44.6 Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Cont'd)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Cont'd)

e VI HRAR MR

MBEREENBRREE@®

446 ERMTANDIAEBEFEE)

BEEHAEE
ifz/g /fﬁ

Equity instrument at
fair value through other
comprehensive income

BRARBEFAHM

2EWFZRATE

2020

—ETF

RMB’000

AREFIT

Net carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 and 2020 —NER_ZT_ZF—-A—BHNREFE -

Acquired on an acquisition of a subsidiary (note 39 (a)) EAuﬂlﬁﬁ FEIBT B A IR A (H2239(a)) 48,042
Fair value gain recognised in other comprehensive REMEEREERH AL BEKE

income 6,177

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 REZZ_TF+=A=1+—HMNEREFE 54,219

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are
not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but fair value
disclosures are required)

Except for the senior notes and bond as detailed in note 35, the
directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and liabilities recorded as amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values.

The fair value of such financial assets and financial liabilities
(categories within Level 3 hierarchy) are determined in accordance
with general accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount
rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

1&E

1=

B EE3bR M 2 BERBE R ESI - AR
REERR  REEMBHMERNIREHK AT
FHemEERABNREEEZEAABER

et

= o

FHRzREERERABHNAABEIBS
i&*E%J%)E*EF%EAHEEEEE%/RE’J}WE’J—
RAREBEAETE - AP REZNHARE
RRMRZZEHFEERBABLIRE -

(TR HERERRIA

ZETHFFR
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES

45. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

45. REERBEL 2 BBYR

TERRASEREEZYELZ ABZYFE - 25
RelFRe2y MEFDELEZEBIRRS
REBABKRRERERNAERBZGARERERS
BRmBERSREREZAE -

Debt Derivative
component component
of of
Dividend convertible  Senior notes convertible Lease
payables Borrowings honds and hond honds Liahilities Total
AR ARR
&% BEEER EHITE
ENfRE &8 BERHS &% IAHS HESE e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2020 R-E-F&—F—H - 19,456,079 1,493,257 5,027,123 222,207 118,054 26,316,720
Financing cash flows BMEMRER (282,672) 1,280,385 (288,607) (41,059) = (26,225) 641,822
Acquisition of a subsidiary WK B AT - 2,733,000 - - - = 2,733,000
Foreign exchange translation ~ YMNEHRE - (868,372) (102,656) (270,593) (4,517) - (1,246,138)
Interest expenses FIERHY - 1,263,397 285,303 519,199 - 10,544 2,078,443
Fair value adjustment A EEAZ - - - - (93,506) - (93,506)
Loss on non-substantial RBSER AR 2
modification of financial SRAEN
liabilities at amortised cost FEREEFE - - - 131,381 - = 131,381
Loss on substantial modification A/ ER 2 EA
of convertible bonds S2EEE - - 32,677 = (12,572) - 20,105
Dividend declared EIRRE 282,672 - - - - - 282,672
At 31 December 2020 RZEZTE
+-A=t+—-H - 23,864,489 1,419,974 5,366,051 111,612 102,373 30,864,499
At 1 January 2019 RZE—NF—F—A - 16,541,796 1,381,645 5,400,969 198,105 - 23522515
Adjustment upon application of &R ABEI KR ERIS
HKFRS 16 165718 2 A% - - - - - 131,723 131,723
At 1 January 2019 R=ZF-h&—HA—H - 16,541,796 1,381,645 5,400,969 198,105 131,723 23,654,238
Financing cash flows BEMERSR (234,207) 1,356,160 (88,155) (889,899) = (25,598) 118,301
Acquisition of a subsidiary WK B AR = 147,000 = = = = 147,000
Foreign exchange translation ~ JMNEBRE - 224,306 27,530 46,426 3,932 - 302,194
Interest expenses FERAY = 1,186,317 172,237 411,241 = 11,929 1,782,224
Fair value adjustment AREEHE - - = = 20,170 = 20,170
Loss on non-substantial TRE SR AR
modification of financial SRAEL
liabilities at amortised cost FEREEEE = = = 57,287 = = 57,287
Loss on early redemption of ~ FRATEE B E SHAK A FIIBR
financial liabilities at amortised 24 @& & FE
cost - - - 1,099 - - 1,099
Dividend declared ERRE 234,207 = = = = = 234,207
At 31 December 2019 R=F—h&
T =0 - 19,456,079 1,493,257 5,027,123 222,207 118054 26,316,720
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BET_TFt_A=t—RALFE
46. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital and other commitments

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following
commitments:

46.

e VI HRAR MR

RIE
(a) BEREMEE

RIBERR » NEBAATANE

2020 2019
—ECEF —ZTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTR AREFT
Contracted but not provided for: EHESEF R
— Investment properties under —EEIEEYME

development 32,787 -
— Properties under development for sale —BRPEEME 3,407,074 1,692,469

— Acquisition of the rights of an urban — W — TR T
redevelopment project HE AR - 40,000
3,439,861 1,732,469

(b)  Operating lease arrangements
The Group as lessor

All of the properties held for rental purposes have committed
lessees for the next one and fourteen years.

Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

(b)) REHEZH

TR EL AR EREEE — R+ OFHE
BEAEAMA -

HEREREENFOT

2020 2019
—E-EH ZE-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFIT
Within one year —FA 505,136 488,373
In the second year F_4F 429,446 383,816
In the third year E=4F 327,592 244,789
In the fourth year Ekes 250,752 145,996
In the fifth year ERF 164,127 108,250
After five years hF%E 298,171 230,413
1,975,224 1,601,637
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

47. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

(a)

(b)

Pledge of assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
assets being pledged for bank and other borrowings.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—Z-ZF+_A=1+—HItFE
47. EEER
(a) EEKH

REIEHR - AEEUTEEERERIERR
TREMEEZER -

2020 2019

—E_FF —E—hF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETT

Properties under development for sale BERPGEWSE 2,071,008 2,893,324
Properties held for sale FEME 1,436,806 618,954
Investment properties LBy 19,408,275 20,557,312
Property, plant and equipment LEN S E T 802,444 925,831
Pledged bank deposits PIRRI TR 2,671,572 1,348,651
26,390,105 26,344,072

Note: As at 31 December 2020, except for assets pledged above, secured
bank loans with aggregate amount of RMB4,984,327,000 (2019:
RMB3,256,201,000) and secured other borrowings with amount of
RMB2,124,292,000 (2019: RMB50,000,000) are secured by the
equity interests of subsidiaries of the Group (see also note 33).

Restrictions on assets

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB102,373,000 are recognised
with related investment properties of RMB178,200,000 as at 31
December 2020 (2019: lease liabilities of RMB118,054,000 and
related investment properties of RMB216,600,000). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor and the
relevant leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.
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Frit: M—BE-FE+-_A=1+—8" K LK
B2EEN BEFARTERELSTFAR
#4.984,327,0007C( = FE — AL F: AR
3,256,201,0007 ) R BHEFHEMEE AR
#2124,292,0007( Z T — L F: AR
50,000,0007T ) 1 A& BBt B A 7] 2 ARAE 1R
H(FERRF2EMEI3) ©

(b) EERS

AN - RZZB-BE+ - A=+—BREBRR
B ARY178,200,000 T EARHEE B BEA
R#102,373,000(ZE— N : HEAE
AR ¥118,054,0007T M HFAKREMER/AR
#216,600,0007T) - RN B AFMFEEHEE
BENEITEDR  AEHE L EmINERZ
& BHEHEEEENSREER M ARG E
5o
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BE"

48.

F_TFE+_A=t+—HILFE

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had financial
guarantee contracts relating to guarantees in respect of mortgage
facilities for certain purchasers amounting to approximately
RMB2,128,831,000 (2019: RMB2,132,390,000). The guarantees
are secured by the Group’s pledged bank deposits amounting to
RMB69,650,000 (2019:RMB94,021,000).

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default on the
mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to
repay the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks.

The Group’s guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the earlier of the buyer obtaining
the individual property ownership certificate or the full settlement of
mortgage loan by the buyer.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group issued financial guarantee to a
bank in respect of banking facility granted to an independent third party
with an amount of RMB89,200,000.

The directors of the Company consider that it is not probable for the
Group to sustain a loss under these mortgage guarantees as during the
periods under guarantees, the Group can take over the ownerships of
the related properties and sell the properties under default to recover any
amounts paid by the Group to the banks. The Group has not recognised
these guarantees as their fair value at initial recognition is considered
to be insignificant by the directors of the Company. The directors of
the Company also consider that the fair market value of the underlying
properties is able to cover the outstanding mortgage loans guaranteed by
the Group in the event that the purchasers default payments to the banks
for their mortgage loans. The director considers that it is not probable
for the Group to sustain a loss under the guarantee for the independent
third party as during the periods under guarantee due to its sound credit
worthiness, financial position and historical repayment records.

48.

e P RRME

BBEREN

BE_Z-_ZF+_A=-+t—BLEFE x%H
RETETNRERERKERNUBEREH
MR/ AR2128831,000L(ZT—F: AR
%2B2womwm BRERAARSEE M EIRR

THERAR69,650000L(ZF—HEF: AR
94,021,00075)f’Eiﬁﬁﬁl3
REBERGER  MZEETERIZBAR QRS

EAAREERNAENNZEETERENETE
MERTTEVEM R 8 R ES -

AEBNERMAARZEBEFREANE B
BB EAFEMGHEERBEBERBERA
REER/E)FRLE -

R-_E_ZTFE+_A=+—H AEERRFTEL
FE-FZRITABRRITRITUBER  €EAA
R #89,200,0007T °

ARABEFRR  AEERERBE KA 88 EZ
ERBERMIZEE - MASEEEZHNERT
AEREEHEMENMARTHERBYE - NkE
AEBMBITINOEFASHE - ARERREER
RZEERRNIBABHNRIABELTIEKR - &
AEBARERZEFER - ARAEETRA M
BFEREERITERBEFR  HENENDIATE
RUABBAKEMMERNAERRIBEN - EER
B BARBYE=72EE UHERREBEER
LSRR AT - MAKBERERPETAT EEELE
=2 ERMEZEE -

(TR HERERRIA

=T~ TG

215
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RE B RRM

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 49. BBEEA RS
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, BRZESAUBREEMIOFAEEEIN - AEE
the Group has the following transactions with related parties during the FREREE T ETHIZ ST
year:

() HEEBHETHRS

(a)  Transactions with related parties

2020 2019
—ECEF —ZT—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Interest expenses paid to Shenzhen RRIIMREZE 2R ARA R
Forsafe System Technology Co., (DRI Z ) (— RS
Ltd. (“Shenzhen Forsafe”), an entity FiEl 2 B8N 2FERAX
controlled by ultimate controlling party - 2,731
(b)  Balances with related parties (h) FAWEAz&e
Details of the balances with related parties at the end of the RS BAR BRRAESE 7 2 S RRET BN AR & I HS AR
reporting period are disclosed in the consolidated statement of SRR M MFEL7 « 26 M30FF R -
financial position and notes 17, 26 and 30.
(c) Key management personnel compensation (c) FEEEAESHM
The directors are of the opinion that the key management FERE FTEEEABEREARFTNITE
personnel were solely the executive directors of the Company. Fo BNARTMITESTOFH MR ELLF

Remuneration paid to the Company’s executive directors is R o
disclosed in note 11.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 50. A=A RIBKEAMRRE

COMPANY
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB RARNRE 3,381,353 3,381,353
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURH B A R FKIE 10,174,378 8,854,131
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB REE 32,880 27,760
Right-of-use asset PRAEEE 24,939 37,950
13,613,550 12,301,194
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGBS 4,773,422 4,670,869
Deposits paid, prepayments and Bftee - BN RIE RE A EKFIE
other receivables 1,521 5,068
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHREIRS 449,495 602,626
5,224,438 5,278,563
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals and other payables FERTE R R E MR RE 10,849 62,309
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE B B A R FRIR 2,183,353 1,492,519
Borrowings BE 1,740,021 570,748
Debt component of convertible bonds AR EHEIS D = 663,521
Derivative component of convertible bonds ~ RI# X ESLTA T AZLH - 72,292
Lease liabilities HEAE 12,259 12,507
3,946,482 2,873,896
Net current assets REBEEFE 1,277,956 2,404,667
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERARBEE 14,891,506 14,705,861
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings BE 589,120 975,616
Debt component of convertible bonds AR EFEE D 468,306 =
Derivative component of convertible bonds ~ AI#RXESLTA T A LS 22,511 =
Lease liabilities HEaE 11,706 25,509
1,091,643 1,001,125
Net assets EEFE 13,799,863 13,704,736
Capital and reserves BARR#EE
Share capital &N 42,458 42,060
Reserves i 13,757,405 13,662,676
Total equity RS 13,799,863 13,704,736
HUANG Jingshu SIU Chi Hung
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
FERPITES WITES
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COMPANY (cont'd)

Note:

50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

Details of the movement in the Company’s reserves are set out below:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
FEH- A=+ ALFE

BE-T—

=__

50. A BHMBARR R

EX

ARAIERER 2 FEHIAT

Convertible Share
Share preference option Exchange Contributed Retained
premium share reserve reserve surplus profits Total
BORE  TRRELR BRERE ER G BRARS REEF st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFTT AREFT AREFTT ARETFTT ARETTT ARETFTT AREFT
Balance as at 1 January RZE-N&F—A—H
2019 k-0 6,882,609 6,246,161 222,970 30,165 (18) 306,321 13,688,208
Profit for the year FEEF - - - = = 202,406 202,406
Lapse of share options BRI R - - (8,582) = = 8,582 =
Exercise of share options ~ 1T{# BB A% 1 10,819 = (3,670) = = = 7,149
Conversion of convertible %A E LA
preference shares 180,376 (181,256) - - - (880)
Dividend declared and BEERREAHRE
made - - - = = (234,207) (234,207)
Balance as at 31 December A=—ZF—HNFE+=A
2019 =t+—Rz&#% 7,073,804 6,064,905 210,718 30,165 (18) 283,102 13,662,676
Profit for the year FREAF - - - - = 363,225 363,225
Exercise of share options 1T/ BB A% 1 22,006 = (7,511) = = = 14,495
Conversion of convertible IR AIERE LA
preference shares 65,385 (65,704) - - - - (319)
Dividend declared and BERKENHIRE
made - - - - - (282,672) (282,672)
Balance as at 31 December M=-ZE=TF+=A
2020 =t—Rz#sH 7,161,195 5,999,201 203,207 30,165 (18) 363,655 13,757,405
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
ToBET-A=t-ALFE

HEZ

51.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, each of which is a limited liability
company, as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Issued and fully

e VI HRAR MR

51. FEMBATNFE

RZBEZTFR_FT-NF+_A=1+—BXEW
BRAR(BABRARMFBMT -

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/ Effectively attributable Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital equity interests (Place of operations)
HWEARER MM/ RS BRTRMRLERES/EREAR BERELRER TEER(ERUH)
Directly Indirectly
HE 554
LVGEM Suzhou HK 156 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Administration vehicle of
(2019:100%)  the Group (HK)
EREN Bk 156G REBLETZRA - 100% BEASEAHIE(EE)
(ZB—N5 1 100%)
PVGL* HK 10,000 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Investment holding (HK)
(2019: 51%)
A Eh 10,000 SREELET 2R - 100% ®AER(EE)
(ZF—NF :51%)
Suzhou Garden Villa Development & Mainland China (Note (a))  US$20,550,000 - 95%  Property development and
Management Co., Ltd. (2019: 95%)  investment (Mainland China)
HNBERRRERERERAA FERN(HEE) 20,550,000% 7 - 9% MERRERRE(RENM)
(ZF—NE 1 95%)
Suzhou New Heritage GF Limited Mainland China (Note ()~ US$26,600,000 - 100%  Property development and
(“SNHGF") (2019: 61%¢)  investment (Mainland China)
BMHAHEARAR(ENTE)  RER(HHE) 26,600,00037T - 100% MEERRIE(PEIRH)
(ZE—N%F : 61%)
Suzhou New Heritage WZA Limited Mainland China (Note (b))~ US$15,000,000 - 100%  Property development and
(2019:100%)  investment (Mainland China)
BHARIERRAR mER(HE D) 15,000,000 7T = 100% MEERERIE(PEIRH)
(ZZ—-NF : 100%)
New Heritage WJA Limited Mainland China (Note (b))~ US$13,000,000 - 100%  Property development and
(2019:100%)  investment (Mainland China)
RINEMEERAR RE R (HEEb) 13,000,000%7C - 100% MEEERTE(PERH)
(ZZ—NE :100%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Asset Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB16,000,000 - 100%  Property management service
Management Co., Ltd. (2019:100%)  (Mainland China)
MM EEERERAT RER(AEE (b)) AR#16,000,00070 - 100% MEERRB(HEN)

(ZB—NF : 100%)

BR(hE) HEREERAT
%

==

—= =
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%éﬂjﬁ%iﬁ% M:J-EI BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (cont'a) 51. FEMBARIMNER®)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/ Effectively attributable Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital equity interests (Place of operations)
WEARER HMAL/ RIS BRETRARLERSHREAR EREGRARR TEEB(EXLR)
Directly Indirectly
HE CF3
Shenzhen LVGEM Hotel Co., Ltd. Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB10,000,000 100% Hotel operation services
(2019: 100%)  (Mainland China)
AT RBEERAR ek ) AR#10,000,0007 100% JBEEBERBE(REN)
(ZF—NF 1 100%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Jiyuan Property Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB500,000 100%  Property management service
Management Service Co., Ltd. (2019: 100%)  (Mainland China)
Mg ETERREERAR RE Pt (HE() AR%500,0007 100% MEEERB(PENS)
(ZF—NE 1 100%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Marketing Co., Ltd. ~ Mainland China (Note (b)) ~ RMB1,000,000 100%  Consultancy services
(2019: 100%)  (Mainland China)
MTESEHEREBRAR e (D) AR#1,000,0007 100% BRI (R ERH)
(ZZ-N%F : 100%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Property Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMBS5,000,000 100%  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd. (2019:100%)  (Mainland China)
MIMESNEERERAA RER (A (b)) AR5,000,0007 100% #¥ERRH(FEND)
(ZB-NF : 100%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Real Estate Mainland China (Note (b)) ~ RMB150,000,000 100%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (2019: 100%)  (Mainland China)
AT REHEREERAR RE A (HEE (b)) AR#150,000,0007C 100% WEERE(REN)
(ZB-NF : 100%)
Zhengxinglong Real Estate Mainland China (Note (b))~ HK$40,000,000 100%  Property development
(Shenzhen) Co.,Ltd. (2019: 100%)  (Mainland China)
EEEEMERI)ERRR mElR ) 40,000,007 100% MFER(FENM)
(ZF-NF 1 100%)
Shenzhen Longkanghong Investment ~ Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB270,000,000 100%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (2019: 100%)  (Mainland China)
ATERLRERRERAR REN(ATEE (b)) AR#270,000,0007C 100% MFER(FEN)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

51.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (conta)

Issued and fully

e VI HRAR MR

51. FEMBATNFE @)

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/ Effectively attributable Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital equity interests (Place of operations)
HWELRER HEMAL/ BRI BRARBREERE/ZMER BRERAER TEEB(EXH)
Directly Indirectly
HE 5t
Huazhou LVGEM Real Estate Mainland China (Note (b)) ~ RMB210,000,000 - 100% Property development
Development Co.,Ltd. (2019: 100%)  (Mainland China)
TS EHEREERAR RE R (HEb) AR#210,000,0007 - 100% #ERE(PERM)
(ZF—NF 1 100%)
Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao Mainland China (Note (b)) ~ RMB1,851,429,172 - 90.64%  Property development
Investment Co.,Ltd. (2019:90.64%)  (Mainland China)
WETGRREREERAA PER Az (b)) ARH1,851429,1727C = 9064% WERRE(TENM)
(ZF-NE 1 90.64%)
Zhengxinglong Real Estate Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB407,000,000 - 100%  Property development
(Zhuhai) Co.,Ltd. (2019: 100%)  (Mainland China)
FEEFDE(RE)ERAR B (A (b)) ARH#407,000,00070 - 100% MEEE(PERM)
(ZZ-NF : 100%)
Guangzhou Yuejing Real Estate Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB10,000,000 - 93%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (2019:93%)  (Mainland China)
BT EREHEREERAR B (AE (b)) AK#10,000,0007 - 9B% NEER(TERM)
(ZB-NE :93%)
Jianmai Limited (“Jianmai”) BVI 200 shares of US$1 each - 95%  Investment holding (HK)
(2019: 95%)
SERRAR(RE)) ERRARES 00HEREEIZT KA - %% REER(EE)
(ZZ-N%E: 95%)
Wisdom Concept Development Limited ~ HK 2 shares of HK$1 each - 95%  Property development (HK)
(2019: 95%)
BYERARLA &# 2REREEIBT KRG - %% NEER(FE)
(ZZ-N% : 95%)
Olinda Limited HK 20 shares of HK$1 each - 100% Property development and
(2019: 100%)  investment (HK)
Olinda Limited % 0REHRABIETZRA - 100% MERBRRFE(ES)
(ZF—NF 1 100%)
(Gemstones BV 1 share of US$1 100% - Treasury vehicle (BVI)
(2019:100%)
2z EEABREE 1RIZTZ R 100% - REMETHE(EREBRES)

(Z2—1F :100%)

Z (TR HERERRIFA 221

ZETHFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (conta)

Issued and fully

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-T

51. TEMBARANFRE @)

Tt A= ALER

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/ Effectively attributable Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital equity interests (Place of operations)
HWELRER HEMAL/ BRI BRARBREERE/ZMER BRERAER TEEB(EXH)
Directly Indirectly
HE 5t
Zone Asia Investments (HK) Limited HK 1 share of HKS1 each - 100%  Investment holding (HK)
(2019: 100%)
SERE(FB)ERAR 3 IREREELETZRS - 100% ®AER(EE)
(ZZ—NF : 100%)
World Margin Limited HK 800,000 shares of HK$1 each - 100% Treasury vehicle (HK)
(2019: 100%)
tHERAA % 800,000RBREELET KD - 100% REHETE(ER)
(ZZ—NF : 100%)
GBAIC BVI 1 share of US$1 100% - Investment holding (BVI)
(2019: 100%)
NEREEHM EEERRES 1R1E T2 fp 100% - REBR(ZEERREHS
(ZB—NEF : 100%)
ICOL HK 10,000 share of HK$1 each - 80%*  Investment holding (HK)
(2019: 25%)
BEHm Bk 10,0005 BRREELE T2 B 1D - 80%° REER(EE)
(ZZ—NEF : 25%)
Shenzhen Sida Industrial Co., Ltd. Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMBO - 80% Property development and
(2019: 25%)  investment (Mainland China)
AMREEEERAR B R HE (b)) AREOT - 80% MEERRRA(FEINM)
(ZZ-NE: 25%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Enterprise Management Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB300,000,000 - 80% Property development and
Group Co., Ltd. (2019: 25%)  investment (Mainland China)
RTEREEEREEERARA mENIL(H ) AE300,000,0007 - 80% MFERELRA(REANM)
(ZZ-NE : 255%)
Shenzhen LVGEM Hexing Real Estate ~ Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB10,000,000 - 80% Property development and
Development Co., Ltd. (2019: 25%)  investment (Mainland China)
MM s ARMEERAR RE R (HEb) AK#10,000,0007 - 80% MEERRFA(PEIN)
(ZF—NF : 25%)
Shenzhen Lvgem Tiansheng Industrial Co.,Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB1,286,000,000 - 80% Property development and
Ltd. (2019: 25%)  investment (Mainland China)
MRS AREEERAR RE (b)) ARH1,286,000,0007 = 80% WEEELEE(RENL)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020

S

51.

T TF+_A=+—HIFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (conta)

* The Group has an effective interest of 51% in PVGL during the year ended
31 December 2019. In the opinion of the directors, the Group has the
power to control over the relevant activities of PVGL and its subsidiary and
PVGL and its subsidiary are consolidated in the financial statements of the
Group accordingly.

# Approximate percentage.
Notes.
(a) This subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign cooperative joint venture

under the Mainland China law.

(b) These subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under
the Mainland China law.

(c) Except for Zhengxinglong, which issued the Bond on 26 August 2016 as
disclosed in note 35, and Gemstones, which issued Private Notes which
was repaid during the year ended 31 December 2020, and Senior Notes
in 2017 as disclosed in note 34 and note 35 respectively, none of the
remaining subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the
reporting period.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect the results for
the year or form a substantial portion of the assets and liabilities of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

51.

e VI HRAR MR

TENBLRRFR

* HE-_ZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE rEEH#
BEHEMSI%EREE - EERR - AEBEERE
)63 A e EL Y /B8 2 RIROARRE T - DRIt 145 B R LB
BAREEAKRESBEHRRTEE AR

© o EESL -
Azt -

(@ HHBATRBTENREEEZATHALAS
AT -

(b) EWBARARETEAMERELAIEBER

e X

() BMIEEE(OKESHMERE  ER_T—X"FNA
—HNBET u%i%?)&mh(ZZDI‘H?M&WDBE)
AW AR _F—tFETLERR(EREE
B_TFEF= H T RLEFEHE ﬁ)&féf‘ﬁm#)
S RIREEIR - EAMEARBEERTENES
HH o

AAREERR  ERIIBZARRHERR

E%§$%@$¢F‘Z¥F%E$‘i @ﬁ?&%%

BHEKES -  ERRBRFAISEGBHER
Z# FE<RBBRILE
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ZETHFFR

223



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (conta)

Material non-controlling interests

51.

Summarised consolidated financial information of ICDL and its
subsidiaries, PVGL and its subsidiary and Jianmai and its subsidiary that
have material non-controlling interests is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts before intragroup

eliminations.

Proportion of
equity interest held by

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

ERFERER

TENBLRNFRE @

EREEMMEENBAR - B REME 2RI
RBRENBRAR(REEEAIFZERER) 2R
AMBEMBEEHIIMT - TRARMBERBE
EREBARRRE AT 2 £5

Total comprehensive
income (expenses) allocated to

Accumulated
non-controlling

non-controlling interests non-controlling interests interests
ARGEFERERNGE
FERER BT NRELS WA ()45 Rt ERRER
Name of subsidiary 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
MEARRRE —ZE-EF  TNF ZB-BF —T-NF ZEB-EF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREBTT ARETR ARETR
ICDL and its subsidiaries BRIk KM
BRA] 20% = (3,659) = 3,095,144 -
Jianmai and its subsidiary =EBREKE
NG| 5% 5% (49) 8 30,569 30,618
PVGL and its subsidiary W BA R EF B
NG - 49% - (1,152) - 36,375
Individually immaterial ERITBEARIL
subsidiaries with non- BB IR N/A N/A
controlling interests =MKT B AR TEA TiEA (2,477) 623 36,194 39,981
(6,185) (521) 3,161,907 106,974
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VI HRAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZFE+-A=1+—HItFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Contd) 51. XEMBATNFE @)
Material non-controlling interests (Cont'd) BARFERRER(E)
(i) ICDL and its subsidiaries (i) EERTRANBALA
2020
—ECTF
RMB’000
ARETIT
Non-current assets FERBEE 125,501
Current assets REVEE 24,900,487
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (8,693,102)
Current liabilities mEALE (859,101)
Net assets BEFE 15,473,785
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AP AR R #E 2 12,378,641
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ICDL %5 235k T 2 FJEIE AR M 25 FE (L A 25 3,095,144
Total equity e AERE 15,473,785
Other income EAUA (7,678)
Other gains and losses HAth b 25 K E518 (3,846)
Expenses X 29,817
Loss for the year FEEE 18,293
Loss attributable to owners of the Company AARREEGEE 14,634
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests Bl Ty iy g 3,659
Loss for the year FEEBE 18,293
Net cash used in operating activities KEEBMTAREFE (14,504)
Net cash used in investing activities KWEEBAMARS T8 (264,760)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBMAR S FE (83,344)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HItFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (contd) 51. TEMBARINFE @
Material non-controlling interests (Cont'd) BARFERER(E)
(i) Jianmai and its subsidiary (i)  RERAKEA]
2020 2019
—ECEE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT
Current assets RENEE 644,994 684,751
Current liabilities mEAE (33,603) (72,376)
Net assets BEFE 611,391 612,375
Equity attributable to owners of AN R R R (L i 2
the Company 580,822 581,757
Equity attributable to non-controlling IR
interests 30,569 30,618
Total equity TEmIBRE 611,391 612,375
Other income EugA - 214
Expenses 53 (984) (46)
(Loss) profit for the year FE(EE)BF (984) 168
(Loss) profit attributable to owners of RNA TR NS (BB ) BT
the Company (935) 160
(Loss) profit attributable to non-controlling FE{Z=REEZSFE( (E518) &7
interests (49) 8
(Loss) profit for the year FE(FE) AT (984) 168
Net cash used in operating activities RETEB TR FER
and net cash outflow e R FE (200) (1,365)
LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ik iy e R R

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (cont'a) 51. TEMBATNFEE®)
Material non-controlling interests (Cont'd) BARFERRER(E)
(i) PVGL and its subsidiary (i) wHEAREN B Al
2019
—Z-NF
RMB’000
ARETIT
Current assets RENEE 270,555
Current liabilities mEAE (143,564)
Net assets BEFE 126,991
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RAEIRR R B (LR 37,859
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of PVGL #3882 JE¥E i =5 B 1 25 36,375
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of BRINFTAS 2 SRR A P i s (MT77)

SNHGF (Note) 52,757
Total equity L 126,991
Other income, other gains and losses EmUA - Haples & E1E 295
Expenses =53 (2,664)
Attributable to non-controlling interests of BN IR

SNHGF (Note) (5 (HTaE) 18
Loss for the year FEEE (2,351)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company AAEIRR R E(R AR (1,199)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests AR FE (L 518 (1,152)
Loss for the year FEE1E (2,351)
Net cash used in operating activities and REEBATAR S FER

net cash outflow W RHFE (3,109)
Note: As at 31 December 2020, the Group held 100% (2019: 51%) MeF - R=ZZT=FF+=-A=+—H ~EEHEH

equity interests in PVGL, which indirectly held 80% (2019: 80%) W BA100% A #E( =T — JLF : 51%) * #HEA

equity interests in SNHGF. In addition, the Group also indirectly MEFREHMFFE0LRE(ZT—NF

held the remaining 20% (2019: 20%) equity interests in SNHGF. 80%) o lhHN - ANEBINEE R A ERIMN AR

Therefore, the Group effectively held 100% (2019: 61%) in SNHGF. T20%ME(=ZZF — N : 20%) Bt -+ &
SEERBBHMNIEF100% (ZF—NF :
61%) A e °
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Financial Summary

PR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the AEEBREAAVBRFEZEZEAREERBE(HEAE
last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial BT REF ZE+HFRZFT-N\F+ZA=+—H
statements for the years ended 2016, 2017 and 2018 as below. For the years IEFEZEFIREEZHBRER)NT - BE_T—hEFR

ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 which extracted from the annual report —E TR+ A=+ BUHFERERE S _TFF
2020 was restated as appropriate, is set out below. o WEEES (EA)

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

—E—RF —E—tF —E-N\F —T-NF —ECEH

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETT AR®TTT AR®TTT ARBT R

RESULTS ¥i5
Revenue zs 4,590,162 2,967,751 4,515,685 6,902,448 5,424,827
Profit from operation LR 2,259,932 2,111,059 2,813,503 4,623,298 5,849,185
Finance costs AR (406,500) (613,592) (657,995) (1,256,165) (1,533,101)
Share of results of a joint venture Blh—HeEAREE 9 (93) (8) © 2
Profit before tax BRI AT R A 1,853,423 1,497,374 2,155,500 3,367,131 4,316,082
Income tax expense FTS R (1,044,757) (458,811) (925,097) (1,617,168) (865,007)
Profit for the year EBEF 808,666 1,038,563 1,230,403 1,749,963 3,451,075
Attributable to owners of the Company A2 1IX R fE(L 802,297 1,035,392 1,237,167 1,749,884 3,453,380
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ZE—RF Tt —T-)\F —ZT-NEF —EZEH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TR
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE 14,399,166 22,654,001 24,171,470 26,459,769 25,897,846
Current assets REBE 11,525,352 14,142,819 19,240,634 22,276,514 48,369,152
Current liabilities mEaE (5,816,445) (9,650,864)  (11,689,752)  (17,760,664)  (15,903,122)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (10,910,409) (17,076,753) (20,283,409) (17,940,786) (30,478,253)
Net assets EEFAE 9,197,664 10,069,203 11,438,943 13,034,833 27,885,623
Equity attributable to ARAIRRELER
owners of the Company 8,964,512 9,836,062 11,331,448 12,927,859 24,723,716
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REWR

Properties

LUES

LVGEM Zoll 1866 Shopping Mall located at
the eastern side of Meilong Road and

the southern side of Zhongmei Road

Bao’an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

770 B SR AR T B e (R A RE B SR (A I

iR FE HIVAR R 1866/P% &

LVGEM Zoll Chanson Shopping Mall and

car parking spaces located at
the western side of Minzhi Road

Minzhi Community
Bao'an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

R B E R A R T E 2R AR RIAHK
AR RERBEBY PO REM

Various commercial units of

LVGEM Chanson Meilu Garden

located at the western side of Minzhi Road

Minzhi Community
Bao'an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

IR EERE R M E R R R AR RAR

PRI BB EE 2 [Er B

Various commercial units of City Garden
located at the western side of Longxiang Avenue
and the eastern side of Huangge Road

Longguang District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

Rrp AR B SR A R TR R B A B P Al
G v R E4 ESE $=s

Interest
Attributable
to the Group

SR M FEAG R

100%

100%

100%

100%

LVGEM Zoll Hongwan Shopping Mall located at the 100%

northern side of North Ring Avenue and

the eastern side of Meilin Road

Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

7 e B AR A AR 4R A R AL BR BRI

HMEE R AR AR R A P dT

B L

List of Principal Properties

Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
(square meter)

A HEEER
(FI7K)

54,360

36,890

330

4,650

76,810

Type
Wl

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

EES

Commercial

2]

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

2]

Lease Term

HH

70 years from
31 August 2004 to
30 August 2074
—EENFENA=F+—RHZE
—ZEHFENA=TH
RER705F

70 years from
6 August 2010 to
5 August 2080
—T-TF)\ARBE
—ZENZEFENARAR -
BE70F

70 years from
6 August 2010 to
5 August 2080
—E-FFN\ARBE
—ENZTFENARA -
RER705F

70 years from

22 February 2001 to

21 February 2071
“ET—F-A-+=HZE

—E+—F-A=t+—8"

RER70%F

70 years from

16 December 2011 to

15 December 2081
—ET——FF+ZA+REZE

“EN-F+-A+EHRA -

REA70F

BR(PE) BEREERAT
“T-TEER
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List of Principal Properties
FEYF

1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (contw)
REME @)

Properties

/ES

Various commercial units of LVGEM Hotel
located at the western side of Xinzhou Road and
the northern side of Xinzhou Sixth Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
iz P FP B B B 8 R 31 i i [ 3 i P 181 R
FM NI RIS IR T ERB/E 2 Em ¥ e

Various commercial units of
Lanwan Peninsula Community located at
the northern side of Furong Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
iz P FP B B B R I T i [ 4 R S AL R B 85 )
B (R B

Various commercial units, office units and
car parking spaces of Tower A of
NEO Urban Commercial Complex located at
the junction of Shennan Boulevard and
Xiangmihu Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

2P HH B BRI | T 4 B [ R B K38
BE R EFRRINEOEB T A IS4R & AL Z(E
PISEEBNL - PHABEN KRB

Various commercial units and car parking
spaces of Tower B and Tower C of
NEO Urban Commercial Complex
located at the junction of Shennan Boulevard
and Xiangmihu Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

iz P AP B B 5 8 R I i 4 [ R e K8
BB 3 B AINEOEB T R 75 47 5 RSB EE K2
CR% AR5 i M

Various commercial units of Phase Il of
LVGEM Garden located at the western side of
Xinzhou Road and the northern side
of Fugiang Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
7 P FP B B B 7R 31 T 4 R [ M 2 P 1B R
BRI Al AR S TEE — B % (AR £ B 1L

230 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report 2020

REE RS

Approximate

Total Gross

Floor Area Type
(square meter)
BRBEEEE HA
(F77K)

4,410 Commercial
(EES

2,810 Commercial
[GES

108,360 Commercial
[EES

26,100 Commercial
[EES

20,610 Commercial
[EES

Lease Term

HH

70 years from
30 December 2003 to
29 December 2073
—FT=F+-A=+AZ
—TH=F+=-A=1+NAH"
BE70F

70 years from
20 September 2001 to
19 September 2071
—TT FAA-tEZ
—E+—FNATNA
HEA705F

50 years from
8 May 2005 to
7 May 2055
—ETRFRANRE
“TRAFAHALER
A0

70 years from
26 February 2002 to
25 February 2072
“TE-F_A=+HZE
ke ek S ey o TS B
BE70F

70 years from
5 February 2001 to
4 February 2071
—EE-F_HARZE
—“Et+t—F-AWA "
BH70F



INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conro)

REW=2)
Interest
Attributable
Properties to the Group
LE S AEEEGER

LVGEM Zoll Mangrove Bay No. 1 Shopping Mall 100%
located at the junction of
Shazui Road and Jindi First Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
[P B R BR R I T 4 R 0 W B B b — R
X P& FR AR S A PR AT B A S SR AR Y R 0

Various commercial units and ancillary units of 100%
LVGEM Garden Estate located at
No. 1185 Jin Dao Tian Road
Luohu District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
AP B R R T 78 4 2 £ TR BE 118555/
gL EmEE REEEA

A parcel of land and blocks located at 89%
Yi Jia Industrial Park, Fugian Road,
Guanlan Street
Bao'an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
R B ER A RYITHhE R & B R AT E R AT
RRETERE— B L NEEEE

LVGEM Zoll International Garden Shopping Mall 100%
Zone A located at Hexi Street, Huazhou
Guangdong Province, The PRC

AP B B SR LN TR FR T8 A S B B R
TERE Y OARR

LVGEM Zoll International Garden Shopping Mall 100%
Zone B4 located at Hexi Street, Huazhou
Guangdong Province, The PRC

[P B B A N TR PR AT B AR R APR BB
eSO B4R

Hong Kong LVGEM NEO located at No. 123 Hoi 100%
Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

R EENEBIEBEBI23REEERNEONE

Sunshine Bay Project located at Village 1, 100%
Commune No.3, Mittaphea Town,
Shihanoukville Municipal, Cambodia

IR RIBZE T B e ORI ITIE 5 =&
— SR RIAER

List of Principal Properties

Approximate

Total Gross
Floor Area Type Lease Term
(square meter)
BRBREEEE Eil THE
(SFFK)
20,510 Commercial 50 years from
[GES 23 November 2012 to
22 November 2062
—E——F+—HA=+=RH=E
ZERZFT—A=t+=8"
R EAS04F
3,820 Commercial 70 years from
[SES 9 March 1998 to
8 March 2068
— AN N\EFE=ZANLBZE
—EXN\E=ZANR -
BE70F
37,150 Industrial 50 years from
I 8 July 2002 to
7 July 2052
e = DAN =
—TR-FtAtER "
AHR50F
22,170 Commercial 40 years from
EES 23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052
—E——FMA=+=H=
—THR-FMA=+=RH "
BEI40F
23,250 Commercial 40 years from
[BES 23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052
—E——FMA=+=HAZ
—THR-FMA=+=RH "
B HI40F
55,390 Commercial From 29 November 1988 to
[GE3 30 June 2047
—NANF+—A=Z+HhBZE
—EWEFSRA=1H
45,970 Commercial No lease term
[BES 278 ERRR

Z (TR HERERRLFA 231
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List of Principal Properties
FEYF

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conro)
REME @)

Properties

/ES

LVGEM Zoll Jinhua Shopping Mall
located at 98 Shi Shan Road
New District
Suzhou City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC
AL AP BT AR B T 0T [ 8 LU R 985 Y
SR IRER Y PO

Villa J101 of Phase | of Suzhou Garden Villa
located at No. 98 Shishan Road
New District
Suzhou City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC

A7 P FP BT AR B T T & 8 L L PR OSSR SR 2E 50
F£—HjJ101 52

Flat 1A of Jin Guo Tower, Flats 1A, 8C, 17C and
18D, of Jin Xing Tower of
Phase Il of Suzhou Garden Villa located at
No. 98 Shishan Road
New District
Suzhou City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC

7 AP BT AR ) T 3 6 L L PR OSSR SR 2E 50
F_HRSBEIELA - $REELA - 8C 17CKR
18DZE

Flats 1B, 1D and 1F of Jin Bon Tower of
Phase Il of Suzhou Garden Villa located at
No. 98 Shishan Road
New District
Suzhou City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC

7 AR BT R4 #3240 LI KO85
SREEILE = HASRFIELB - IDRIFE

LVGEM Zoll Yuexi Shopping Mall
located at No.199 Tayun Road,
Yuexi, Wuzhong Development District,
Suzhou City, Jiangsu Province, The PRC
R BT #R78 gk T R B 38 R RSB R B
19955 B 4% = /e bR LR BB R 0

Commercial units of Zhong He Ti Xiang Garden
located at No.209 Haitang Road,
Heshan District, Yiyang, Hu’nan Province,
The PRC

7 A B HA R A 2 5 T i L 6 7 2 B8 209517
Iz B RS ERE SN

Interest
Attributable
to the Group

REEEL R

95%

95%

95%

95%

100%

100%
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Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
(square meter)
BROBEEES
(F77K)

11,020

270

730

480

12,220

3,610

Type
Wl

Commercial

[GES

Residential
=

Residential
=

Residential
F=E

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

=

Lease Term

B

70 years from
19 October 1992 to
18 October 2062
—NWNZ=F+A+HIBAE
ZEARZFtTHA+NR
BH70F

70 years from

19 October 1992 to

18 October 2062
—NNZ=F+A+HIBAE

RER705F

70 years from

19 October 1992 to

18 October 2062
—NNZ=F+A+HIBAE

70 years from
19 October 1992 to
18 October 2062
—hWN=F+A+hB=E
ZERZF+TA+NR
BH70F

40 years from 1 August 2003
to 31 July 2043

—EE=FN\A—RBZE
—EN=FtA=+—8"
AHRAOTF

40 years from 1 April 2007
to 31 March 2047

—ZTTLFPA—HE
—ENtF=A=+—8H"
AHRAOTF



INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conro)

REWE #)
Interest
Attributable
Properties to the Group
L/ES AEBEGER
Residential units of Hongwan Garden located 100%
at Meilin Road East,Bei Huan Avenue,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, The PRC
LR B 5 A R I T 48 H R A0 3R A8 PAJL AR
AR M ILEEE 8 Z AT E B AL
Dongguan LVGEM Zoll Shopping Mall 100%
located at Baoshan Road
Zhangmutou

Dongguan City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
R B ER S RemiEARER LB RESR
sty il

Various street-level commercial units of Zone A of 100%
LVGEM International Garden
located at the northwest of
Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
IR B E R A 2 T N SR AT B A M A
AL Rln s S B IEAR M 2 B s R 2 BN

Various street-level commercial units of Zone B of ~ 100%
LVGEM International Garden
located at the northwest of
Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
A B ER A K2 T LN AT B BN A
Giipla = Fe o= IW“MB&myﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁu

Various street-level commercial units of Zone E of 100%
LVGEM International Garden
located at the northwest of
Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
u%#lf%é&%mmm%ﬂﬁmL N
Fadb A8 4% = BIBRTEIRERR 09 2 ([ %ﬁ%iu

Various street-level commercial units of the Southern 100%
District of LVGEM Joyful Town Business Centre
located at West Mingzhu Station, Mingzhu North
Road, Shangchong,
Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC

LA B SR E PR T AN & L ETRAERIL B BAER I,
AflgREHERBROERNZELE
[EEX:AA

List of Principal Properties

Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
(square meter)
BRABEEEE
(F77K)

1,960

59,060

5,710

14,050

7,370

3,200

Type
5l
Residential

E=E

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

=

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

EES

Commercial

[EES

Lease Term

Y

70 years from 16 December
2011 to 15 December 2081

—E——F+=A+XH
E-TN—F+=A
THA - BHET70F

40 years from 21 November
2013 to 20 November 2053

—E=Ft—A-t+—B=E
—TR=F+—A=+8"
BHRAOSF

40 years from 23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052

—ET—-FMA=+=H=Z
—TR_FMA=+=H "
B EI40F

40 years from 23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052

—T——_FWMA=-+=HZE
—TRH_FMA-—+=H "
RERA0EF

40 years from 23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052

ZE-_FMA-t+=HZF
“ER-FMOMA-+=RH -
BHIA0F

40 years from 20 July 2018 to
19 July 2058

- N\FtA=1+AH
ETRNFEA+IA -
HHRAOSF

(TR HERERRIA

=T~ TG
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List of Principal Properties

EE:LY/ES

1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (contw)
REME @)

Properties

/ES

Six retail commercial units of
Wendefu Garden located at
N0.2002 Houhai Avenue,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,

The PRC
(2 Bl R & 7

Z&YIThRE LL & 18 78 K 8200255

NERItENAETEREET

Part of the apportioned land proposed to be

developed into retail commercial properties of the

LVGEM urban renewal project located at
Donggiao Community, Nanping Town,
Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City,
Guangdong Province,

The PRC

URNFEEREEHEMRERERBTRGS

Wm%ﬁﬁﬁ¢ﬁ%%ﬁ CEREYENED

DEE L

Interest
Attributable
to the Group

REEEL R

80%

95%

Commercial units under construction of the Northern 100%
District of LVGEM Joyful Town Business Centre
located at West Mingzhu Station,

Mingzhu North Road, Shangchong,
Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City,
Guangdong Province,

The PRC

ﬁm¢ﬁ%%%%@ﬁ§%@t@%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%

CifElene e

i RS Db R R R A T

Vacant land pending development of Phase Il of
the Wanda Plaza Project of Zone G1 of LVGEM
International Garden located at the northwest of
Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,

Huazhou County, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province,

The PRC

7 O B SR A B LN SOR PO AT M A
P AIAAR R ERRY

Hy A Ffﬂ/‘év‘n

INE
EMGLIR — B EEISAE

100%
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Approximate

Total Gross
Floor Area Type
(square meter)
BRBEEEE HA
(F755)
660 Commercial
[EES
N/A Commercial
TEA [ES
16,750 Commercial
83,750 Commercial
[EES

Lease Term

B

70 years from 18 May 1998 to
17 May 2068

—ANNEFERER+NBZE
ZERN\ERA+ER
BE70F

40 years from 17 April 2020 to
16 April 2060
%= ii@ﬁ+t5i
“EREFHA+AA
AHRAOSF

40 years from 20 July 2018 to 19
July 2058

—T-N\FEtA=Zt+HZE
—EANFEA+TNA
AHRAOSF

40 years from 23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052

—E—FMAZ+=HZE
—TH-_FMA=+=H "
AHAOF



PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

BUERPEEWR

Interest
Attributable
Properties to the Group

(sg.m.)

nx AEEEEAE BOSLEER
(FK)

Residential and commercial units of ~ 100% 17,590
Hongshu Huafu Sifang Zone
located at the southest corner of the
intersection of Shazui Road and
Jindiyi Road Futian District
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province
The PRC

R B ER BRI MEERY
W& BEA < 3t — & 32 BE SR e A
FATRIEER NS A B EER
EEEE]

Residential and commercial units 100%
of LVGEM International Garden
located at the northwest of
Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
LR R B 3R A A T M SRR P B
BN B Fa L A 804 = B TE
EERAEXER
Residential, commercial and 100% 85,330
industrial complex located at
Liguang Village, Guanlan Town
Bao’an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
R EERE A MELR
BRBERANNEEREE

Approximate
Total Site Area

559,830

Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
(sg.m.)

List of Principal Properties

Type

BRRZERR 85

(FK)

139,670

1,353,660

382,140

Residential/
Commercial

/A

Residential/
Commercial

FE/mE

Residential/
Commercial

ERVEE S

Estimated Date

of Completion Progress
st B ERAMR
2023 Demolition
—T-=F and relocation
plan in progress
EITIRB A
S
2021-2025 Under
% construction
“ZT-RF TRETH
2024-2025 Demolition and
—E-MER relocation plan
—E-RF in progress
HEITIRE
HEWES

(TR HERERRDF 235
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List of Principal Properties

FEYE

2. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE (contw)

RE A EIH )

Interest
Attributable
Properties to the Group

(sg.m.)

LES FEBEGES BOABEER

(F5K)

Commercial and office 100% 22,260
complex located at West Mingzhu
Station, Mingzhu North Road,
Shangchong,
Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province
The PRC

AFBIER ARG T _HAAERIL
BRERIEAR I R RN E

Residential, commercial and hotel 91% 207,550
complex located at No.37
Maofeng Road, Xiangzhou District
Nanping Town, Zhuhai City,
Guangdong Province
The PRC
AR BEERERET AN RMEEFE
RERITHROEE - BEREE

Villa located at Deep Bay Road near ~ 95% 82,400
Mong Tseng Village and
Mong Tseng Wai,
Lau Fau Shan,
Yuen Long,
New Territories,
Hong Kong
IR BB TR Z LR SR A
WHEMRIZE

Residential, commercial and 80% 459,540
office complex located in
the core area of Nanshan
District, Shenzhen City, being
adjacent to Shennan Avenue and
in proximity to Science Park and
the sub-district of Overseas
Chinese Town
ARSI TR L @ U S (ZAR AR A
i B E AR A )]
HEE « BERRAERRNTE
i
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Approximate
Total Site Area

Approximate

Total Gross Estimated Date
Floor Area Type of Completion
(sg.m.)
BRLEEEEE Ei JEst5ERk B HR
(FEARXK)
213,700 Commercial/ 2021
Office —E-—fF
[SEVE /N
764,920 Residential/ 2022
Commerciall —Z = —4
Hotel
Tz &%
BT
23,880 Villa 2023
pallEd ZEZ=F
3,580,000 Residential/ 2023-2030
Commerciall —ZE-=%F%
Office ZE=TF
FE/ 1%/
NS

Progress

ERMRR

Under
construction
TEESTH

Under
construction

TiZEfTH

Planning stage
GIEDEE

Demoalition and
relocation plan
in progress

TR E

IES
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LVGEM (CHINA ) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
B SHE R FTAR{A 8% - 95 HKSE Stock Code: 95
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Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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